
NEW ISSUE . BOOK.ENTRYONLY Rating: S&P: "A/A-"
(See: "OTHER PERTINENT INFORMATION-RaI|ng", herein)

OFFICIAL STATEMENT
August 14,2018

tn the opinion of Bond Counsel (identified below), assuming antinuing cofttpliance by the lssuer (defined below) afrer the date of initial
detNety of the Ceftificates (clefined betow) with ceftain covenants contained in the Ordinance (defined below) and sublect to the matters
desci^ed under 'TAX MATTERS" herein, interest on the Certificates under existing stafuleg regulations, publishe4 rulirtgs, and court
decisions (1) will trc excludablefromthe grossirrcone of the ownersthereof forfecleral in@metax purposes under Seclion 103of the lnternal
Revenue bde, as amended to the date of initial delivery of the Certificates and (2) wrll no! be induded in comp-utng th9.qlpg3lue1y.nirym.
taxable incotd of the wners thereof wta are indivicluals or, except as hereinafter descnW, coryJuations . (See *TAX MATTERS" herein.)

nte bsuer has desianated the CetTificates as "Qualifred Tax-Exempt Oblioalions" for frnancial institutions.

$1,995,000
CITYOF BELLMEAD, TEXAS

(A political subdivision ot the State of Texas located in l[cl9qqa1 _C9-t4!yt IglaSl_--, - - -
COMBINATION TA)( AND UMITED PLEDGE REVENUE CERTIF]CATES OF OBLIGATION, SERIES 2018

Dated Date: August 1, 2018 Due: March 1, as shown on page ii

The 91,995,000 City of Bellmead, Texas Combination Tax and Limited Hedge Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2018 (the

"Certificates") are being issued pursuant to the Constihrtion and general larrrrs of the State of Texas (the "State"), particularly the Certificate of

Obligation Act of 1971 (Sections 271.U'l through 271.064, Texas Local Governrnent Code, c amended), Chapter 1502, as amended, Texas

Govemment Code, an ordinance (the "Ordinance") adopted by the City Council of the Crty of Bellmead, Texas (the "Cit/ or'lssued) on

August 14, 2018, and the Ci!y's Horne Rr.rle Charter. (See "THE CERTIFICATES - Auttnrity for lssuance" herein.)

The Certificates constihJte direct and general obligations of the lssuer payable primarily from the proceeds of an annual ad valorem tax levied

upon all taxable property within the City, within tlre limitations prescribed by law, and are further payable from and secu'ed by a lien on and

pledge ot the Pledged Revenues (irlentified and def,ned in the Ordinance), being a limited amount of the Net Revenues derived tom the

operatron of the City's combined utility system (the 'Slstem"), not to exceed $1 ,000 during the entire period the Certificates or interest tfereon

remain outstanding, such lien on and pledge of the limited amount of Net Revenues beirg subordinate and inferior to the lien on and pledge

of such Net Revenues securirg payment of any Prior Lien Obligations, Jmior Lien Obligations, or Subordinate Lien Obligations hereafter

issued by the lssuer (all such terms as defned in the Ordinance). The Ci$ previotsly auttprZed the tssuarrce of lhe cunently oubtanding Limlted

Pledge OdEations {as described and defined in the Ordinance) wtrich are payaHe, in pa( fran and secured by a lien m and dedge of a lnrted

amount of the Net Revenues in tlp manrrer provided in the ordinanc* arthoriZng the issuarrce of lhe cunently outstandir€ Limiled Pledge Oiligatilrs,
ln the Ordinance, the City reserves and retains the right to issue Pnor Lien Obligations, Junior Lien Obligations, Subordinate Lien Obligations,

and Additional Limited Pledge Obligations (all as identified and defined in the Ordinance) while the Cerlificates are outstanding, without

limitation as to principal amount but subiect to 6ny terms, condilions or resfictions as may be applicable thereto under law or otherwise. (See

'"fHE CERTIFICATES - Security for Payment" and'TAX RATE UMITATIONS" herein.)

lnterest on the Certificates will accrue trom August 1,2018 (tlre "Dated Date") as shown above and will be payable on March 1 ard September

1 of each year, commencing March 1, 2019, until stated mafunty or prior redemption, and will be calculated on the basis of a 360{ay year of

twelve 30{ay months. The definitive Certificates will be issued as tully registered obligations in book-entry form only and when issued will

be registered in lhe name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company ('DTC"), Naar York, New York- DTC will act as

securities depository. Book-entry interests in the Certificates will be made available for purchase in the princtpal amount of $5,00O or any

integral mu6iple thereof. Purchasers of the Certrficates ("Beneficial Oivners") will not receive physical delivery of certificales representing

their interest in the Certificates prrchased. So long as DTC or its norninee is the registered owner of the Certificates, the principal of and

interest on the Certificates will be payable by BOKF, NA, Dallas, Texas, as Payirg Agent Registrar to the securities depository, which will in

tum remit such principal and interest to iG participants, whieh will in tum remit such principal and interest to the Beneficial Owners of the

Certificates. (S€e "BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM" herein.)

Proceeds from the sale of the Certificates will be used for lhe purpose of paying contractual obligations of the City to be incuned for making

permanent public improvements and for other public purposes, towil (1) acquiring, purchasing, and equipping lhe lszueCs two fire trucks

and any additional public safety equipment necessary thereto; (2) the purchce of materials, supplies, equipment, machinery, landscaping,

land, and righb-of-way for authorized needs and purposes relating to the aforernentioned capital improvements; aM (3) the payment of
professional services related to the design, mnstruction, project management, and financing of the aforemenfioned projects. (See'THE

CERTIFICATES - Use of Certtficate Proceeds" herein.)

SEE FOLLOWING PAGE FOR STATED MAruRTIES, PRINCIPAL AMOUNTS, INTEREST

RATES, INITIAL YIELDS, CUSIP NUMBERS, AND REDEMPTION PROVISIONS FOR THE
CERTI

The Ceftifrcates are offerecl for detivery, vvhen, as ancl if issued and recetved by the initial purchaser thereof at,a conptitive sa]19 $|e
'Purcha*f) and subjecl to the approving opinton of the Aftorney General of the Slate of lexas a nd the approval of ceftain lqal ne,tta's pV

I,torton Rose Fulmigit uS tLP San Antonio, Texas, funrl Coltnsel. The legal opinion of Bond Counsel uvill be Wqted 9n, or atlached t9! tl.e
Ceflificates. (See "iEGAL MATTERS - Legal Opinion and No-Litigation Cerlifrcate" herein) lt is expected that the Cefttfrcates will be available
for initial delivery through DTC on or abut September 5, 2018.



$1,995,000
CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS

(A political subdivision of the State of Texas located in McLennan County, Texas)

COMBINATION TA)( AND LIMITED PLEDGE RA/ENUE CERTIFICATES OF OBUGATION, SERIES 2018

MATURITYSCHEDULF
(DueMarch 1)

Base CUSIP - 079635 (ol

$1,/100,000 Serial Certifi cabs

Stated
lnatunty
March 1

2019
2024
2421

2022
2023
2V24
2025
2426
2027
2028
)ofi

2431

2432
2033
20u
2m5

Principal
Amount

$ 55.000
75,000
90,000

105,000

75,000
80,000
85,000

85,000
90,000
95,000

)oo(

105,000

110,0m
115,000
115,000
120,000

lnterest
Rate
lo/o\

5.000
5.000
5.000

5.000
5.000
5.000
5.000

6.000
5.000
5.000

xxx
3.000

3.125
3.2
3.250
3.250

lnitial
Veld
(o/o\

't.600

1.7fi
1.900

2.050
2.200
2354
2.500

2.650
2.750
2.850

rco(

3.100

3.200
3.250
3.300
3.350

CUSIP
Su,fix(a)

FTO

FU7

FVs
FW3
FX1

FYg

FZ6
GAO

GB8
GC6
)m(
GF9

GG7
GH5
GJ1

GK8

$595,000 Term Certificates

$205,000 3.000o/o Term Certificates due on March 1, 2030 and priced to Yield 3.00006 CUSIP Suffix (a) GE2
$390,000 3.500% Term Certificates due on March 1, 2038 and priced to Yield 3.500026 CUSIP Suffix (a) GN2

(lnterest to accrue fiom the Dated Date)

Th^e_llslLerreserygs the right to redeem he Cerlificates maturing on or after March 1,2029, in wiole or in parl. in principal anxlunb
of $5,000 or any integnl multiple thereof on March 1 ,2028, or any date thereafter, at the redemption prhe of par plu! accir.red interest
as further described herein. ln addition, the Cefficates maturing on lr,larcfi 1, 2030 and tritarch 1, 2038 are aiso subjec{ b mandatory
sinking tund redemptlon, as fiJrtherdescrlbed herein. (See'THE CERTIFICATES - Redemption Provisions of the Certificates' herein.)

@iumners are included sotely for the convenience of the owner of the Cerfficates. CUSIP r.s a regis tercd tndemark ot The
American Bankers Association. CUSIP data hercin is provided by CUSIP Global Seruices, managed by S&P Gtobat Market
lntelligene on behalf of The American Bankers Association. mis data is not intended to create a databae and does not vrve in
any way as a suDstifule for the CUSIP Seru,?es. None of the Cfi, the Financial Advisor, or lhe Purchaser is responsible for the
seledion ar coaec{ness of the CUSIP numbers set forth herein.



CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS
3015 Bellmead Drive

Bellmead, Texas 76705
24799-2436 - Phone

25+79$598 - Facsimile

ELECTED OFFICIALS

&rnc
William B. Ridings

Dr. Altreda Love

Travis Gibson

Mark Pace

Doss Youngblood

Gary Moore

&@
Mayor

Mayor Pro Tem

Council Member

Council Member

Council Member
Member At Large

On Council
Since Mav

2416
2A15
2015
2916
2A13
2412

ADMIN]STRATION

_Gition-
City tvlanager

Asst. City Manager/CFO

lnterim City Secretary

CityAttomey
Police Chief
Fire Chief

Term Expires
Mav
2024

2019
2019
2024
2019
2020

OccuDation
Relired

Pro?essor

School Adminbtralor
Salesman

Retired
Appliance Delivery Service

-@-
Everett'Bo" Thomas

Victor Salas
Patricia Ervin

Charles Buenger
Lydia Alvarado
Bill Hlavenka

Years
with

the Citv
5 years

6 years

2 years

5 years

7 yean
26 yean

Years of
Municipal

Exoerience
30 years

31 years

42years
44 years

26 years

26years
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San Antonio, Texas
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(210) 832-9760 (Phone)

m mcl i ney@sam o ca p ih L co m

Mr. Andrew Friedman
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SAMqO Capital lvbrkets, lnc.
1020 NE Loop 410, Suite 640

San Anlonio, Te)Gs 78209
(210) 832-9760 (Phone)

aft i ed ma n @sa mcoc ap ital. co m



USE OF INFORMATION IN THE OFFICIAL STATEME}IT

No dealer, broker, salesman, or olher person has been authorized to give any information, or to make any rcpresentation other than
those conlained in thb Orffcial Stalement, and, il gfuen or made, such other information or represenblions must not be relied upon
as having been authorized by the lssuer. Thb Oficial Statement is not b be used in conneclion with an offer to sell or the solicftation
of an offer to buy in any stab ln Wtich such orfier or solicitation is not aulhorizcd or in wtrich the pe eon making such ofrer or solicitation
is not authorized or in which the pemon making such ofier or solicita$on is not qualified to do so or to any person to wtrom il is unhufill
to make such ofier or solidbtiofl. Any infurmation or expression of opinion herein contained are su$ect to change without notice,
and neither the delivery of this Offidd Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall, under any ciranmstances, create an implication
that there has been no change in the affairs sf the lssuer or other matlers desdibed herein since the date hereof.

The Financial Advisor has provided the bllowing sentence br inclusion in this Offcial Steilement. The Financial Advisor has
reviewed the information in this Offieial Statement in accordance with its responsibilities to the lssuer and, as applicable, to invesiors
under the federal securities la,vs as applied lo the facts and circumsiances of this tansaction, but the Financial Advisor does not
guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such lnllormatlon.

THE CERTIFICATES ARE EXEMPT FROM REGISTRATION WITH THE UNITED STATES SECURIT1ES Al.lD EXCHANGE
COMMISSION AND CONSEQUENTLY HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED THERBA/ITH. THE REGISTRATION, QUALIFICATION.
OR EXEMPTION OF THE CERT]FICATES IN ACCORDANCE WITH APPLICABLE SECURITIES LAW PROVISIONS OF THE
JURISDICTIONS IN WHICH THE CERTIFICATES HAVE BEEN REGISTERED, QUALIFIED, OR EXEMPTED SHOULD NOT BE
REGARDED AS A RECOMMENDATION THEREOF.

None of the City, the Financial Advisors or lhe Purchaser makes any representation or wananty Wth respecl to the information
contiained in this fficial Statement regarding The Depository Trust Company ("DTC") or its Book-Entry€nly gatem as sucfr
information is provided by DTC.

The agreements of the City and others relabd to the Certificates are contained solely in the contracts described herein. Neither this
ffidd Statement nor any other statement made in connection with lhe oftr or sale of the Certficates is to be construed a
constiMing an agreement with the Purchaser of the Cefficates. INVESTORS SHOULD READ THE ENTIRE OFFICIAL
STATEMENT, INCLUDING ALL APPENDICES ATTACHED HERETO, TO OBTAIN INFORil4ATION ESSENTIAL TO T4AKING AN
INFORMED IM/ESTMENT DECISION.
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The lssuer

The Certilicates

Paying AgenURegistrar

Security

Redemption Provisions of the
Certificates

Tax Matters

Qualified Tax-Exempt Obligations

Use of Certifcate Proceeds

SELECTED DATA FROM THE OFFICIAL STATEMENT

The selected data is subject in all respects to the more complete information and definitions contained or incorporated in this Offiaal
Statement. The offering of the C,ertificates to potential investors is made only by means of this entire Ofticial Statenrent. No person is
authorized to detach this pagle from this Offrcial Statement or to dhewvise use it withaut the entire Ofticial Statement.

The Crty of Bellmead, Texas (the "Crlf or "lssue/) is located three miles to the northeast of
Waco on U-S- Highway 84, The 2010 census population was 9,901, increasing 7.460lo

since 20010. The cunent population estimate is 10,503. The City operates unde. a
Mayor/City Council form of government pursuant to the laws ol the State of Texas and the
Cih/s Home Rule Charter. (See ?PPENDIX B - General Information Regardirg the City of
Bellmead and Mclennan County, Texas" heretn.)

The Certificates are being issued pursuant to the Constitution and general lavvs of the State
of Texas (the "State'), particularly the Certficate of Obligation Act of 1971 (Sections271 .M1
through 271.W, Texas Local Govemment Code, as amended), Chapter 1502, as
amended, Texas Govemment Code, an ordinance (the "Ordinance") adopted by the City
Council of the City, on August 14, 2O1B and the CiVs Home Rule Charter. (See THE
CERTIFICATES - Authority for lssuance" herein.)

The initial Paying AgenURegistrar is BOKF, NA, Dallas, Texas.

The Certificates constitute direct and general obligatiors of the lssuer payable primarity fom
lhe proceeds of an annual ad valorem tax levred upon all taxable property within the City,
within ftte limitations prescnbed by law, and are further payable from and secured by a lien
on and pledge ofthe Pledged Revenues (kJentilied and defined in the Ordinance), being a
limited amount of the Net Revenues derived fom the operation of the City's combtred utility

system (the "System"), such lien on and pledge of the limited amount of Net Revenues beirg
subordinate and inferior to the lien on and pledge oi such Net Revenues securlng payment

of any Prior Lien Obligations, Junior Lien Obligations, or Subordinate List Obligations
hereafier issued by the lssuer (all such terms as defined in the Ordinarce)- The City
previously ar-rthorized the issuance of the cunently ot-ttstanding Limited Pledge Obligattons
(as described and defined in the Ordinance) which are payable, in part, from and secured by
a lien on and pledge of a limited amount of the Net Revenues in the manner provided in the
ordinances authorizing the issuance of the cunently outstanding Lrmited Pledge Obligations.
ln the Ordinance, lhe City reserves and retains the right to issue Prior Lien Obltgations, Junior
Lien Obl(;ations. Subordinate Lien Obligatrons, and Additional Limited Pledge Obligatiors
(all as idenlified and def ned in the Ordinance), while the Certificates are oulstanding, wthout
limitation as to prirripal amount but subject to any terms, conditions or resfictions as may
be applicable thereto under law or otherwise. (See 'THE CERTIFICATES - Secunty for
Paymenf' and'TAX RATE LIMITATIONS" herein.)

The lssuer reserves the right, at its sole option, to redeem Certificates stated to mature on
orafterMarch 1,2029, inwholeorinpart,inprincipal amountsof $5,000oranyintegral
multiple thereof, on March 1, 2A28, or any date thereafter, at the redemption price of par
plus accrued interest to lhe date fixed for redemption. ln addition, the Tem Certificates
(defired herdn) are dso subject to mandatory sir*ing fund redernpticn prior to stated mafunty.
(See THE CERTIFICATES - Redemption Provisions of the CertiJicates" herein.)

ln the opinion of Bond Counsel, the interest on the Certificates will be excludable from gross

income of the orarners thereof for pr:rposes of federal income taxation under existing statutes,

regulatiors, published rulings and court decisions, subject to matters discussed herein under
'"fAX MATTERS", includirg the altemative tiax on corporatiors. (See "TAX MATTERS" and
"APPENDIX C - Form of @inion of Bond Counsel" herein.)

The lssuer has designated the Certificates as "Qualified Tax-Exempt Obligations" for
financial institutions. (See'TAX MATTERS - Qualified Tax-Exempt Obligations" herein-)

Proceeds from the sale of the Certificates will be used for lhe purpose of payng eontractual
obligations of the City to be incuned tor making permanent public improvements and for

other public purposes, te.wrt (1) acquiring, purchasing, and eguipping the lssuefs two fire
trucks and any additional public safety equipment necessary lhereto; (2) the purchase of
materials, supplies, equipment, machinery, landscaping, land, and nghts-of-way for
auttprized needs and purposes relating to the aforementioned capital improvemenb; and
(3) the papent of professional services related to the design, constructton, project

managernent, and financing of the aforementioned protects. (See "THE CERTIFICATES -
Use of Certificate Proceeds" herein.)
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Rating

Payrnent Record

Future Bond lssues

Delivery

Legality

S&P Global Ratings, fS&P) has assigned an underlyng, unenhanced rattng of "AA-" to tte
Certificates. (See "OTHER PERTINENT INFORMATION - Rating" herein.)

The lssuer has never defaulted on the payment of its bonded indebledness.

The City anticipates being a participant in tte financing of the "Bellmead MultFPurpose
Venue" (the "Projecf) as authorized and approved by the voters of frre City at a venue
project eledion held in the City on fi4ay 5,2A18 (the "Election"). The participants in the
Projec{ ale in the process of negotialting the terms and timing of the Project, induding
negotiations with a professional baseball team. As of the date of this Orfficial Statement,
it is anUcipated hat a onequarter percent (1/4%) sales tax (fne'48 Tan levied in the
Ci$ and collected by the Bellmead Economic Developrnent Corporalion (the "EDC")
will be the security pledged for lhe issuance of obligations in part b support ot the
Project in calendar year 2019 (the 2019 Sales Tax Revrenue Bonds"). (See
APPENDIX A - Table 14 for a description of the EDC and lhe collec{ion of the 48 Tax.}
As authorized at the Elecflon, lhe Clty b addltonally authorized to levy and collect a
hotel occupancy tax ("HOT) in the City and pledge such HOT to the repayment of
obligations issued in part b finance the Prc,ject. As of tte date of lhis Official Statement,
il b anticipded that the HOT will be the secuity pledged for the issuance of obligations
in supporl of the Prcject in calendaryear 2019 (the "2019 HOT Bonds"). The combined
amount ofthe 2019 Sales Tax Revenue Bonds and he 201 I HOT Bonds, together witrr
certain City laufi.rlly available tunds, is anticipated to be approximately $+,000,000. The
Ci$ does not anticipate issuing additional obligations securcd by ad valorem taxes or
net revenues of fie City's combined ulilig system in the next twelve monlhs, except
potenlially refunding bon6 br debt service savings.

When issued, anticipated on or about September 5, 2018.

Delivery of the Certificates is sut{ect to the approval by the Aftomey General of the State
of Texas and the appfoval of certain legal ma$ers by Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP, San
Antonio, Texas, Bond Counsel.

(The rcmainder of this page intentionally left blank.)
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT

relating to

$1,995,000
CITYOF BELLMEAD, TEXAS

(A political subdivision of the State of Texas located in Mclennan, Texas)

COMBINATION TA)( AND LIMITED PLEDGE REVENUE CERTIFICATES OF OBUGATION, SERIES 2018

INTRODU CTORY STATEMENT

This Oficial Statement provides certain inbrmation in connectlon with the issuance by the City of Bellmead, Texas (the "City" or the "lssuef )
of its 91 ,995,000 Combination Tax and Limited Pledge Revenue Certificates of Obligtion, Sedes 2018 (the "Cefficates") identified on the

cover page.

The lssuer is a political subdivision of tre State of Texas (fre "Sbte") and a municipal corporation organized and efstirg under the

Constitution and laws of the State of Texas and its Home Rule Charter. Unless otherube indicated, capitalized terms used in this Official
Statement have the same meanings assigned lo such terms in the Ordinance. lncluded in this Ofiickil Statemeni are descriptions of the

Certificats and cerlain inbrmation aboutthe lssuer and its fnances. ALL DESCRIPflONS OF DOCUlttElJfS CONTAINED HEREIN

ARE SUMTIT,AR,ES OT',LYAND ARE QUAUFIED IN THE/iR ENNRETY BY REFERENCE TO EACH SUCH DOCUMENI. COP|ES d
sucfr documents may be obtained upon requesttom the lssuer or its Financial Advisor, SAMCO Capital Markeb, lnc., 1020 NE Loop4'10,
Suite 640, San Antonio, Texas 78209, via electronic mail or upon payment of reasonable copytng, handling, and delivery charges.

All financial and other information presented in this Offcial Statement has been provided by the City fom its records, except for informafion
expressly attributed to other sources. The presentation of information, including tables of receipts trom taxes and otier sources, is inbnded
io show recent historic information, and is not intended to indicate frJture or continuing tends in linancial position or other afiairs of the City.

No representation is made that past experiene, as is shown by financial and other inbrmation, will necessarily continue or be repeaied in

the ftrture.

This Official Statemenl speaks only as to ib date, and the informaton contained herein b subied to change. A copy of the Final fficial
Statement pertaining to the Certificates will be deposited with the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board through ib Elecfronic Municipal
MarketAccbssfEMlril,AJsystem. See "CONTINUINGDISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION" hereinforad*cription of the Citfsundertaking
to provide certain information on a confinuing basis.

THE CERTIFICATES

General Description of the Certificates

The Certificates are dated August 1, 2018 (the "Dated Date ), will mature on the dates and in the principal amounts and will bear interest

at the rates set forti on page ii of this fficial Slatement. The Certificates will be registered and issued in denominations of $5,000 or any
integral multiple thereof. The Certificates will bear interest fiom the Dated Date, or fom the most recenl date to which interest has been

paid or dug frovided for, and will be paid semiannually on March 1 and September 1 of each year, commencing March 1 , 2019, until stated

maturityorpriorredemption. PrincipalofandinterestonheCertificatesarepayableinthemannerdescribedhereinunder"BOOK-ENTRY-
ONLY SYSTElvf . ln the event the Book-Entry€nly System is discontinued, the interest on the Cefficates payable on an interest payment

date will be payable to the registered owler as shown on the security register maintained by BOKF, NA, Dallas, Texas as the initial Paying
AgenVRegistrir, as of the Record Date (delined below), by check, mailed first-class, postage prepaid, to the address of such pemon on

thL secudty register or by sucfr other method acceptable to the Paying AgenVRegistrar requ*ted by and at the risk and expense of the

registered bwnir. ln the bvent the Book-Entry-Only System is disconlinued, principal of the Certifcates will be payable at stated maturity
or prior redemption upon presentation and sunender thereof at the corporate trust ofice of the Paying AgenURegistrar.

lf the date tcr the payment of the pdncipal of or interest on the Cefficates is a Saturday, Sunday, a legal holiday or a day wfien banking
institutions in the iitywtrere the Paying AgenVRegislrar is located are authorized by law or executive order b close, then the date br such
paynent will be the irext succeeding day which is not a Saturday, Sunday, legal holiday or a day on wlrich banking instiMions are authorized

to close; and payment on sucfi date will have the same force and efrec{ as if made on the original date payment was due.

Authority for lssuance

The Certificates are being issued pursuant to the Constitution and general laws of the State of Texas (the "State"), particularly the
Certificate of Obligation Act of 1971 (Sections 271.041 through 271.AU Texas Local Govemment Code, as amended), Chapter 1502,

as amended, Texas Govemment Code, an ordinance (the "Ordinance") adopted by the City Council of the City (lhe "City Council") on
August 14,2018, and the City's Home Rule Charter.



Security for Payment

Umited Pledge af Ad Valorem laxes. The Certificates are general obligalions of the City, payable from its colleclion of an ad valorem
tax levied annually, within the legal limitations imposed by law, upon all taxable property located in the City. (See "AD VALOREM
TAX PROCEDURES" and "TAX RATE LIMITATIONS" herein.)

Limited Revenue Pledge Benefrting the Certificates. Solely to comply with Texas law dloWng the Certificates to be sold for cash, the
Certilicates are turther secured by a lien on and pledge of the Pledged Revenues (being a limiled amount of the Net Revenues dedved
from the operation of the lssuer's combined utility system (the "System') not to exceed $1 ,000 during the entire period the Certificates
or interest thereon remain outstanding, such lien on and pledge of the limited amount of Net Revenues being subordinaie and inferior

!o the li6n on and pledge of such Net Revenues securing payment of any Prior Lien Obligations, Junior Lien Obligations, or
Subordinate Lien Obligalions hereafter issued by the lssuer (all such terms as defined in lhe Ordinance). The City-previously
aulhorized the issuance of the cunently outslanding Limited Pledge Obligations (as descrlbed and dellned ln the Ordlnance) whlch
are payable, in part, from and secured by a lien on and pledge of a limited amount of the Net Revenues in the manner provided ln the
ordinance authorizing the lssuance of the cunently outstandlng Limited Pledge Obligations. ln the Ordinance, the City reserves and
retains the right to issue Prior Lien Obligations, Junior Lien Obligations, Subordinate Lien Obligations, and Additional Limited Pledge
Obligations (all as identified and delined in the Ordinance), wlrile the Certificates are outstanding, without limitation as to pfincipll
amounl but subject lo any terms, conditions or restrictions as may be appllcable thereto under law or otiewlse.

Even though the City has pledged the Pledged Revenues of the System to turther secure the Certificates, the Cig does not expect
that any Net Revenues from such System will actually be ulilized to pay the debt service requirements on lhe Certmcates.

Redemption Provisions of the Certilicates

Optional Redemption

The lssuer reserves lhe right, at its sole option, to redeem Cefficates stated to mature, on or afier March 1 , 2A29, in Mrole or in part,
in principal amounts of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof on March 1, 2O28, or any date thereafter, at the par value thereof plus
accrued interest to the date fxed for redemption.

Mandatory Sinking Fund Rdemption

The Certilicates stated to mature on March 1, 2030 and March 1, 2038 are refened to herein as the Term Certificates". The Term
Certificates are also subject to mandatory redemption prior to stated maturity in part and by lot, at a price equal to the principal amount
thereof plus accrued interest to the date of redemption, on March 1, in the years and principal amounts shown below:

Term Certificates
Stated to Mature on

March 1.2030

Term Certificates
Stated to Mature on

March 1, 2038
2036 $125,000
2437 130,000
2038- 135,000

2429
2030'

$100,000
105,000

-Payable at Stated Maturity.

Approximaiely forty-five (45) days prior to eaeh mandatory redemption date for the Term Certificates, the Paying AgenURegistrar shall
select by lot the numbers of the Term Certificates within the applicable Stated Maturity to be redeemed on the next followihg March 1

from money sel aside for thal purpose in the Certificate Fund. Any Term Certificales not selected for prior redemption shall be paid
on the date of their stated maturity.

The principal amount of a Term Certificate required to be redeemed pursuant to the operation of such mandalory redemplion
provisions shall be reduced, at the option of the City, by the principal amount of any Term Certificates of such stated maturity wtrich,
at leasl fifty (50) days prior lo the mandatory redemption date (1) shall have been defeased or acquired by the City and delivered lo
the Paying AgenURegistar br cancellation, (2) shall have been purchased and canceled by tfre Paying AgenURegistrar at the requesl
of the City, or (3) shall have been redeemed pursuant to the optional redemption provisions set forlh above and not theretofore
credited against a mandatory rcdemption requirement.

Notice of Redemption and DTC Notices

Ai least 30 days prior to the date fixed for any redemption of any Cefficates or portions thereof prior to stated matunty, lhe lssuer shall
cause notice of such redemption to be sent by United States mail, firstdass pmtage prepaid, to lhe registered owner of each Certificate
or a portion thereof to be redeemed at ib address as it appeared on the registation books of the Paying AgenURegisfar on the day such
notice of redemption is mailed. By the date fixed for any such redemption, due provision shall be made with the Paying AgenVRegisirar for
the payment of the required redemption prie tor the Certificates or portions thereof wtrich are to be so redeemed. lt $ch notie ot
redemption is given and if due provision br such payment is made, all as proMded above, the Certificales or portions thereof which are to
be so redeemed thereby automatically shall be teated as redeemed prior trc their scheduled maturities, and trey shall not bear interest
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afier the date fixed tor redemption, and they shall not be regarded as being outslanding except for the right of the regislered owner to
receive the redemption price fom the Paying AgenURegistnar out of the tunds provkied for such paynent.

ANY NOTICE OF REDEMPTION SO I4AILED SHALL BE CONCLUSIVELY PRESUMED TO HAVE BEEN DULY GIVEN IRRESPECTIVE
OF WHETHER RECEIVED BY THE CERTIFICATEHOLDER, AND, PROVIDED THAT PROVISION FOR PAYVIENT OF THE
REDEMPT]ON PRICE IS MADE AND ANY OTHER CONDITIONS TO REDEMPTION ARE SATISFIED, INTEREST ON THE
REDEEMED CERT]FICATES SHALL CEASE TO ACCRUE FROM AND AFTER SUCH REDEMPT]ON DATE NOI],VITHSTANDING
THATA CERTIFICATE HAS NOT BEEN PRESENTED FOR PAYMENT.

Cert'ficate of a denomination larger lhan $5,000 may be redeemed in part ($5,000 or any integral multiple hereof). Any Cerlificate io be
partially redeemed must be sunendered in exchange for one or more new Cefficates of the same stated maturity and interest rate for the
unredeemed portion of the principal.

The Pagng AgenURegistar and the lssuer, so long as a Book-Entry-Only System is used for the Certificates, will send any notice of
redemption, notice of proposed amendment to the Ordinance or other notice with respect trc the Certificates only to DTC. Any failure by
DTC to advise any DTC participanL or of any DTC participant or indirect participant to notiS the Benefcial O,vner, will not affect the validity
of the redemption of the Certifcates called lbr redemption or any other ac{ion premised on any such notice. Redemption of portions of the
Cerlificates by he lssuer will reduce the oubtanding principal amount of sucfi Certifcates held by DTC. ln such event, DTC may implement,
through ib Boolc-Entry-Only System, a redemption of such Cefficatras leld turthe account of DTC participants in accordancewitr its rules
or other agreemenb with DTC participants and lhen DTC participants and indirect participants may implement a redemption ol such
Certificates from the Beneficial Srners. Any such selec{ion of Cefficates to be redeemed will not be governed by the Ordinance and will

not be corducted by the lszuer or the Paying AgenURegistrar. Neither the lssuer nor the Paying AgenURegistar will have any responsibility
to DTC parlicipants, indirect participants or the pesons for wfiom DTC participants act as nominees, with respect to the paynents on the
Certficdes or the proMding of notice to DTC participants, indirect participants, or Beneficial O,vners of the selection of porlions of the
Certificdes br redemption. (See "BQOK-ENTRY€NLY SYSTEM' herein.)

Selection of Certificates to be Redeemed

The Certificates of a denomination larger than $5.000 may be rede€med in part (in increments ol $5,000 or any integral multiple hereof).
The Certifcates trc be parlially redeemed must be sunendered in exchange for one or more new Cefficates for the unrcdeemed portion

of the principal. lf less than all of the Certificates are to be redeemed, tlp lssuer will determine tre amounts to be redeemed and will direct
the Paying AgenURegistrar (or DTC while the Certificates are in Book-Entry-Only turm) to select, at random and by lot, the particular
Certificates, or portion thereof, to be redeemed. lf a Cefficate (or any porfron of the principal sum ihereof) Wll have been called for
redemption and nolice or sucfi redempfion will harc been given, such Certificate (or the pdncipal amount hereof to be redeemed), will

become due and payable on such redemption date and interest thereon Wll cease b accrue from and after the redemption date, provided
tunds br the payment of the redemplion price and accrued interest thereon are held by the Paying AgenVRegistnar on the redemp{ion date.

Use of Certifcate Proceeds

Proceeds from the sale of the Certilicates will be used for the purpose of paying contraclual obligations of the City to be incurred for
making permanenl public improvements and for other public purposes, to-wit: (1) acquidng, purchasing, and equipping the lssuer's
two fire trucks and any additional public safety equipment necessary thereto; (2) the purchase of materials, supplies, equipment,
machinery, landscaping, land, and rightsrf-way for authorized needs and purpces relating to the aforementioned capital
improvements; and (3) the payment of professional services relaled to the design, construction, project management, and financing
of the aforementioned projects.

Sources and Uses

Sources
Par Amount of the Certificates
Accrued lntereston the Cefficates
Net Reofiering Premium

Total Sources of Funds

Uses
Project Fund Deposit
Purchase/s Discount
Certifi cate Fund Deposit
Costs of lssuance

Total Uses

Payrnent Record

The lssuer has never defaulFd on the payment of its bonded indebtedness.

$ 1,995,000.00
7.509.51

95,4U.2
$2,097.963.76

$ 2,000,000.00
29,120.77

7,509.51
61,333.48
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Amendments

The lssuer may amend lhe Ordinance without the consent of or notlce to any registered owners in any manner not detrimental to the
interests of the registered owners, including the curing of any ambiguity, inconsistency, or formal defect or omission therein. ln
addition, the lssuer may, with the written consent of the holders of a majorig in aggregate principal amount of the Certificates then
outstanding alfected thereby, amend, add to, or rescind any of the provisions of lhe Ordinance: except that, wilhout the consent of
the registered owners of all of the Certificates afrected, no such amendment, addition, or rescission may ( 1 ) change the date specified
as the date on which the principal of or any installment of inlerest on any Certificate is due and payable, reduce the principal amount
thereof, or the rate of interest thereon, change the redemption price or amounls, change the place or places at or the coin or currenry
in wftich any Certilicate or interest thereon is payable, or in any other way modfi the terms of payment of the principal of or interest
on the Certificates, (2) give any preference to any Certificate over any other Certificate, (3) extend any waiver of default to subsequent
defaults, or (4) reduce the aggregate principal amount of Certifcates required for consent to any amendment, change, modification,
or waiver.

Defeasance

The Ordinance provides for the defeasance of the Certificates when payment of the principal amount of the Cerlificates plus interest
accrued on the Certilicates to thelr due date (wheiher such due date be by reason of stated maturity, redemplion, or othenvise), is
provided by irrevocably depositing with a paying agent, or other authorized escrow agent, in trust (1i money in an amount sufiicient
to make such paynent, and/or {2) Government Securities (defined below), to mature as to principal and interest in such amounts and
at such times to insure the availability, without reinvestment, of suficient money to make such payment, and all neeessary and proper
fees, compensation and expenses of the paying agent for the Certificates. The foregoing deposits shall be certified as to sufiiciency
by an independent accounting firm, the City's Financial Advisor, the Paying AgenURegistrar, or such other qualified financial institution
(as provided in the Ordinance). The City has additionally reserved the right, subject to satisfying the requirements of (1 ) and (2) above,
to substitute other Governm€nt Sscurities originally deposited, to reinvest the uninvested moneys on deposit for such defeasance
and to wilhdraw for the benefit of the City, moneys in excess of the amount required for such defeasance. The Ordinance provides
that "Govemment Securities" means any securities and obligations now or hereafier authorized by State law that are eligible to
discharge obligations such as the Certificates. Current State law permits defeasance with the following types of securities: (a) direc{,
noncallable obligations of the United States of America, including obligations that are unconditionally guaranteed by the United Slates
of America, (b) noncallable obligations of an agency or instrumentality of the United Stales of America, induding obligations that are
unconditionally guaranteed or insured by the agency or inshumentality and that, on the date of the purchase thereof, are rated as to
investment quality by a nationally recognized investment rating firm not less lhan MA or its equivalent, (c) noncallable obligations of
a state or an agency or a counly, municipali$, or other political subdivision of a stale that on the date lhe goveming bocly of the City
adopts or approves lhe proceedings authorizing the financial anangements have been refunded and are rated as to investnent quality
by a nationally recognized investment rating firm not less than AAA or its equivalent, and (d) any additional securities and obligations
hereafier authorized by State law as eligible for use to accomplish the discharge of obligations such as the Certificates. There is no
assurance that the ratings for U.S. Treasury securities acquired to defease any Certificates, or lhose for any other Govemment
Securities, will be maintained at any particular rating category. Further, there is no assurance that current State law will not be
amended in a manner that expands or contracts the list of permissible defeasance securities (such list consisting of these securities
identi'lied in dauses (a) through (c) above), or any rating requirement thereon, that may be purchased with defeasance proceeds
relating to the Certilicates ("Defeasance Proceeds"), though the Ci$ has reserved the right to ntilize any additional securities br such
putpose in the event lhe aforementioned list is expanded. Because the Ordinance does not contractually limit such permissible
defeasance securities and expressly recognizes the ability of the City to use lawfully available Defeasance Proceeds to defease all
or any portion of the Cefficates, registered owners ol Cerlificates are deemed to have consented to the use of Defeasance Proceeds
to purchase such other defeasance securities. notwithstanding the fact that such defeasance securities may not be of the same
investment guality as those cunently identified under Stale law as permissible defeasance securities.

Upon such deposit as described above, such Certificates shall no longer be regarded to be outstanding or unpaid. Afier firm banking
and financial anangements for the discharge and final payment of the Certificates have been made as described above, all rights of
the City to initiate proceedings to call the Cerlificates for redemption or take any other aclion amending the terms of the Certificates
are extinguished; provided, however, the Ci$ has the option, to be exerclsed at the tlme ol the defeasance ol the Ceftlflcates, to call
for redemption at an earlier date those Cerlificates wtrich have been defeased to their maturity date, if the City (i) in the proceedings
providing for the firm banking and financial anangements, expressly reserves the right to call the Certificates for redemption, (ii) gives
notice of the reservation of that right to the owners of the Certificates immediately following the making of the firm banking and linancial
arrangements, and (iii) directs that nolice of the reservation be included in any redemption notices that it authorizes.

Default and Remedies

lf he City defaulb in the payment of principal, interest, or redemgion price on the Cert'ficates Wren due, or if it fails to make payments into
any fund or funds created in the Ordinance, or defaults in the observation or performance of any other covenanb, conditions, or obligations
set forlh in the Ordinance, the registered owners may seek a writ of mandamus to compel City offcials to carry out their legally imposed
duties with respect to the Certificates, if there is no other available remedy at law to compel performance of the Cefificates or the Ordinance
and the Citfs obligalions are not uncertiain or disputed. The issuance of a writ of mandamus is controlled by equitable principles, so rests
with fie discrefion of tlp court, but may not be arbifarily refused. There is no acceleralion of rnafurity of the Cerlificzrtes in lhe event of
default and, consequently, the remedy of mandamus may have to be relied upon fiom year to year. The Ordinance does not provide for
the appointnent of a tusbe lo represent the interest ol the bondholders upon any failure of the City to perform in accordance with the
terms of the Ordinance, or upon any otier condition and accordingly all legal aclions to enturce such remedies would have to be undertraken
at the initiative of, and be financed by, the registered omerl The Texas Supreme Court ruled in looke v. Cfi of ilexia, 197 S.W.3d 325



(Ter 2006) that a waiver of sovereign immunity in a contractual dispute must be provided for by statute in "dear and unambBuous"
tanguage. Furthermore, Tooke, and iubsequent jurisprudence, held trat a municipality is not immune from suit for torts committed in the

perlormance of ib proprietary tunctions, as it is for torb committed in the performance of its govemrnental func{ions (the "Proprietary-

Govemmentral Dichotomf). Govemmental tunctions are those that are enjoined on a municipality by law and are given by the State as a
part of the State's sovere(7nty, b be exercised by the municipality in the interest of the general public,wlrile propdetarytunctions arelhose
ihat a municipalrty may, ln iis Oiscretion, perform in the intsrest of the inhabitants of municipality. ln Wasson lnteresb, LtC., v. Ci$ of
Jacksonville, 489-S.W3d 427 (fex.2016)'(Wasson") the Te:<as Supreme Court (the "Courfl) address€d Wtether the distinc{ion between

govemmental and proprietary acts (as found in tort{ased causes of aetion) applies to breach ol contract claims against municipalities. The

bourl analyzed the rationale-behind the Proprietary-Govemmential Dichotomy to determine that "a cttys propriebrytunclions are not done

pursuant t6 the \,vill of lhe people"'aM protecting such municipalities "via tre [S]bte's immunity is not an effcient way to ensure eficient
allocation of [S]bte resources". While the Court recognized that the distinction betvleen govemment andpropdetary functions is nol dear,
the Wasson oiinlon held that Proprietary-Govemmenhl Dichotomy applies in contract<laims context. Therefore, in regard to municipal

conhact cased (as in tort claims), il is incumbent on the courb to determine whetfcr a function is proprietary or govemmental based upon

the statrbry guidance and definitions found in lie Texas Civil Praciice and Remedies Code. lf a judgment aginsi m" 9tLy could be

obtained, it ioutO not be entrrced by direct levy and execution against the Cltt's property. Further, the registered olvners cannot tiemselves
foreclose on property within the City or sell property within the City to enforce the tax lien on taxable property to pay tte principal of and

inlerest on the Cerlificates. As noted above, the Ordinance provides that Certificate holdes may exercise the remedy ot mandamus lo
enbrce the obligations of the City under the Ordinance. Neither the remedy of mandamus nor any other type of injunctive relief was at

issue in Tooke, and it is unclear wheiher Tooke will be construed to have any effect with respect trc the exercise of mandamus, as such

remedy has been interpreted by Texas courts. ln general, Texas courts have lreld that a writ of mandamus may be issqed to require public

officiali to perform minislerial a-cts tnat clearly pertiain to their duties, Texas courb have held that a minbterial act is defined as a legal duty

tnat is pres'cribed and defined with a precision and certainty thal leaves nothing to the exercise of discretion or judgment though mandamus
is not ivai6ble to enturce purely contactual duties. However, mandamus may be used to require a public offcer to perform legally imposed

ministerial duties necessary 6r the performance of a valid contract to which the Shte or a political suMivision of the State is a party

(including ihe payment of nionies due under a contract). Furthermore, the Oty is eligible to seek relief fiom its creditors under Chapter 9 of
ine U.S. eanfiuftcy CoCe ('Chapter 9"). Although Chapter 9 proMdes for ihe recognition of a securi$ interest represelted by a specifically
pledged source of revenues, lhb pbdge of ad valorem taxes in support of a general obligation of a bankrupt entity is not specifically

iecognized as a security interest under Chapter 9, Chapter 9 also indudes an automatic stay provision that vrould prohibit, without

Bankruptry Court approval, the proseortion of any other legal action by creditors or bondtplders of an entity wftich has sought protection

unOer ina-pter 9. Thbrefore, should the City avail itself of Chapter 9 protec'tion fiom creditors, the ability to enforce would be subject to the

approval of the Bankruptcy Couri (which could reguire that lhe ac{ion be heard in Bankruplcy Court instgad of other federal or state court);

ahi tre Bankruptcy Cdde provides br broad discretionary powers of a Bankruptcy Court in administering any proceeding brought before

it. The opinion bt gonO Cdunsel will note that all opinions relative to the enforceability of the Ordinance and the Certificatras are qualified

with respeci to lhe cmlomary righb of debtors relative to their creditors and general principals of equity tut Permit the exercise of judicial

discretion.

REGISTRATTON, TRANSFER AND EXCHANGE

Payng AgenURegistrar

The initial Paying AgenVRegistrar is BOKF, NA, Dallas, Texas. ln the Ordinance, the lssuer retains lhe rigft !o replace. the Paying

AgenURegistiar.- tt lne Paying AgenURegistrar is replaced by the lssuer, the new Paying AgenURegistrar shall accept the previous
piying AlenyRegistra/s iecords and ait in the same capacity as the previous Paying AgenURegistrar. Any succ.essor Paying

Rg6nVnegistrar, selected at the sole discretion of the lssuer, shall be a national or slate banking associalion or corporation organized

anO Ooing business under the laws of the Uniled States of America or of any state, authorized under such laws lo exercise trust
powers, slhall be subjecl to supervision or examination by federal or slate authority, and registered as_a transfer agent with the United

States Securities and Exchange Commission. Upon a change in the Paying AgenVRegistrar for the Cerlificates, the lssuer agrees to

promply cause written notice thereof lo be sent to each registered owner of lhe Certiticates affected by the change by United States

mail, fi rst-class, postage prepaid.

The Certificates will be issued in tully registered form in multiples of $5,000 for any one stated maturity, and principal and semiannual

interest will be paid by the Paying AgenVnegistrar. lnterest will be paid by check or drafi mailed on each interest pgymgnl date by

the Paying nge-nVnejistrar to inaregistered owner ai the last known address as it appears on the Paying AgenURegistrals books or

by such other method, acceptable to the Paying AgenVRegistrar, requested by and at the risk and expense of the registered owner.
piincipal will be paid to the iegistered owner at stated maturity or prior redemption upon presentation to the Payllg AgenURegistrar;
provided. howev'er, that so long as DTC'S Book-Entry€nly System is utilized, all payments will be made as described under "BOOK-

LNfRy-OtI-V SYSTEM" herein. lf the date for the payment of the principal of or interest on the Certificates shall be a Saiurday,
Sunday, a legal holiday or a day when banking institutions in the city where the Paying AgenU Registrar is located are authorized to
close, ihen th! date foi such payment shall be the next succeeding day wtrich is not such a day, and payment on such date shall have

the same force and efrect as if made on the date payment was due.

Record Date

The record date ("Record Date") for determining the party to wlrom interest is payable on a Cerlilicate on any interest payment date

means the fifteenlh (15h) day of the month next preceding each interest payment date. ln the event of a non-paynenl of interesi on

a scheduled paymeit date, dnd for 30 days thereafter, a new record date for such inierest pgyment will be established by the Paying

AgenvRegistiai. lSee "REGISTMTION, TRANSFER, AND EXCHANGE - Special Record Date for lnterest Payment' herein.)

5



Special Record Date for lnterest Payment

ln lhe event of a nonfayment of interest on a scheduled payment date, and for 30 days thereafler, a new record date for such interest
paynent (a "Special Record Date") will be established by the Paying AgenVRegistrar, if and wien tunds for the payment of such
interest have been received from the lssuer. Notice of the Special Record Date and of the scheduled payment dale df the past due
interegt (lhe 'Special Payment Date'wltich shall be 15 days afier lhe Special Record Date) shall be sent-at least five businiss days
prior to lhe Special Record Date by United States mail, lirst class postage prepaid, to the address of each registered owner oi a
Certificate _appearing on the registration books of the Paying AgenURegistrar at lhe close sf business on the last business day next
preceding the date of mailing of such notice.

Future Registration

ln the event the Cerlificates are not in the Book-Entry-Only System, the Cerlilicates may be lransfened, reglstered, and asslgned on
the registration books of the Paying AgenURegistrar only upon presentation and surrender thereof to the Paying AgenURegistrar. and
such registration and transfer shall be without expense or service charge to the registered owner, exiept toi any lJx or other
govemmental charges required to be paid with respect to such registration and lransfer. A Cerlificate may be assigned by the
e.xecution of an assignment form on the Cerlificate or by oiher instrument of transfer and assignment acceptable to the Paylng
AgenURegistrar. A new Certificale or Certificates will be delivered by the Paying AgenUReglstrir ln lleu of the Certificates biing
transfened or exchanged at the corporate trust office of the Paying AgenURegistar, or sent 6y United Stales registered mail to the
new registered owner al the regislered ownefs request, risk and expense. New Certificates issued in an exchange or transfer of
Certificates will be delivered to the registered owner or assignee of lhe registered owner in not more than lhree (3J business days
after the receipt of the Certificates to be canceled ln the exchange or Fansfer and the writlen instrument of transfer or request fbr
exchange duly executed by the reglstered owner or his duly authorized agent. in form satisfactory to the Paying AgenURegistrir. New
Certificates regigtgred and delivered in an exchange or transfer shall be in denominations of 95,000 for any one stated maturity or
any integral mulliple thereof and for a like aggregate principal amount and rate of interest as the Certificate or Certilicates sunendered
for exchange 91 traryfer. (See "BOOK-ENTRY-ONLY SYSTEM" herein for a description of the syslem to be utilized in regard to
ownership and transferability of the Certificales.)

Limitation on Transfer of Certificates

Neither the lssuer nor the Paying AgenURegistrar shall be required (1) to issue, lransfer, or exchange any Certillcate called for
redemption, in whole or in part during a period beginning at the opening of business fifreen (15) days before thd day of the first mailing
of a nolice of redemption of Certificates hereunder and ending at the close of business on the day of such mailing or (2) thereafier to
kansfer or e_xchange.in whole or in part any Certificate so selected for redemption. provided, however, such limitation is not applicable
to the transfer or exchange of the unredeemed balance of a Certificate called br redemption in part.

Replacement Certilieates

The lssuer has agreed to replace mutilated, destroyed, lost, or slolen Certificates upon sunender of the mutilated Certificates to the
Paying AgenURegistrar, or receipl of satisfactory evidence of such destruction, loss, or theft, and receipt by the lssuer and paying
A-genURegislrar of security or indemnity as may be required by eilher of them to hold lhem harmless. The lssuer may require payment
of taxes, governmental charges, and other expenses in connection with any such replacement.

BOOK-ENTRY.ONLY SYSTEM

This section describes how ownership of lhe Certifcates is to be transferred and how the principal of, premium, if any, and interest
on the Certificates are to be paid to and credited by The Depository Trust Company ("DTC;), New York, New ybrk, wtrile ihe
Certificatesareregistered in its nominee name. The information in this section conceming DTC and the Book-Entry-Only System has
been provided by DTC for use in disdosure documents such as this Ofricial Stalemenf. The City, the Financial Adiisor, and the
Purchaser believe the source of such information to be reliable, but take no responsibility for the accuracy or completeness thereof.

The City cannot and does not give any assurance that {1) DTC will distribute payments of debt service on the Certificates, or
redemption or other notices, to DTC Participants, (2) DTC Participants or others will distribute debt service payments paid to DTC or
its nominee (as the registered owner of the Certificates), or redempiion or other notices, to lhe Beneficial O,rners, or that they Wll do
P_?n a timely. basis, 9r (!) DTC will serve and act in the manner described in this Official Statement. The cunent rules appitable to
DTC are on file with lhe United States Securities and Exchange Commission, and the cunent procedures of DTC to be'fblowed in
dealing with DTC Participants are on file with DTC.

DTC will act as securities depository for the Certificates. The Certificates will be issued as tully registered securities registered in the
name of Cede & Co. (DTC's partnership nominee) or such olher name as may be requesled by an authorized represen-tative of DTC.
One tully registered bond certificate Wll be issued for the Certificates, in the aggregate principal amounl of such issue, and will be
deposited with DTC.

DTC, the world's largest depository, is a limitedgurpose trust company organized under the New York Banking Law, a "banking
organization" within lhe me,aning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a "clearing corporation"
within the_megning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a "clearing agencf registereci pursuant to the provisions of
Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds and provides asset seMling for over 3.5 million issuei of U.S. and
non-U.S. equi$, corporate and municipal debt issues, and money market instruments from over 100 countries that DTC's participants



("Direct Participants") deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participanls of sales and_other
iecurities traniactions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and pledges between Direct
Participants' accounts. fiis eliminates lhe need for physical movement of securities certificates. Direct Participants include both U.S.

and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trusl companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is

a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation ("DTCC"). DTCC is the holding company for DTC, National
Securilies Clearing Corporation, and Fixed lncome Clearing Corporalion, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC is

owned by the users of its regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S. and non-

U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear through or maintain a custodial
relationship with a Direct Participant, eilher directly or indirectly ("lndirect Participants"). DTC has a S&P Global Ratings rating of AA+.
The DTC Rules applicable to its Participanls are on file with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission. More information

about DTC can be found at wwwdtcc.com,

Purchases of Certificates under the DTC system must be made by or through Direcl Participants, which will receive a credit for the

Certmcates on DTC's records. The ownership inlerest of each actual purchaser of each Certificate ("Beneficial Ownef) is in lum to
be recorded on the Direc{ and lndirect Participants' records. Beneficial Owners will nol receive writlen confirmation from DTC of their
purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive written confirmalions providing details of the transacton, as well as
periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or lndirect Participant through wtich the Beneficial Owner entered into the
iransaction. Transfers of ownership inlerests in the Certificates are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and
lndirec{ Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Oyners. Beneficial Owners will not receive physical certificates representing their
ownership interests in Cerlificates, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the Certificates is discontinued.

To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Certificates deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the name of DTC's
parfrership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. The deposit of
Certificates with DTC and their registralion in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any change in

Beneficial Ovnership. DTC has no know,ledge of the actual Benefcial Oiiners of the Certificates; DTC's records reflect only the
identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts such Cerlificates are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners.
The Direct and lndirect Parlicipants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.

Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to lndirect Participants, aM
by Direct Parlicipants and lndirect Participants to Beneficial Owners Wll be govemed by anangements among them, subject to any

statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect lrom time to time. Beneficial Owners of Certificates may wish to take certain
steps to augment the transmission to them of notices of signilicant events wilh respeci to the Certificates, such as redemptions,
tenders, defbufts, and proposed amendments to the Certificate documents. For example, Benelicial Owners of Certilicates may wish
to ascertain that the nominee holding the Certificates for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices to Beneficial Owners.
ln the altemative, Beneficial Owners may wish to provide their names and addresses to the regislrar and request that copies of notices
be provided directly to them.

Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. lf less than all of the Cerlificates Wthin a maturity are being redeemed, DTC's practice is
to determine by lot the amount of ihe interest of each Direct Participant in such maturity to be redeemed.

Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any oiher DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to Certificates unless authorized by a
Direct Participant in accordance with DTC's Procedures. Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the City as
soon as possible afier the record date. The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.'s consenting or voting rights to those Direct
Participants to whose accounts Cefficates are credited on the record date (identified in a listing atlached to the Omnibus Proxy).

Redemption proceeds, principal, and interest payments on the Certificates wilt be made to Cede & Co., or such other nominee as
may be'requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC's practice is lo credit Direct Participants' accounts upon DTC'S receipt

of funds and conesponding detail information fiom the City or the Paying AgenURegislrar, on Payable date in accordance with their
respective holdings shown on DTC's records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will be govemed by standing inslructions
and customary piactices, as is the case Wth securities held for the accounts of customers in bearer brm or registered in "street

name,' and will be the responsibilig of such Participant and not of DTC nor its nominee, the Paying AgenVRegistrar, or the City,
subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in efiect from lime to time. Payment of redemption proceeds, prlncipal,

and inlerest payments to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an aulhorized representative of DTC) is the

responsibility of the City or the Paying AgenVRegistrar, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants Wll be the responsibility
of DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and lndirect Parlicipants.

DTC may discontinue providing its services as depository with respeci to the Certificales at any time by giving reasonable notice to
lssuer oi Paying AgenVRegistrar. Under such cireumstances, in lhe eveni that a successor depository is not obtaaned, physical

certificates are rbquired to be printed and delivered. The lssuer may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry transfers
through DTC (or a successor securities depository). ln that event, physical certificates will be printed and delivered to the holder of
such Certificates and will be subject to transfer, exchange and registration provisions as set forth in lhe Ordinance and summarized
under "REGISTRATION, TMNSFER AND EXCHANGE" hereinabove.

The information in this section conceming DTC and DTC's book-entry system has been obtained from sources thal the City, the

Financial Advisor, and the Purchaser believe to be reliable, but none of the Ci$, the Financial Advisor. or the Purchaser take
responsibili$ for the accurary thereof.
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So long as Cede & Co. is the registered owner of the Cerlificates, the lssuer will have no obligation or responsibility to
Participants or lndirect Parficipants, or the persons for wtrich they act as nominees, with respect to payment to or providing
to such Participanls, or the persons for which they act as nominees.

Use of Certain Terms in Other Sec,tions of this Official Statement

the DTC.
of notice

ln reading this Odicial Statement it should be understood that while lhe Certificates are in the Book-EnFy-Only System, references in
other seclions of lhis Ofricial Statement b registered owners should be read to include the person for which the Participant acquires
an interest in the Ceriificates, but (i) all righls of ownership must be exercised through DTC and the Book-Entry-Only System, and
(ii) except as described above, payment or notices that are to be given to registered omers under the Ordinance will be given only
to DTC.

Effect of Termination of Book-Entry-Only System

ln the evenl that the Book-Entry-Only System is discontinued by DTC or the use of the Book-Entry€nly System is discontinued by
the City, printed certificates representing lhe Certificates will be issued to the holders and the Certificates will be subject to transfer.
exchange and registration provisions as set forth in the Ordinance and summarized under "REGISTRATION, TMNSFER AND
EXCHANGE - Future Registration."

THE SYSTEM

Water System

Presently. the City obtains its water fiom five (5) deep artesian wells. The wells draw water fiom the Trinity Sands aquffer. TIE capacity of
the 1v9lls range fiom 430 to 700 gallons per minutes f'GPM'). The total pumping €pactty, as of May 31, 2018, is 3.83 million gallons daily
("MGD"). The Ci$ cunenty possesses 1,477 acr*fer;l of ground water rights annuallytrrough ttp Southem Trinity Ground$ater
Conservation Dislrict. The City, through an inter-local agreement with the City of Waco, has a reserve water connection with tre City ol
Waco's water system as a contingenry to purchase water in the event of emergency or mechanical failures with the City water system.

The City water system has bur (4) elevated water storage tourers. Together, the bur water towers total 950,000 gallons of elevated
stcrage. Therc are seven (7) ground storage tanks Wth a total capacity of 3,904,000 gallons of ground storage.

The water is disfibuted and metered throughout fte system through approximately 315,000 feet of pipe. The sias of pipes used throughout
the system range fiom 7r" to 12" in diameter. lvleter sizes range trom 7r" to 6". As of May 31, 2018, the City had 3,495 service connections.

Water rates for residential are presently $17.00 for the first 2,0fi) gallons and $3.50 per thousand gallons thereafter. Watrer rabs br
commercial customers are presenfly $17.00 for the first 2,000 gallons and $3.68 per lhousand gallons tfiereaf,er. Customers outside lhe
City limits are charged $17.00 ftr tfte first 2,000 gallons and 95.20 per 1.000 ga[ons above 2,000 gallons.

Wastewater tlrstem

The City b one of eight local member cities of the Waco Metropolitan Area Regional Sewer Splem fW[MARSS'). All member cities
participate on a cost sharing basis to fund the operations and maintenance, as well as capitral improvement needs, of tlre W[r4ARSS. The
Clty cunenfly has a 5.707olo interest in the qntem. The City of Waco is a member of WIIIARSS and is responsible for the Serations and
maintenance of lhe system. The slstem is subject to joint administration of the system through the WIvIARSS Board. The Board consisb
of the Oty Managers fiom each of the eight participating cities.

The City b cunenty serued by approximately 230,000 feet of sewer pipe. Wastewater ppes, wilhin the City limib, range in size fiom 4" lo
30" in diameter. The lovaer elevation areas within the Ci$, are served by 12 lifr stations. All wastewabr collected within the City is metered
and sent to the W[\/ARSS treatnent plant in the City of Waco.

Residential wastevraler rates are $9.50 for the first 1,000 gallons and $2.00 br each additional 1 ,ofi) gallons up lo a maximum of 921 .00.
Commercial wastewater rates are the same as residential rates except thal there is no maximum on the amount drarged.

INVESTMENT POLICIES

The lssuer invests its investable funds in investrnents authorized by Texas law in accordance with investnent policies approved by
the City Council of the lssuer. The City Manager and Director of Finance / Chief Financial fficer are designated as investrnent
ofiicers for the City. Both State law and the lssue/s invesfnent policies are subject to change.

Legal lnvestment

Under State law, the lssuer is authorized to invest in (1) obligalions of the United States or its agencies and instumentalities, including
letters of credit (2) direct obligations of the Stiate of Texas or ib agencies and instrumentalities; (3) collateralized morlgage obligationl
directy issued by a federal agency or instrumentality of the Uniled States, the underlying seanrity br wtrich is guaranteed by an agenry or
insfumentality of the United Stales; (4) other obligations, the principal and interest of wtlich are unconditionally guaranteed or insured by,
or backed by the full faith and credit of, the State of Texas or the United States or their respedive agencies and instnrmentalities; (5)
obligations of sbtes, agencies, counties, cities, and other political subdivisions of any state rated as to inrrestment quallty by a nationally



recognized investment rating firm not less than "A" or its equivalent; (6) bonds issued, assurned, or guaranteed by the State of lsrael; {7)
interest$earing banking deposits that are guaranteed or insured by the Federal Deposit lnsurance Corporation or the National Credit Union

Share lnsurance Fund or their rcspective successors, or othevise meeting the reguiremenb of tte Texas Public Funds lnvestnent Act;

{8) certificates of deposit and share certificates that (i) are issued by or through an institution that has ib main ofice or a branch in Texas
and (a) are guaranteed or insured by the Federal Deposit lnsurance Corporation or tlp National Credit Union Share Insurance Fund or
their respective successorc, (b) are secured as to principal by obligations described in dauses (1) hrough [/ ) above, or (c) secured in any
other manner and amount provided by law for lssuer depos'rts, or (ii) certificates of deposit Wtere (a) the tunds are invested by the lssuer

through a broker that has its main ofrice or a branch ofice in lhe State of Texas and is selected from a list adopted by lhe lssuer as required
by law, or a depository insliMion that has its main offce or a branch orffice in the State of Texas that is selec{ed by lhe lssuer; (b) the broker
or the depository institr.fion selected by the lssuer aftrnges for the deposit of the funds in certificates of deposit in one or more federally

insured depository instiMions, wherever located, for the account of the lssuer. (c) the full amount of the principal and accrued interest of
each of the certificates of deposit is insured by the United States or an instunentality of the United States, and (d) the lssuer appoints the
depository instiluiion selected under (a) above, an entity as described by Seclion2257.041(d) of the Texas Govemment Code, or a clearing

brokerdealer registered witr the United Slates Securities and Exchange Commission and operating pursuanl to Securities and Exchange
Commission Rule 15ca-3 as custodian for the lssuer with respect to the certificates of deposit issued for the accounl of the lssuer; (9) tully
collateralized repurchase agreements that (i) have a defined termination date, (ii) are tully secured by a combination of cash and obligations

described in clause (1 ), (iii) require the securities being purchased by the lssuer or cash held by the lssuer to be pledged to the lssuer, held

in the lssueis name and deposited at the time the investment b made with the lssuer or with a hird party selecGd and apprcved by the
lssuer, and (iv) are placed through a primary govemment securities dealer, as defined by the Federal Reserve, or a financial instiMion
doing business in the State; {10) securities lending programs if (i) the securities loaned under the Program are lA0o/o collateralized, a loan
made under lhe program allows tur termination at any time, and a loan made under the prcgram b either secured by (a) obligtions that
are described in clauses (1 ) through (7) abo\e, (b) inevocable letters of credit issued by a state or national bank that is continuously rated
by a nationally recognized investment rating firm at not less than ",{ or its equivalent or (c) cash invested in obligations described in clauses
(1) through (7) above and clauses (12) through (15) below, (ii) securities held as collateral under a loan are pledged to the lssuer, held in
the lssuefs name and deposited at the time the investment is made with the lssuer or a third paily designated by the lssuer, (iii) a loan

made under the program is placed through either a primary govemmenl securities dealer or a financial insfiMion doing business in the
State of Texas, and (iv) the agreement to lend securities has a term of one year or less; (11) certain bankers acceptances if the bankers'

acceptance (i) has a stated maturity ot 27A days or fev,er from the date of issuance, (ii) will be, in accordance with ib terms, liquidabd in

tull at maturity. (iii) is eligible tor collateral for bonowing from a Federal Reserve Bank, and (iv) is accepted by a State or Federal bank, if
the short-term obligations ot the accepting bank or its holding company (if the accepting bank is the largest subsidiary) are raled at least
"A-1" or "P-1" or the equivalent by at leasi one nationally recognized credit rating agency; (12) commercial paper with (i) a stated maturity
of 270 days or less ftom the date of issuance, and {ii) a rating of at least "A-1" or "P-1" or the equivalent by either (a) tno nationally
recognized crcdit rating agencies or (b) one nationally recognized credit rating agency if the paper is tully secured by an inevocable letter

of credit issued by a U.S. or state bank (13) no-load money market mutual tunds that are (i) registered with and regulaled by the United

States Securities and Exchange Commission, (ii) provide the lssuer Wih a prospectus and other informalion required by the Securities and
Exchange Act of 1934; and (iii) comply with Federal Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 2a-7; (14) no-load mutual tunds lhat arc

(i) registered with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission, (ii) have an aveftrge weighted maturity of less than two years,

and fiii) either (a) have a duration of one yeat or more and are invested exclusively in obligetions described in this paragraph. or (b) have
a duration of less than one year and the investllent portfolio is limited to investnent grade securities, excluding asset- backed securities;

{15) investment pools af the lssuer has authorized investment in the particular pool and the pool invests solely in invesfrnents permitted by

the Texas Public Funds lnvestnent Act, and is continuously rated no lower than "fi{fi" e1 "AAA-m" or at an equivalent nting by al least
one nationally recognized rating service; and (16) guaranteed investnent conhacts that (i) have a defined termination date, (ii) are secured
by obligations which meet the requiremenb of the Texas Public Funds lnvestnent Act in an amount ai least equal to the amount of bond
proceeds invested under such contract, and (iii) are pledged to lhe lssuer and deposited with the lssuer or with a third party selected and

approved by the lssuer.

The lssuer may also contract with an investment management firm registered under the lnvesftrcnt Advisers Act of 1%0 (15 U.S.C.

Section 80F1 et seq.) or with the State Securities Board to provide for the investnent and management of ib public tunds or other tunds
under its conhol for a term up to two years, but the lssuer retains ultimate responsibility as fiduciary of its rosets. ln order to renew or
extend such a contract, the lssuer must do so by order. ordinance, or resolution. The lasuer is specifically prohibiled fom investing in: (1)

obligations whose payment represenb the coupon payrents on the outstanding principal balance of he underlying morlgage+acked
security collateral and pays no principal; (2) obligations whose payment represenb the principal stream of cash flow fiom the underlying
mortgage-backed securig and bears no inbrest (3) collateralized mortgage obligations that have a final stated maturity of greaterthan 10

yearc: and (4) collateralized morlgage obligations the interest rate of wftich is determined by an index trat adiusts opposite to tie changes
in a market index.

lnvestrnent Policies

Under State law, the lssuer is required to invesl its funds under written investnent policies that primarily emphasize sabty of principal and
liquidity; that addess investment diversification, yield, maturity, and the qual'tty and capability of investment management and that include

a lisi of authorized investnenb for lssuer funds, the maximum allowable stated mafurity of any individual investment and the maximum
avertge dollar-weighted maturity allowed for pooled tund groups. All lssuer funds must be invested consistent with a brmally adopted
"lnvestment Strategy Statemenf'that specifically addresses each fund's investment. Each lnvestrnent Strategy Statement will describe its

objeclives conceming: (1) suihbility of investment type, (2) preservation and safety of principal, (3) liquidity, (4) maketability of each
invesbnent, (5) divenification of the portfolio, and (6) yield.

Under State law, the lssuels investmenb must be made 'With judgment and care, under prevailing circumstances, that a person of
prudence, discretion, and inblligence would exercise in the management of lhe person's own afrairs, not for speculation, but for investment



considering the prcbable safety of capital and the probable income to be derived." At lemt quarterly the investnent oficers of the lssuer
must submit an Investnent repod b the Oty Council detailing: (1) he investnent poeilion of the lssuer, (2) that all investment oficers jointly
prepared and signed the report, (3) the beginning maftet value, and any additions and cfranges to market value and the ending rralue of
each pooled tund group, (4) he book value and market value of eacfi separately listed asset at the beginning and eM of lhe reporting
pedod, (5) the maturity date of each separately invested asset, (6) the account or tund or pooled tund group br which each indivirlual
investnent was acquired, and f/) lhe compliance of the investnent portfolio as il relates to: (a) the investment sfiategy expressed in the
lssueis investnent pdicy, and (b) the Public Funds lnvesfnent Act. ltlo peson may invest lssuer tunds without express written authority
fom the CJty Council.

Additional Provisions

Under State laq the lssuer is additionally requircd to: (1 ) annually review ib adopted policies and strategies, (2) adopt an order or resolution
stating that it has reviewed its invesfrnent policy and investnent stategies and records any changes made lo elther lb lnvestment pollcy
or investnent sbalegy in said oder or resolutbn, (3) require any investnent oficers with personal business relationships or relalives witr
firms seeking tro sell securitis to the enti$ to disclce he relationship and file a staternent wfih frre Texas Ethics Commission and the
lssuer (4) require he qualified representafive of firns cfiering to engage in an investment transaction witr the lssuer to: (a) receive and
review the lssue/s investnent policy, (b) acknowledge that reasonable controls and prccedures have been implemented b predude
invesffint transactions conduc{ed beh'lreen the lssuer and the buslness organlzaton that are not authorlzed by the lssueis investnent
policy (except to the extent that this authorization is dependent on an analysis of the makeup sf the lssuels enlire portblio or requires an
interpretation of su$eclive investrnent standards), and (c) deliver a vrritten stiatement in a form acceptable to the lssuer and the business
organization attesting to these rcquirements; (5) perform an annual audit of the management contols on investments and adherene to
the lssue/s inve$ment policy; (6) provide specific investnent faining br the Treasurer, Chief Financial Oficer, or other investment ofiicers;
(7) restict revese repurchase agreements to not morc than 90 days and restricl the investnent sf revense repurchase agreement funds
to no greater than the term of the reverse repurchase agreement (8) restic{ the investnent in mutual funds in the aggregate to no more
than 80o/o of the lssuefs monthly average fund balance, excluding bond procmds and reservc and other funds held for debt service and
further restric{ the investnent in norHToney market mutual funds of any portion of bond prcceeG, eserves and funds held for debt service
and to no more than 1506 of the lssueis monthly average furd balance, excluding bond proceeds and reserves and other funds held for
debt seMce and furlher rcstict the investnent in ne{oad money market mutual funds of any portion of bond proceeds reserves and funds
held br debt service to no more than 15olo of the entitfs rnonhly avenage fund balance, exduding bond proceeds and reserues and olher
funds held icr debt seMce: (9) require local govemment investnent pools to confirm to the new disclmure, rating, net reset value, yield
calculation, and advbory board requirements, and (10)
authorlzed to ergage in investment transactions with the

Cunent lnvestments

at least annually review revise, and adopt a list of qualified brokes lhat are
lssuer.

As of May 31, 2018 (unaudited), the City held investments as follows:

lnvestment Tvoe Amount Percentaoe
Depository Bank Accounts $ 8,694,902 37.91o/o
Certificates of Deposit 14,051 ,332 61 .27Vo
lnvestment Pool Accounts 187,517 O.82o/o

Total $22i33J51 100lxl%

As of such date, lhe market value of such investments (as determined by the lssuer by reference to published quotations, dealer bids,
and comparable information) was approximately 100o/o of their book value. No funds of he lssuer are invested in derivative securities,
i.e., securities wftose rate of refum is determined by reference to some other inslrument, index, or commodity.

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN

Plan Description

The City participates as one of 872 plans in the nontraditional, joint conlributory, hybrid defined benefit pension plan adminisiered by
the Texas Municipal Retirement System (TMRS). TMRS is an agency created by the State of Texas and adminislered in accordance
with the TMRS Act, Subtite G, Title I, Texas Govemment Code (the TMRS Act) as an agency multiple+mployer retirement system
for municipal employees in the State of Texas. The TMRS Act places the general administration and management of the Syslem with
a six-member Board of Trustees. Although lhe Governor, Wth the advice and consent of the Senate, appoints the Board, TMRS is
not fiscally dependent on lhe State of Texas. TMRS's defined benefl pension plan is a tax-qualified plan under Sections 401 (a) of the
lntemal Revenue Code. TMRS issues a publicly available comprehensive annual financial reporl (CAFR) that can be oblained at
www.tmrs.orq.

Alleligible employees of the City are required to parlicipate in TMRS.

Benefits Frovided

TMRS provides retirement, disability. and death benefits. Benefit provisions are adopted by the goveming body of the City, within the
options available in the stale statutes goveming TMRS.

At retirement, the benefit is calculaled as if the sum of ihe employee's contributions, with interest, and the City_financed monetary



credits with interest were used to purchase an annuity. Members may choose to receive their retirement benefit in over of seven
paymenb opfions. Members may also choose to receive a portion of their benefit as a Partial Lump Sum Distribulion in an amount
equal to 12, 24, or 35 monthly payments, which cannot exceed 75o/o of lhe membeis deposits and interest.

Beginning in 1998, the City granted an annually repeating (automatic) basis a monetary credit refened to as an updaled service credit
(USC) wliich is a theoretical amount which lakes into account salary increases or plan improvements. lf at any time during their career
in employee earns a USC, this amount remains in their account eaming interest at 5016 until retirement. At retiremenl, lhe benefit is
calculated as if the sum of the employee's accumulated contributions with interest and the employer match plus employer-financed
monetary credits, such as USC, with interest were used io purchase an annui$. Additionally, initiated in 1998, lhe Ci$ provided on

an annuilly repeating (automatic) basis cost of living adjustmenb (COLA) for retirees equeal to a percentage of the change in the

consumer price index (CPl).

A summary of plan provisions for the City are as follows:

Employee deposit rate
Matching ratio (city to employee)

60/o

2lo 1

5 years
25 years to any age, 5
years at age 60 and

above

100o/o Repeating
7oo/o ot CPI Repeating

Years required fur
Service retirement

vesting
eligibility

Updated Service Credit
Annuity lncrease (lo retirees)

The City does participate in Social Security

Discount Rate

The discount rate used to measure the Total Pension Liabilitywas 6 .71o/o.The projec{ion of cash llows used to determine the discount
rate assumed that employee and employer contributions will be made at the rates specmed in statue. Based on that assumption, the
pension plan's Fiduciary Net Position was projected to be avaihble to make all projected firture benelit payments of cunent active
bnd inactive employees. Therefore, the long.lerm expecled rate of retum on pension plan investments was applied to all period of
projected benefit payments to determine the Total Pension Liability.

Changes in the Net Pension Liability

lncrease (Decrease)
Total Pension

Liability
Plan Fiduciary
Net Position

{b)

Net Pension
Liability
(a) - (b)

Balance ai1213112015

Changes for the year:

Service Cost
lnterest

Difierence between expecfed and actual

eryerience

Contributions - employer
Contribulions - employee

Net lnvestment lncome

Benefil payments, including refunds of
employee contributions

Administrative expense

Other Changes

Net Changes

Balance al12131l2Q16

$12,060,237 $11,297,782

487,147

809,001

{2$,7471

314,177

206,710

763,497

(637,232) (637,2321

(8,623)
(455)

$762,455

487,147

809,001

(233,7071

(310,177)

(206,71O)

(763,497)

8,623

465

425,249 534,064 (208,855)

fi12,485,46 $11,931,846 $553,600

The following presents ihe net pension liability ol the City, calculated using the discounl rate of 6.750lo, as well as whal the City's net

pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentag+point lower (5.75%) or 1-percentag+higher
(7.75o1o) than the cunent rate:

11



Cunent
Discount Rate

(6.750 )
City's nel pension liabllity $ 2,€8,246 $ 553,600 ($s47,7621

See ?PPENDIX D - Audited Financial Statements - Note 9 Employee Benefit Plan."

Pension Plan Flduciary Net Position

Detailed information about the pension plan's Fiduciary Net Posltlon ls avallable ln a separately-lssued TMRS flnancial report. The
reporl may be obtained on the lnlernet at www.tmrs.org.

Pension Expense and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Defened lnflows of Resources Related to Pensions

For the year ended September 30 , 2O17 ,lhe City recognized pension expense of $387,264. At September 30, 2017 , the Clfy reported
defened outflows of resources and defened inflows of resources related lo pensions fiom the lollowing sources:

Defened Ouffovn Defened lnf,ova
ofResources ofResources

1% Decrease in
Discouni Rate

(5.75o/o)

Difierence between expected and acfual economic eperience
Changes in actuarial assumptions
Difierence beh,teen projected and actual investment eamings
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date

Total

1olo lncrease in
Discount Rate

(7.75Yo\

$ 2180,089

$829,456 $,180,089

$24'1232 reported as defened outflows of resources related to pension resulling from contributions subsequent tro the measurement
date Wll be recognized as a reducton of the net pension liability for the year ending September 30, 20'18. Other amounts reported as
defened outflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension expenses as follows:

Year Ended
September 30.

Defened

2018 $ 51,337
2019 43,910
2020 41,316
2021 (28,428')

Other Post€mployment Benefits

The City also participates in the cost sharing multiple+mployer defined benelit group-term life insurance plan operated by the Texas
Municipal Retirement System (TMRS) known as ihe Supplemental Death Benefts Fund (SDBF). The City elected, by ordinance, to
provide groupterm life insurance covetage to both cunent and retired employees. The City may terminate coverage under and
discontinue participation in the SDBF by adopting an ordinance before November 1 of any year to be effective the following
January 1.

The death benefit for active employees provides a lumpcum payrnent approximately equal to the employee's annual salary
{calculated based on the employee's actual earnings, for the 12.rnonth perlod preceding the month of death); retired
employees are insured for $7,500; this coverage is an "other postemployrnent benefit," or OPEB.Contributions.

The Clty's contrlbutlons to the TMRS SDBF for the years ended 2017,2016, and 2015 were $7,040, $6,844, and $6,676, respectively,
wftich equaled the required contributions each year.

See "APPENDIX D-Audited Financial Statemenb- Note 10 Oher Post-Employment Benefib.'

AD VALOREM TA)( PROCEDURES

Property Tax Code and County-Wide Appraisal District

The Texas Proper$ Tax Code (the 'Tax Code ") provides for county-wide appraisal and equalization of taxable property values and
establishes in eaci coun$ of the State of Texas an appraisal district and an appraisal revlew board responsible for appraising property
for all taxing units within the county. The McLennan County Appraisal Distric{ (the "Appraisal District') is responsible br appraising
proper$ within the City generally as of January 1 of each year. The appraisal values sel by lhe Appraisal District are subject to review
and change by the McLennan County Review Board (the "Appraisal Review Board") whlch is appointed by the Appraisal Disfic{.
Such appraisal rolls, as apProved by the Appraisal Review Board. are used by the lssuer in establishing ils tax roll and tax rate.

$ 16.028
53,725

518,471
241,232
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Property Subject to Taxation by the lssuer

Excepi for certain exemplions provided by Texas law, all real and certain tangible personal property with a tax situs in the City are

subject to taxation by the City. Principal categories of exempt property (including certain exemptions Mrich are subject to_local option
bythe City Council) include property owned by the State of Texas or its political subdivisions if the property is usedforpublic purposes;
pioperty 6xempt fr6m ad vaiorem taxalion by federal law; certain improvemenls to real property and certain tangible personal property

iocated in designated reinveslment zones on which the lssuer has agreed to abate ad valorem laxes, certain household goods, lamily
supplies and personal effects; farm products owned by the producers; certain property of a non-profit c,orporation used in scientific
reijarch and'educational activities benefiting a college or university, and designated historical sites. Other principal caiegories of
exempt property include tangible personal property not held or used for production of income, solar and wind-powered energy devices,

most individually owned automobile$ certain varying amounts of valuation attributable to residential homesteads of disabled persons

or persons agei SS or over and property of disabled veterans or the surviving spouse or children of a deceased veteran who died

wtrile on activ! duty in the armed forces; and certain classes of intangible property. Owners of agricultural and open space land, under

certain circumstances, may request valuation of such land on the basis of productive capacity rather than market value.

The voters of the State of Texas previously approved a constitutional amendmenl authorizing counties, cities, towns or junior college
districts to establish an ad valorem "tax freeze" on residence homesteads of the disabled and persons six$-five years of age or older.

This "tax fteeze'can be implemented by ofiicial action of a governing body, or pursuant lo an election called by the goveming body

upon receipt of a petition signed by 5olo of registered voters of the polilical subdivision.

lf lhe tax limitation is established, the total amount of ad valorem taxes imposed by he City on a homestead that rcceives the exemption
may nol be increased wtrile it remains lhe residence homestead of that person orthat person's spouse who is disabled or sixty-five years

of dge or older, except to the extent the value of the homestead is increased by improvements other lhan repais. lf a disabled or elderly
person dies in a year in wlrich the person received a residence homestead exemption, the total amount of ad valorem tiaxes impced on

ihe homestead Oy tne taxing unit may nol be increased while it remains the residence homestead of that person's surviMng spouse fi the

spouse is ffty-five years of age or older at the time of the person's death. ln addifion, the Texas Legislafure by general law may provide tcr
the kansfer of all or a proportionate amount d the tax limitaiion applicable to a person's homestead b be transfened to the new hornestead
of such penon if the person moves to a difierent residence within the taxing unit. Once established, the goveming body of the taxing unit

may nof repeal or rescind ihe hx limitation. The fteeze on ad valorem taxes on the homesteads of persons 65 years_of age-.or older and

the-disabled is also transferable to a different residence homestead. Also, a surviving spouse of a taxpayer who qualifies for the freeze on

ad valorem taxes is entited lo the same exemption so long as (i) the taxpayer died in a year in which he qualified for the exemption, (ii) the

surviving spouse was at least 55 years of age when the taxpayer died and (iii) he property wa9 the residence homestead of he surviving
spouse when the taxpayer died and the property remains lhe residence homestead of the survMng spouse.

Valuation of Property for Taxation

Generally. property in the City must be appraised by ihe Appraisal District at market value as of January 1 of each year. Once an

appraisai roll is prepared and finally approved by the Appraisal Review Board, it is used by the lssuer in establishing its tax.rolls and

tdi rate. Assesbmbnts under the tax Code are to be based on one hundred percent (100%) of market value, except as described
below, and no assessment ratio can be applied.

State law requires the appraised value of a residence homestead to be based solely on the property's value as a residence homestead,
regardlessoiwhetherresidential useisconsideredtobethehighestandbestuseoftheproperty. Statelawfurtherlimitstheappraised
vaiue of a residence homestead for a tax year to an amounl not to exceed the lesser of (1 ) the markel value of the property or (2) lhe
sum of (a) 10% of the appraised value of the property for the last year in which the property was appraised for taxation times the

number'oi years since the property was last appraised. plus (b) the appraised value of the property for the last year in which the
property was appraised plus (c) the market value of all new improvements to the proper$.

Arlicle Vlll of the Texas Constilution and the Tax Code permib land designated for agricultural use (Section 1{), open space or
timberland (Seclion '1{-1) to be appraised at the lesser of its value based on the land's capacity to produce agricultural.or_timber
products oi its market vatue. Landowners wishing to avail themselves of the agricultural use designation must apply for the

designation, and the appraiser is required by the Tax Code to act on each claimant's right to the designaiion individually. lf a claimant
receives the agricultural use designation and later loses it by changing lhe use of the properly or selling it to an unqualified owner,

the lssuer can-colpct taxes based on the new value, including three (3) years for agricultural use and five (5) years for agricultural

open space land and timberland prior to the loss of lhe designation. The same land may not be qualitied under both Section 1-d and

1-d-1.

Oil and gas reserves are assessed on the basis of a valuation process which uses pricing information in either lhe standard edition of
the Annual Energy Outlook or, if the most recently published edition of the Annual Energy Outlook was published before December 1

of the preceding Calendar year, the Short-Term Energy Outlook report published in January of the cunent calendar year.

The Tax Code requires the Appraisal District to implement a plan for periodic reappraisal of property to update appraisalvalues. The
plan must providd for appraisal of all real property in the Appraisal Distric{ at least once every three (3) years. The lssuer, at its
expense, has the right to oblain fiom the Appraisal District a cunent estimate of appraised values Wthin lhe Ci$ or an estimate of any
new property or improvements within the City. While such current estimate of appraised values may serve to indicate the rate and

exteit oi grdwth of taxable values within the Cig, it cannot be used for establishing a tax rate within the City until such lime as the

Appraisal District chooses to formally include such values on its appraisal roll.
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Residential Homestead Exemptions

Under Seclion 1{, Article Vlllof the Texas Constitution, and State law, the goveming body of a political subdivision, at its option, may
grant:

1. An exemption of not less than $3,000 of the market value of the residence homestead of persons 65 years of age or
older and the disabled from all ad valorem taxes thereafier levied by the political subdivision,

2. An exemption of up lo 20o/o of the market value of residence homesteads; minimum exemption $5,000.

ln the case of residence homestead exemptions granted under Section 1-b, Article Vlll, ad valorem taxes may continue lo be levied
against the value of homesteads exempted where ad valorem taxes have previously been pledged for the payment of debt if cessation
of the levy would impair lhe obligation of the contract by which the debt was created.

State law and Section 2, Article Vlll, mandate an additional properg tax exemption for disabled veterans or the surviving spouse or
children of a deceased veteran who died while on active duty in the armed forces; the exemplion applies to either real or personal
property with the amount of assessed valuation exempted ranging from $5,000 to a maximum of $12,000.

A disabled veteran who receives from the United States Department of Veterans Afiairs or its successor 100% disabilig compensation
due to a servic+connected disability and a rating of 100o/o disabled or of individual unemployability is entitled to an exemption from
taxation of the total appraised value of the veteran's residence homestead. Furthermore, the surviving spouse of a deceased veteran
who had received a disabili$ rating of 100o/o is entitled to receive a residential homestead exemption equal to the exemption received
by the deccased spouse until such surviving spouse remanies.

A parlially disabled veteran or the surviving spouse of a partially disabled veteran is entitled to an exemption equal to the percentage
of the veteran's disability, if the residence was donated to the disabled vst€ran by a charitable organization at no cost to the disabled
veteran, or at some cost to the disabled veteran in the form of a cash payment, a mortgage, or both in an aggregate amount that is
not more than 50olo of the good faith estimate of the market value of the residence homestead made by the charitable organization as
of the date the donation is made. Such exemption is transferable to a different property of the surviving spouse, if the surviving spouse
has not remanied, in an amount equal to the exemption received on the prior residence in the last year in which such exempiion was
received.

Also, the suwiving spouse of a member of the armed forces who is killed in action in entitled to a property tax exemption for all or a
part of the market value of such surviving spouse's residence homestead, if the surviving spouse has not remarried since the service
member's death and said property was the service member's residence homestead at the time of death. Such exemption is
transferable to a different property of the surviving spouse, if the surviving spouse has not remanied, in an amount equal to the
exemption received on the prior residence in lhe last year in which such exemption was received.

The surviving spouse of a first responder wtlo is killed or fatally injured in the line of duty is entitled to a property tax exemplion for all
or part of the market value of such surviving spouse's residence homestead, if the surviving spouse has not remanied since the
service member's death and said property was the service membe/s residence homestead at the time of lhe death. Such exemption
is transferable to a difierent property of the surviving spouse, if the surviving spouse has not remarried, in an amount equal to the
exemption received on the prior residenee in the last year in which such exemption was received.

Freeport Goods and Goods{n-Transit Exemption

Article Vlll. Section 1-i of the Texas Constitution provides for an examption from ad valorem taxation for "teeport property,' wtich is
lefined as goods detained in the state lor 175 days or less for the purpose of assembly, storage, manufacturing, processing or
fabrication. Taxing units that took aclion prior to April 1 , '1990 may continue to tax freeport property and decisions to continue to tax
freeport property may be reversed in the ti.rture. However, decisions to exempt treeport property are not subjecl to reversal.

ln addition, Arlicle Vlll, Section 1-n of the Texas Constitution provides for an exemption fiom taxation for "goods-in-transit', which are
defined as personal property acquired or imported into the state and transported to another location inside or outside the state within
175 days of lhe dde the property was acquired or imported into the state. The exemplion excludes cil, natural gas, petroleum
producls, aircrafi and special inventory, including motor vehicle, vessel and out-board motor, heavy equipment and manufacfured
housing inventory. Afier holding a public hearing, a taxing unit may take action by January 1 of lhe year preceding a tax year lo tax
goods-in-transit during the following tax year. A taxpayer may obtain only a fieeport exemption or a goods-in-transit exemption for
items of personal property. Senate Bill 1, passed by the 82tr Texas Legislature, 'ls Called Session, requires lhat the governmental
entilies take affirmative action afier October 1 of the prior year but prior to January 1 of the first tax year in which the City proposes to
continue its taxation of goodsin-transit in the 2Q12 Exyear and beyond.

Pollution Control

Article Vlll, Seclion 1-1, proMdes for the exemplion from ad valorem taxation of certain property used to conhol the pdlution of air, water,
or land. A person is entitled to an exemption fiom taxation of all or part of real and pesonal property flrat the penon owls and that is used
wttolly or partly as a facility, device or method br the contrrol of air, watrer or land pollution.
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Tax lnvestnent Financing/Tax Abatement/Economic Development Program

Tax lnqement Reinvestment Financind Zones: The City, by aclion of the Cfi Council, may create one or more tax increment reinveshent
zones {"TlRZs" or "TlFs") within ttre City, and in doing so, otier overlapping bxing entities may agree to contribub taxes levied aginst the
"lncremental Value" in the TIRZ to linance or pay for public improvements or proiecb within the TIRZ. At the time of the creation of the
TlRz, a "base value" for the real property in the TIRZ is established and the difierence bebreen any increase in the assessed valuation of
taxable real property in the TIRZ in excess of the base value of taxable real prcperty in the TIRZ is known as the "lncremenbl Value", and

during the existence of the TIRZ, all or a portion (as determined by the City) of the bxes levied by the Ci$ against the lncremental Value
in the TIRZ are resFicted to paying project and financing cosb within the T1RZ and are not available for the payment of other obligations
of the Ci$.

W:TheCityalsomayenterintotaxabatementagreemenbtoencourageeconomicdevelopment.Underthe
agreements, a profrb/ o.mer agreesi to constuct certain imprcvements on its property. The City, in tum, agrees not to levy a tax on all or
part of the increased value attributable trc the improvements until the expiration of the agreement. The abatemenl agreement could last icr
a period of up to 10 years.

Economie Development Proanms of Gre,nts and Loans; The City is authorized, pursuanl to Chapter 380, Texas Local Govemment Code

f-hapter Sao") trc establistr programs to promote state or local economic development and to stimulate business and commercial adiMty
in lhe City. ln accordance with a program established pursuant to Chapter 380, the City may make loans or grants of public tunds for
economiC development purposes, however, no obligations secured by ad valorem taxes may be issued for such purposes unless approved

by voters of the City.

lssuer and Taxpayer Remedies

Under certain circumstances, taxpayers and taxing units, including the lssuer, may appeal the orders of the Appraisal Review Board by
filing a timety petition for review in distrid court wilhin 45 days after notice b received that a linal order has been entercd. ln sueh event,

the property value in question may be determined by the court, or by a jury, if requested by any party, or through binding arbitration, if
requested by the taxpayer. Additionally, taxing units may bring suit against lhe Appraisal Dislrict to compel compliance with the Tax Code.

The Tax Code sets forth notice and hearing procedures for certain tax rate increases by the lssuer and provides for taxpayer reErenda
that could result in the repeal of certain tax increases. The Tax Code also establishes a Procedure br notice to property o,vners of
reappraisals reflec{ing increased property value, appnaisals wtrich are higher than renditions, and appraisals of property nol previously on

an appraisal rcll.

The Financial lnstitutions Act of 1989

The "Financial lnstitutions Reform, Recovery and Enforcement Acl of 1989" ("F|RREA"), enacted on August 9, 1989, contains certain
provisions which affec{ the time for protesting property valuations, the fixlng of tax liens and the collection of penalties and interest on

delinquent taxes on real property owned by the Federal Deposit lnsurance Corporation (the 'FD|C").

Under - FIRREA, real property held by the FDIC is subject to ad valorem taxation, however such act states that (i) no real property of
the FDIC shall be subject io foreclosure or sale without the consent of the FDIC and no involuntary lien shall atiach to such property,

{ii) the FDIC shall not be liable for any penalties or fines, including those arising from the failure to Pay any real property tax when

due, (iii) no personal property owned by FDIC is sut{ect to ad valorem taxation, and (iv) notwithstanding failure of a person to ehallenge
an appraisal in accordance with State law, such value shall be determined as of the period for which such tax is imposed.

As of the date hereol the lssuer is not aware of any significant properties in the City which are under the control of the FDIC, however,
real property could come under their control while acting as the receiver of an insolvent financial institution. Accordingly, to the extent
the FIRREA provisions are valid and applicable to property in the City, and to ihe extent that the FDIC attempts to enforce the same,

the provisions may afrect the time at which the lssuer can collecl laxes on property owned by the FDIC, if any, in the City.

Levy and Collection of Taxes

The lssuer is responsible for the levy and collection of its taxes unless it elects to lransfer such functions to another governmential
entity. Before the laler of September 30h or the 60h day after the date the cerlified appraisal roll is received by the taxing unil or as
soon thereafier as practicable, the rate of taxation is set by the lssuer based upon the valuation of property within the City as of the
preceding January'1. Taxes are due October 1, or when billed, whichever comes later, and become delinquent afier January 31 of
the following year. A delinquent tax incurs a penalty of six percent (5olo) of the amount of the tax for the lirst calendar month it is
delinquent, ptus one percent (106) for each additional month or portion of a month the tax remains unpaid prior to July 1 of the year in
wfrictr it becomes deiinquent. lf the tax is not paid by July 1 of the year in which it becomes delinquent, the tax incurs a total penalty

of twelve percent (12o/o| regardless of the number of months the tax has been delinquent and incurs an additional penalty of up to
twenty peicenl (2!o/o) if imposed by the lssuer. The delinquent tax also accrues interest at a rate of one percent (1olo) for each month
or portion of a month it remains unpaid. The Tax Code also makes provision for the split payment of taxes, discounts for early payment

and the postponement of the delinquency date of taxes under certain circumstances.
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lssuefs Rights in the Event of Tax Delinquencies

Taxes levied by the lssuer are a personal obligation of lhe owner of the property as of January 1 of the year for which the tax is
inlposeO. _On .fa1uary 1 of each year, a lax lien attaches to property to secure the payment of all state and local taxes, penalties, and
interest ultimately imposed for tie year on the property. The lien exists in favor of the State of Texas and each loial taxing unit,
including the lssuer, having power to tax the property. The lssuer's lax lien is on a parity with tax liens of such other taxing units. A
tax lien on real property takes priority over the claim of most creditors and other holdersof liens on the property encumbered by the
tax lien, whether or not the debt or lien efsted before the atlachment of the tax lien; however, whether a lien of the United States is
on a parity with or takes priority over a tax lien of the lssuer is determined by applicable federal law. Personal property. under certain
circumstances, is subjcct to rcizurc and sale for the payment of delinquent taxee, penalty, and interest.

At gny time after taxes on property become delinquent, the lssuer may file suit to foreclose the lien securing payment of the tax, to
enforce personal liability for the tax, or both. ln filing a suit to foreclose a tax lien on real property, the lssuer must join other taxing
units that have claims for delinquent taxes against all or part of the same property. Collection of delinquent taxes may be adversely
affecied by lhe amount of taxes owed to other taxing units, by the effects of market conditions on the foreclosure-sale price, by
talpqyer redemption rights (a laxpayer may redeem property within two (2) years afler the purchasefs deed issued at lhe foreclosure
sale is filed in the Ci$ records) or by bankruptcy proceedings which restrict the collection of laxpayer debts. Federal bankruptcy law
Provides that an automatic stay of actions by creditors and other entities, including governrnental units, goes inlo efect with the filing
ol any pelition in bankruptcy. The automatic stay prevents govemmental units from foreclosing on property and prevents liens for
post-petition taxes trom attaching to property and obtaining secured creditor status unless, in eiiher case, an ordei lifiing the stay is
obtrained tom the bankruptcy court. ln many cases, post-petition taxes are paid as an adminiskative expense of the estate in
bankruptcy or by order of the bankruptry court.

CITY APPLICATION OF THE PROPERTY TAX CODE

The City grants an exemption of $7,500 of residence homesteads of persons 55 or older and the disabled. See Appendix A - Table
9, Page A4 lor a listing of the amounts of these exemptions.

The City does not grant an exemption of 2oo/o of the market value of all residence homesteads, with a minimum exemption of $5,000.

The City has not adopted the tax freeze for citizens who are disabled or are 55 years of age or older, which became a local oplion
and subjectlo local referendum on January 1,2OO4.

The City does not tiax non-business pemonal property.

The City has contracted with the McLennan County Tax Assessor/Collector for the collection of the City's property taxes.

McLennan County does not permit split payments or discounts.

The City does grant the Article Vlll, Section 1-j (Treeport property") exemption.

The City does not grant an exemption for "goods-in-lransit". The City has not taken official action lo continue to tax goods-in-transit
br 2412 and beyond,

The City does not participate in a Tax lncrement Reinvestment Zone.

The City has no abatement agreements.

The City has not made any loans or granls under Chapter 380, Texas Local Govemment Code.

ADDITIONAL TAX COLLECTIONS

Municipal Sales Tax Collections

The City has adopted lhe provisions of Chapler 34 of the Tax Code, as amended, wtrich provides for the maximum levy of a one
percent sales tax wttich may be used by the City for any laufi,rl purpose except that tre City may not pledge any of the anticipated
sales tax revenue to secure the paynent of the Certificates or other indebtedness. Nel collections on a liscal year basis are shown
in Table 14 of APPENDIX A - Financial lnformation Relating to the Cig of Bellmead, Texas.

Optional Sales Tax

The Tax Code provides certain cities and counties the oplion of assessing a maximum one{ralf percent (1/2olo) sales tax on retail
sales of taxable items for lhe purpose of reducing its ad valorem taxes, if approved by a majority of the voters in a local option eleclion.
ll the additional tax is approved and levied, the ad valorem property tax levy must be reduced by the amount of the estimated sales
tax revenues to be generated in the cunent year. Further the Tax Code provides certain cities the option of assessing a maximum
one-half percent (1/2olo) sales lax on retail sales of taxable items br economic developmenl purposes, if approved by a majority of
lhe voters in a local option election.
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At an eleclion held on March 26, 1 980, the registered voters of the City approved an additional one-half percenl (t/zoh) sales tax to be
collected for economic development puryoses in accordance with Chapters 501, 502 and 5(X, Texas Local Governmenl Code, as
amended (fomerly Sedion 44 of Article 5190.6, Texas Revised Civil Statutes). Levy of this sales tax began on October 1, 1992.

At an election held on November 6, 2007, registered voters of the City voted to reduce lhe one.half percenl (t/zo/ol additional sales tax
for economic development to onequarter percenl(1/f/o) and approved an additional on+'quarter percenl (1Ao/ol additional sales tax for
street maintenance and improvements. Levy of these additional sales taxes began in July 1, 2010.

At an election held on May 8, 2010, the registered voters of ihe City voted to dissolve the 4,{ Economic Development Corporation and
approved an additional one-quarier percent (!f/ol *les lax to be collected for community development purposes in accordance with
Chapters 501, 502 and 505, Texas Local Govemment Code, as amended (formerly Seclion 48 of Article 5190.6, Texas Revised Civil
Siatutes). Levy of this community development sales tax began on October 1,2O1O. (See Appendix A - Table 14 for historical sales
tax collections and information, conceming the anticipated issuance of obligations secured by sales tax lo finance the construction of
the Bellmead Multi-purpose Venue Project.)

The City has not held an election regarding an additional sales tax for reduction of property tax reduction.

The Commissioners Court of McLennan County levies and assesses ihe remaining 1/zo/o additional sales and use tax for ad valorem
property tax red uclion.

TA)( RATE LIMITATIONS

Article Xl, Section 5 of the Texas Constitulion, applicable to cities of more than 5,000 population: $2.50 per $100 assessed valuation.
The lssuer has adopted a Home Rule Charter which does not limit the Citfs maximum lax rale limit beyond the Constitutional limit of
$2.50 per $100 of assessed valuation for all lssuer purposes.

No direcl tunded debt limitation is imposed on the City under cunent Texas law. Article Xl, Section 5 of the Texas Constitulion is

applicable to the City, and limits its maximum ad valorem tax rate to $2.50 per $100 assessed valuation for all City Purposes. As
stated above, the City operates under a Home Rule Charter which does not limit the City's maximum tax rate beyond the Constifutional
limit. The Texas Attorney General has adopted an administrative policy lhat generally prohibits the issuance of debt by a municipality,

such as the City, if its issuance produces debt service requirements exceeding that which can be paid lrom $1.50 of the foregoing
$2.50 maximum tax rate calculated at 90olo collection. The issuance of the Certificates does not violate this Constitutional provision

or the Texas Attomey General's adminiskative policy.

The Tax Code

The City must annually calculate and publicize its "effective tax rate" and "rollback iax rate". The City Council may not adopt a tax
rate that exceeds the lower ol the rollback rate or the effective iax rate until it has held two public hearings on the proposed increase
following notice to the taxpayers and otherwise complied with ihe Tax Code. lf the adopted tax rate exceeds the rollback tax rate, the
qualified voters of the City, by petition, may require that an election be held to determine whether or not to reduce the tax rate adopted

for the cunent year to the rollback tax rate.

"Eftective tax rate" means the rate that will produce last year's total tax levy (adjusted) from this yea/s total taxable values (adjusted).
'Adjusted" means lost values are not included in the calculation of last yeais laxes and new values are not included in this yeafs
taxable values.

"Rollback tax rate"means the rate lhat Wll produce lasl year's maintenance and operation tax levy (adjusted) fiom this year's values
(unadiusted) multiplied by 1.08 plus a rate that will produce this yeais debt service trom this year's values (adjusted) divided by the
anticipated tax colleclion rate.

Reference is made to the Tax Code for delinitive requirements for the levy and collection of ad valorem taxes and the calculation of
the various defined tax rates.

TAX MATTERS

Tax Exemption

The delivery of the Certtficates is subiect to the opinion of Bond Counsel to the efiec1 that interest on the Cefficales for federal income lax
purpoce€ (i) will be excludable fiom gross income, as defined in sedion 51 of the lntemal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended to the date
of such opinion (the "Code"), pursuant trc seciion 't 03 of the Code and efsting regulalions, published rulings, and courl decisions, and (2)

will not be included in computing thealtematirc minimum traxable income of the ownersthereof who are individuals or, exceptas hereinafier
described, corporations. A form of Bond Counsel's opinion is reproduced as APPENDIX C. The sbtubs, regulations, rulings, and court
decisions on whictr such opinion is based are subjec* to change.

For taxable years that began bebre January 1, 20'18, inteest on the Certificates owned by a corporation will be included in such
corporation's adjusted cunbnt eamings for purposes of computing the altemative mlnimum tax on such corporation, oher than an S
corporation, a q'ualified mutual fund, a real estate investment tust. a real estate mortgage investnent conduit, or a financial asset
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securilization investtnent trust fFASIT). The altemative minimum tax on corporatiors has been repealed for taxable years beginning on
oraterJanuary 1,2018.

ln rendering the foregoing opinions, Bond Counsel Wll rely upon representations and certifications of the City pertaining to the use,
expenditure, and investment of the proceeds of the Certilicates and will 6sume continuing compliance by the City with the provisions of
the Ordinance subsequent to the issuance of the Cefficates. The Ordinance contiains covenants by the City wilh respeci to, among other
matbrs, the use of the proceeds of he Cerlificates and the facilities financed herewilh by persons olher than state or local govemmental
unib, the manner in which the proceeds of the Certifcates are to be invested, tlre periodic calculation and paynent to the United States
Treasury of arbikage "profits" from the invesfrnent of proceeds, and the reporting of cerlain inlormation to the Unlted Stabs Treaslry.
Failure lo comply with any of these covenants may caus€) interest on the Certificates to be indudable in the gross income of the owners
thereof from the datE of the bsuance of the Cefficates.

Bond Counsel's opinion is not a guarantee of a result, but represents ib legal judgment based upon its review of exisling sbtutes,
regulations, published rulings and court decisions and the representallons and covenanb of the City described above. No ruling has been
sought from the lntemal Revenue SeMce (fre "lRS") wifn respect to the matters addressed in the opinion of Bond Counsel, and Bond
Counsel's opinion is not binding on the lRS. The IRS has an ongoing program of auditing the tax-exempt status of the interest on tax-
exempt obligations. lf an audit of the Certificates is cornmenced, under cunent procedures the IRS is likely to heat tlre City as the laryayer."
and the owners of the Certilicates would have no right trc participale in lhe audit process. ln respondlng to or defendlng an audtt otlhe tax-
exempt stafus of the interest on the Certificates, the Ci$ may have different or conflicting interests fionr the owners of the C,erlificales.
Public awareness of any fi.ture audit of the Cefficates could adversely afrect the value and liquidity of the Cefficates during the pendenry
of the audit, regardless of its ultimate outcome.

Except as dessibed above, Bond Counsel expresses no other opinlon wilh respect to any olher federal, state or local tax consequences
under present law or proposed legislation, resulting fiom the receipt or accrual of interest on, or the acquisition or disposition of, the
Certificates. Prospective purchasers of the Cerfficates should be aware that tle omership of tax+xempt obligations such as the
Certificates may result in collateral bderal lax consequences to, among others, financial instihrlions (see TAX N,IATTERS - Qualifed Tax
Exempt Obligalions for Financial lnstiMions" herein), life insurance companies, property and casualty insuranoe conpanies, cerl,ain foeign
corporations doing business in the United State, S corporations with subchapter C eamings and profits, individual rccipienb of Social
Security or Railroad Retirement benefits, individuals otheruise qualifling for the eamed income tax credit, owners of an interest in a FASIT,
aM tapayers who may be deemed to have incuned or conlinued indebtedness to purchase or cany, or wlro have paid or incuned certain
expenses allocable to, tax-exempt obligations. Prospective purchasers should consult their own tax advisors as to the applicability of these
consequences to their particular circumstances.

Existing law may change lo reduce or eliminale ttp benefit to cefficateholders ot the exdusion of interest on the Certificates tom gross
income for ftderal income tax purp6es. Any proposed legislation or administrative action, wfiether or not taken, muld also afrecl the value
and marketability of the Certificates. Prospective purchasers of lhe Certificates should consult with iheir own tax advisots with respect b
any proposed or fulure changes in tax law.

Tax Accounting Treatnent of Discount and Premium on Certain Certificates

The initial public ofiering price of certiain Cefficates (the "Discount Certificates") may be less lhan the amount payable on such Cefficates
at maturity. tut amount equal to the difrerence between the initial public ofiering price of a Discount Certilicate (assuming thal a substantial
amount of the Discount Certificates of ttnl maturity are sold lo lhe public at such price) and lhe amount payable at maturity constitutes
original issue discount to the initial purchaser of such Dbcount Cerfficate. A portion cf such original issue discount allocable to the holding
period of such Discount Certificate by the inilial purchaser will, upon the disposition of such Discount Cefficate (induding by reason of ib
payment at matudty), be treated as interest excludable trom gross income, rather than as taxable gain, for federal income tax purposes,
on lhe same terms and conditions as those for other inbrest on the Cefficates described abole under Tax Exemption." Such interest is
considered to be accrued actuarially in accordance with tle corstiant inbrest nethod over the life of a Dscount Certificate, traking inlo
account the semiannual compounding of accrued interest, at the yield to maturity on such Discount Certificate and generally will be allocated
to an initial purchaser in a difrerent amount fiom the amount of the paynent denominated as intercst aclually received by tre initial
purchaser during the tiax year.

However, such interest may be required to be laken inlo account in determining the altematirre minimum tax on corporations br ta;<able
yean that began beture January 1,2018, and the amount of the branch profitstax applicable to cerlain breign corporations doing business
in the United Slates, even though tlere will not be a conesponding cash payment. ln addition, the accrual of such interest may result in
certain olher collateral federal income bx consequences to, among others, financial institr,rtions (see TAX MATTERS - Qualilied Tax
Exempt Obligations for Financial lnstitulions' herein). life insurance companies, property and casualty insurance companies, S corporations
with subchapter C eamings and profib, individural recipienb of Social Seqrrity or Railroad Retirement benefib, individuals otherwise
qualiffing for the earned income tax credit, owners of an interest in a FASIT, and taxpayers wfio may be deemed to have incuned or
conlinued indebtedness topurchase orcarry, orwho have paid or inanned certain expenses allocableto, tiax-exemptobligations. [4oreover,
in lhe event sf the edemplion, sale or other taxable disposition gf a Discount Certificate by the initial owner prior to maturity, lhe amounl
realized by such owner in excess of the basis of such Discount Cefficate in lhe hands of such owner (adjusted upward by the portion of
the original issue discount allocable to the period forwhich sucfr Discount Cefficate was held) is indudable in gross income.

O,vners of Discount Certificates should consult with their own tax advisors with respeci to the determination of accrued original issue
discount on Discount Certificates br federal income tax purposes and with respecl to the state and local tax @ns€quenoes of ou/ning and
disposing of Discount Certificates. lt is possible thal under applicable provisions goveming determination of state and local income tiaxes,
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accrued interest on Discount Certificates may be deemed to be received in tlre year of accrual even though there will not be a conesponding

cash payment.

The initial public offering price of certain Certificates (the "Premium Certificates") qay be greater than lhe qmognt payable on such

Certificates at matunty. ,{n'amount equal to the difierence between the inithl public ofering price of a Premium Certificate (assuming that

a substantial amount of the Premium'Cefficates of that maturrty are sold to the public at such price) and the amouni payable at maturity

constiMes premium to the initial purchaser of such Premium Certificat€€. The basis for federal income tax purposes of.a Premium

Certificate in the hands of such initial purchaser must be reduced each year by the amortizable cerlificate premium, although no ftderal

income tax deduction is allolr,ed as a result of such reduction in basis fur amortizable certificate premium. Such reduciion in basis will

increase the amount of any gain (or decrease the amount of any loes) to be recognized br federal income iax purposes upon a sale or

other taxable disposition ot i nemium Certilicate. The amount of premium which is amortizable each year by an initial purchaser is

determined by using such purchasels yield to maturity.

purchasers of the premium Certif cates should consult with their own tax advisors with respect to the determination of amortizable cefficate
premium on premium Certificates for federal income tax purposes and with respect to the state and local tax consequences of owning and

disposing of Premium Certificates.

Qualified Tax-Exempt Obligations for Financial lnstittttions

Section 265 of the Code provides, in general, that interest expense to acquire or carry tiax-exempt oblig,ations is not deductible from the

gross income of the ownei of such obligations. ln addition, section 265 of the Code generally disallous 100o/o of any deduction-for inlerest

Expense which is incuned by Tnancial institutions" described in such seclion and is allocabte, as computed in such section, to tiax+xempt

intbrest on obligations acquired afier August 7, 1986. Seclion 265(b) of fte Code provides an exception to this interest disallowance rule

for interest expense allocable to tax-exempt obligations (other than private activity C-ertificateslha! are not qualified 501(cX3) bonds) whicfi

are designateb by an issuer as "qualified tix-exempt obligations." tut issuer may designate obligations as "quaJ{eO lax-epppt.obligations"
only if tiri amourit of the iszue oi wtricn they are a part, when added to the amount of all other tax-exempt obligations. (oihe.r than private

activity bonds that are not qualified 501(c)(3) obligations and other than certain retunding bonds) issued or reasonably anlicipated to be

issued by the issuer during lhe same calendar year, does not exceed $10'000.000.

The City has designated the Certificates as "qualified tax-exempt obligations" and has certifed its expectation that the above4escribed

$10,00d,000 cening wi11 not be exceeded. Accordingly, it is anticipated that financial institutions Wtich purchase the Certifcates will not be

subjecl to the 100% disallowance of interest epense allocable to interest on the Certificates under sec{ion 265{b) of the 
-Code. 

However,

the deduction br interest expense incuned by a inancial instiMion which is allocable to the inbrest on ihe Certifcates will be reduced by

20olo pursuant to seclion 291 of the Code.

CONTINUING DTSCLOSURE OF INFORMATION

ln the Ordinance, the City has made the following agreemenl for the benefit of the Registered Owners of the Cefficates. The City is

required to observe the agreement for so long aJit rbmains obligated to advance funds to pay the Certificates. Under the agreement,

tne City will be obligatedlo timely fite with th-e MSRB updated linancial information and operating data of lhe City that is included in

this oliicial Statement, that is cuitomarily prepared by the City, and that is publicly available, as well as notice of specified events.

The information provided to the MSRB will be available to the public free of charge via the EMMA system through an intemet website

accessible at www.emma.msrb.org.

Annual Reports

Under Texas law, including, but not limited to Chapter 103, as amended, Texas Government Code, the City must keep its fiscal

records in accordance wilh generally accepted accounting principles, must have its financial accounts and records audited by a

certified public accountant and must-mainldin each audit report Wthin 180 days afler the close of the City s liscal year. ,The City's

fiscal records and audit reports are available br public inspection durinE the regular business hours, and the City is required to provide

a copy of the City's audit reporis to any certificate holder or other member of the public Wthin a reasonable time of requeg! to the

tnteririr City Secr6tary, 3015'Bellmead Drive, Bellmead, Texas 75705, and upon payment of charges prescribed by the Texas General

Services Commission.

The City will file certain updated financial information and operating data with the MSRB annually. The information to be updated

includei all guantitative fin'ancial information and operating data Wth respect to the City of the general type included in APPENDIX A

Tabtes1.3.9. 10, 11,12,18, lg,20and22andAPPEND|XDtothisOfficial Statement. TheCitywill updateandprovidethis
information within six months after the end of each fiscal year ending in and afrer 2018.

The financial informalion and operating data to be provided may be set forth in tull in one or more documents or may be ineluded by

specific reference to any document available to the public on the MSRB's EMMA lnternet Web site or filed Wth the United States

Securities and Exchangi Commission (the "SEC"). as permitted by SEC Rule 15c2-12 (the "Rule"). The updaied information will

include audited financiil slatements, if ihe City commissions an audit and il is completed by the required time. lf audiied financial

statements are not available by the required time, the City will provide unaudited financial statements by the required time and audited

financial statements when and if such audited financial statements become available.

Any such financial statements will be prepared in accordance with the accounting principles described in APPENDIX D or such other

aciounting principles as the City may be required to employ fromntime to time pursuant to State law or regulation. The Citfs current



fiscal year end is September 30. Accordingly, it musi provide updated infonnation by March 3'1 in each year, unless the city changes
its fiscal year. lf the City changes its fiscal year, it will file notice of the change win ifre MSRB through eUUa.

Notice of Certain Events

The City will lile with the MSRB notice of any of the following events wilh respect to lhe Certilicates in a timely manner (and not more
than 10 business days after occurence of the event): (1) principal and inierest payment delinquencies; 12; nongaynreni related
defaults' if material; (3) unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecling financial difriculties; (4) unscheduleo'oraws on credit
enhancements rellecting financial difficulties; (5) substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their fdilure to perform; (6) adverse tax
gqt{o1s, thg_isslTce by the lntemal Revenue SeMce of proposed or final determinations of taxability, tlotices of Prdposed lssue
(lRS Form 5701-TEB), or other material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the Certificates, or other mabrial
events-afiecting the tax status of the Cerlificates; (7) modificalions to rights of holders of the Certificates, if material; (B) Certificaie
calls, if material, and tender offers; i9) defeasances: (10) release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayr"irent of the
Certificates, if materigll (1 1 ) rating changes; ('12) bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership, or similar event of lhe cit, wtliih shail occur
as described below; (13) the consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the City or the sale 6f all or substantially
all of its assets, other than in the odinary course of business, lhe entry into of a definitive agreemerit to undertake such an action or
the termlnatlon of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other lhan pursuant to ils terms, if material; and (14) appointment
of a successor or additional paying agenVregistrar or the change of name'of a paying agenUregistrar, f matdrtai. trtbnner ttre
Certificates nor the Ordinance make any provision for debt service reserves, credit enhantemenl or liquidity enhancement. ln
addition, the Ci$ will provide timely notice of any failure by the Cig to provide information, data, or financial statements in accordance
*ttLtls agreemenl described above under "Annual Reports". The City will provide each notice described in this paragraph to the
MSRB.

For th-ese.purposes,_any event described in clause (12) of the immediately preceding paragraph is considered to occur when any of
the following occur; the appointment of a receiver, fiscal agent, or similar officer for the City in a proceeding under the United Shtes
pa.ntgp,tcy Code or in any other proceeding under slate or federal law in which a court or govemmentat autnority has assumed
jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business of the City, or if such jurisdiction haE been assumed by tearjing the existing
goveming body and officials_or ofiicers in possession but subject to the supervision and orders of a court or governmental authority,
or the entry of an order confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement, or liquidation by a court or govemmental authority havin'g
supervision or jurisdiction over substantially all of the assels or business of the city.

Availability of lnformation

Tt".Ctty hgl agrged t9 ryoyilg tt9-f-op_going information only as described above. lnvestors will be able to access conlinuing
disclosure information filed with the MSRB fiee of charge at www.emma.msrb.org.

Limitations and Amendments

The City.has.agreed to 9Pd+ information and to provide notices of material events only as described above. The City has not agreed
to provide other information that may be relevanl or material lo a complete presentation of ib financial results of operitions, conjition,
or prospecb or agreed to update any information that is provided, except as described above. The City makes no representalion or
lenanty conceming such information or conceming ils usefulness to a decision lo invest in or sell Certificates at any irture date. The
City disalaimsany iontractual or tort liability for dimages resulting in whole or in part fiom any breach of iG coniinuing disclosure
agreernent or from any statement made pursuant to its agreement, although holders or registered owners of Certtficates-may seek a
wril of mandamus to compel the City to comply with its agreement.

The City may amend its continuing disclosure agreement trom lime to time to adapt to changed circumstances that arise fiom a
change in.legal requirements, a change in law or a change in the identig, nature, stiatus, or type of operations of the City, if (i) the
agreement, as amended, would have permitted an underwriter lo purchase or sell Certificates in the offering described heri*n in
compliance with the Rule, taking into account any amendments or interpretations of lhe Rule to the date of suci amendment, as well
as such cianged circumslances,.and.(ii) either (a) the holders of a majority in aggregate principal amount of the outsianding
Certificates consent to the. amendment or (b) qny person unaffliated with thd city (suctr as iationally recognized bond counseil
determines that lhe amendment will not materially impair the interests of the holdeis and Benelicial Ournen oi tne CertiRcates. Ttr6
Ci$ may dT amend or repeal the provisions of this continuing disclosure agreement if the SEC amends or repeals the applicable
provisions of the Rule or a court of linal jurisdiclion enters judgment thal such provisions of the Rule are invalid, Lut only it a'nb to tne
extent that the provisions of this sentence would not prevent an underwriter from laMully purchasing or selling Certihcates in the
primary ofiering of the Certificates. lf the City so amends lhe agreement, it has agreed to include with the next financial information
and operating data provided in accordance with its agreement described above uhder "Annual Reports" an explanation, in narrative
form, of tie reasons for the amendment and of the impact of any change in the type of linancial information ind operating data so
provided. The City may also amend or repeal the provisions of this continuing diScbsure agreement if the SEC amends o-r repeals
ihe applicable Provigion of the rule or a court of final jurisdiction enlers judgment that such provisions of the rule are invalid, bui only
if and to the extenl that the provisions of this sentence would not prevenl apurchaser from iawfully purchasing or selling Certificated,
respectively, in the primary otrering of the Certificates.

Compliance with Prior Undertakings

During the pasl five years, the City has complied in all mateilal respects with all previous agreements in accordance with SEC Rule
15c2-12.
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LEGAL MATTERS

Legal Opinion

The lssuer will furnish the Purchaser with a complete transcript of proceedings incident to the authorization and issuance of the

Certificates, including the unqualified approving legal opinion of the Attomey General of the State of Texas to the efiect that the lnitial

Certilicate is a valid and legally binding obligation of the lssuer, and based upon examination of such lranscript of proceedings, the

approval of certain legal mitteis by Bond Counsel, to the efiect that the Certificates, issued in compliance rytt! the prwisions of the
Oriinance, are valid and legalty binding obligations of the lssuer and, subject to the qualffications set forth herein under "TAX

MATTERS., the interest on the Certificates is exempt from federal income taxation under existing statutes, published rulings,

regulations, and courl decisions. Though it represents the Financial Advisor fiom time to time in matters unrelated to the issuance of
tha Certificates, Bond Counsel was engaged by, and only represents, the City in connection with the issuance of the Certificates. In

its capacity as Bond Counsel, Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP has reviewed (except for numerical, statistical or technical data) the

information under the captions .THE CERTIFICATES" (except undet the subcaptions "Use of Certificate Proceeds', "Sources and

Uses', "Payment Record", and "Defauli and Remedies', as to vvhich no opinion is expressed), "REGISTRATION, TMNSFER AND

EXCHANGE", 'TAX MATTERS", "CONT|NUING DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION" (except under the subheading "compliance with

Prior Undertakings" as to wtrich no opinion is expressed), "LEGAL MATTERS-Legal Investments and Eligibility to Secure Public

Funds in Texas", and "OTHER PERTINENT INFORMATION-Registralion and Qualification of Certiflcates for Sale' in the Ofiicial

Statement and such firm is of the opinion that the information relating to the Certilicates and the Ordinance contained under such

captions is a fair and accurate summary of the information purported to be shown and that the information and descriptions contained

under such captions relating to the provisions of applicable siate and federal laws are conect as to mafters of law. The customary
closing papers, including alertificate to the efec{ that no litigation of any nature has been filed or is then pending.to restrain the

issuance dnd delivery of the Certificales or which would afiect the provision made for their payment or security, or in any manner
questioning the validity of the Certificates will also be fumished. The legal fees to be Paid Bond _Counsel for services rendered in
ionnection with the issuance of Certmcates are contingent on the sale and initial delivery of the Certificates. The legal opinion of Bond

Counsel will accompany the Certificates deposited with DTC or Wll be printed on the definilive Certificates in the event of the
discontinuance of the Book-Entry-Only System.

The various legal opinions to be delivered concurrently with the delivery of the Cefficates express the professional judgment of the
attomeys renOeringi the opinions as to the legal issues explicitly addressed therein. In rendering a legal opinion, the attomey does

not become an insurer or guarantor of the expression of professional judgment, of the lransaction opined upon, or of the future
performance of the parties io the transaction, nor does the rendering of an opinion guarantee the outcome of any legal dispute that
may arise out of the lransac{ion.

Litigation

ln the opinion of City ofiicials, there is no litigation or olher proceeding pending against or, to their knowledge, lhreatened against the

lssuer in any court, agency, or administrative body {either state or federal) wherein an adverse decision would materially adversely
affect lhe financial condition of the lssuer.

At the time of the initial delivery of the Certificates, the City will provide the Purchaser with a certifieate to the efiect that no litigation

of any nature has been filed oi is ihen pending challenging the issuance of the Certificates or afrecting the payment and security of
the Certificates or in any other manner queslioning the issuance, sale, or delivery of the Certificates.

Legal lnvestments and Eligibility to Secure Public Funds in Texas

Section 1201.U1 of the Public Securities Procedures Act (Chapter 1201, Texas Govemment Code) and Sec{ion 271.Q51 , as

amended, Texas Local Govemment Code, each, provide that the Certificates are negotiable instruments govemed by Chapter 8, as

amended, Texas Business and Commerce Code, and are legal and authorized investrents for insurance companies, fiduciaries, and

trustees, and for lhe sinking tunds of municipalities or other political subdivisions or public agencies of the State of Texas. For political

subdivisions in Texas ufrich have adopted investment policies and guidelines in accordance with the Public Funds lnvesbnent Act,

Chapter 2255, as amended, Texas Government Code, the Certilicates must have lo be assigned a rating ol at least ?" or its equivalent
as to investment quality by a national rating agency before such obligations are eligible investments for sinking funds and other public

funds. (See "OTHER PERTINENT INFORI\4ATION - Ratings" herein.) ln addition, various provisions ol the Texas Finance Code

provide that, subject to a prudent investor standard, the Certificates are legal investrnents for state banks, savings banks, trust
companies with at least $1 million of capital, and savings and loan associations'

The City has made no investigation of other laws, rules, regulations or investnent criteria which might apPly to such institutions or
entities or which might limit the suitability of the Certificates for any of the foregoing Purposes or limit the authority of such institutions
or entities to purchase or invest in the Certificates for such puryoses. The City has made no review of laws in other states to determine
whether the Certificates are legal investments for various institutions in those states.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

The statements contained in this Official Statement, and in any other informaiion provided by the City, that are not purely historical,
are forward-looking statements, including statements regarding the Citfs expectations, hopes, intentions, or strategies regarding lhe
future. Readers Jhould not place undue reliance on fonpard-looking statements. All forward-looking slatements included in this
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Ofiicial Statement are based on information available to the Cig on the date hereol and the City assumes no obligation to update
any such fonvard-looking statements. lt is important to nole that the City's actual results could differ materially from those in such
forwardJooking statemenb.

The fonv'ar*looking statements herein are necessarily based on various assumptions and estimates and are inherently subiect to
various risks and uncertainties, including risks and uncertainties relating to the possible invalidity of the underlying assumptions and
estimales and possible changes or developments in social, economic, business, industry, market legal, and regulatory circumstances
and conditions and aclions taken or omitted to be taken by third parties, including cusiomers, suppliers, business partners and
competitors, and legislative, Judicial and other govemmental authorities and offcials. Assumptions related to the foregoing involve
judgments Wth respect to, among other things, tuture economic, competitive, and markel conditions and future business dEcisions,
all of wttich are difiicult or impossibla to predict accurately and many of which are beyond the conlrol of the City. Any of such
assumptions could be inaccurate and, therefure, lhere can be no assurance that the brward-looking statements included in lhis
fficial Statement will prove to be accurale.

OTHER PERTINENT INFORMATION

Registration and Qualification of Gertificates for Sale

The sale of lhe Certificales has not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, in reliance upon exemptions
provided in such Act lhe Certificates have not been qualffied under the Securities Act of Texas in reliance upon exemptions contained
therein; nor have the Certificates been qualified under the securities acts of any other jurisdiction. The lssuer assumes no
responsibility for qualification of the Certificates under the securilies laws of any jurisdiction in wtrich they may be sold, assigned,
pledged, hypothecated or othenvise tansfened. This disclaimer of responsibility for qualilicalion tur sale or other disposition of the
Certificates shall not be construed as an interpretation of any kind with regard to the availabilig of any exemption from securities
registration or qualifi cation provisions.

It is the obligation of lhe Purchaser to register or qualifo the sale of the Certificates under the securities laws of any jurisdiclion which
so requires. The Clty agrees to cooperate, al the Purchaseis written request and sole expense, in registering or qualiiTing the
Certificates or in obtaining an exemption from registration or qualification in any state where such action is ne-essary; piovlOeO,
however, that the City shall nctt be required to qualfi as a foreign corporation or to execute a general consent to service oi process
in any jurisdistion.

Rating

S&P Global Ratings fS&P') has assigned an underlying, unenhanced rating of "AA-" to the Cerlificates. An explanation of the
significance of such rating may be obtained from the rating agency. A rating by a rating agency reflects only the view of such company
at the time the rating is given, and the lssuer makes no representations as to the appropriateness of the rating. There is no assurance
that such 9 rating will continue for any given period of time, or that it will not be revised downward or withdrawn enlirely by the rating
agency if, in the judgment oJ such rating agency, circumstances so wanant. Any such downward revision or withdrawal of the rating
may have an adverse effect on the market price of the Ceriificates.

Authenticity of Financia! Information

The financial data and other information contained herein have been obtained from the lssuels records, audiled financial statements
and olher sources wttich are believed to be reliable. All of the summaries of the statutes, documents and Ordinances contained in
this fficial Statement are made subject lo all of the provisions of such staMes, documenls and Ordinances. These summaries do
not purport to be complete statements of such provisions and eference is made to such documenb for further information. All
information contained in this Ofiicial Statement is subject, in all respects, to the complete body of information contained in the original
sources lhereof and no guaranty, wananty or other representation is made concerning the accuracy or completeness of the
inlormation herein. ln parlicular, no opinion or representation is rendered as to wfrether any projection will approXmdte actual results,
and all opinions, estimates and assumptions. Wrether or not expressly identified as such, should not be considered slatements of
fact.

Financial Advisor

SAMCO Capital Markets, lnc. is employed as a Financial Advisor to the lssuer in connection with the issuance of the Certificates. ln
this capacity, the Financial Advisor has compiled certain data relating to the Certificates and has drafted this Ofiicial Statement. The
Financial Advisor has not independently verified any of the data conlained herein or conducted a detailed investigation of the afrairs
of the lssuer to determine the accuracy or completeness of this Official Stalement. Because of its limited participition, the Financial
Advisor assumes no responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of any of the information contained herein. The fees for the
Financial Advisor are contingent upon the issuance, sale and initial delivery of the Certificates.

The Financial Advisor has provided the folloWng sentence fur inclusion in this ffidal Statement. The Financial Advisor has reviewed
the information in this fficial Statement in accordance with its responsibilities to the City and, as applicable, to investors under the
federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction, but the Financial Advisor does not guarantee the
accuracy or completeness of such information.
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Winning Bidder

After requesting competitive bids for the Certificates, the Ci$ accepted the bid of Robert W. Baird & Co., lnc. (the "Purchasei or the
"lnitial Purchaser') to purchase the Certificates at the interest rates shown on the page ii of this Official Slatement at a price of par,
plus a net reofiering premium of $95,454.25, plus accrued interest on the Certificates from their Dated Date to their date of initial
belivery. The Purchase/s compensation is $29,120.77. the City can give no assurance that any hading martel will be _developed
for ths City afier their sale by the City to the Purchaser. The City has no control over lhe price at wttich the Certificates are

subsequently sold and the initial yield at which the Certificates will be priced and reoffered will be established by and will be the

responsibility of the Purchaser.

Certification of the Oflicial Statement

At the iime of payment for and delivery of the lnitial Certificates, the Purchaser will be tumished a certificate, executed by proper

officials of lhe City, acting in their ofiicial capacities, to the efiect that to lhe besl of their knowledge and belief: (a) lhe descriptions
and statements oi or pertaining to the City contained in its Ofiicial Statement, and any addenda, supplement or amendment thereto,
for the Certificates, on the date of such Official Statemenl, on the date of sale of said Certificates and the acceptance of the best biti

therefor, and on the date of the delivery, were and are true and conecl in all material respects; (b) insofar as the Ci$ and its afiairs,
including its linancial affairs, are concerned, such Official Statement did not and does not contain an unfue stalement of a material
fact or omit to state a material fact required lo be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in lhe light of the
circumstances under wirich they were made, not misleading; (c) insofar as the descriptions and statements including financial data,
of or pertaining to entities, other than the City, and their activities contained in such Ofiicial Statement are concerned, such statements
and data have been obtained fiom sources wtrich the City believes to be reliable and the City has no reason to believe lhat they are
untrue in any material respect and (d) there has been no material adverse change in the financial condition of the City, since

September 30,2017, the date of the last financial slatements of the City appearing in the Ofiicial Statemeni.

lnformation from External Sources

References to web site addresses presented herein are for informational purposes only and may be in the form of a hyperlink solely
for the reader's convenience. Unless specified oiheMse, such web sites and lhe information or links contained therein are nol
incorporated into, and are not part ol this Ofiicial Statemeni for purposes sl and as thal term is defined in, SEC Rule 15c2-12.

Concluding Statement

No person has been authorized to give any information or lo make any representations other than lhose contained in this Ofiicial
Staiement, and il given or made, such other information or representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by the
City. This Ofiicial 

-statement 
does not constitute an offer to sell or solicitation of an ofier to buy in any stale in which such ofier or

solicitation is not authorized or in wlrich the person making such offer or solicitation is not qualified to do so or lo any person to whom
it is unlawful to make such offer of solicitation.

The information set forth herein has been obtained from the City's records, audited financial statements and olher sources which the

City considers to be reliable. There is no guarantee lhat any of the assumptions or estimates contained herein will ever be realized.
Albf 16e summaries of the statules, documents and the Ordinance contained in this Of,icial Statement are made subject to all of the
provisions of such stalutes. documents, and the Ordinance. These summaries do not purpoft to be complete slatements of such

irrovisions and reference is made to such summarized documents for further information. Reference is made to official documents in
all respects.

The Ordinance authorized the issuance of the Certificates and also approved ihe form and content of this Ofiicial Statement and any
addenda, supplement or amendment thereto and authorize its further use in the re-offering of the Certificates by the Purchaser.

This Ofiicial Statement was approved by the Council for distribution in accordance with the provisions of the SEC's rule codified at '17

C.F. R. Sec{ion 24O.1 5c2-12, as amended.

CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS

lsl William Ridinos
Mayor

City of Bellmead, Texas
ATTEST:

Paticia Ervin
lnterim City Secretary

City of Bellmead, Texas

lsl
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APPENDIXA

FINANCIAL INFORMATION RELATING TO THE CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS

{This appandix contains quantlbtive financial inbrmation and operating data witt respect to Irc lssuer. The lnformation is only a
partial representation and does not puport to be complete. For further and more cornplete inlonrdion, reference should be made

lo the orl$nal documenb, wtrlch can be obhined ltom various sources, s noted.)
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FINANCIAL N OF THE ISSUER

ASSESSED VALUATTON TABLE I

2018 Actual Market Value of Taxable Property (100% of Actual) $ 553,633,547

Less Exemptions:
Local, Optional Over-65 and/or Disabled Homestead Exemptions

Disabled and Deceased Veterans' Exemptions

Productivity Value Loss

10% Cap Loss

Pollulion Control

Charitable / Other
Partiolly Exempt Property

Totally Exempt Property

$ 4,5S6,997
7,456,278
2.271,120

11,546,553

55,512
45,630

22,341
71,090,280 97.0U.711

2018 Net Taxable Assessed Valuation ('l $

ee "nO VaLOREM TAX PROCEDURES" and "ClW APPLTCATTON OF THE PROPERTY TAX CODE " in the Offrcial Statement

lor a description of lfe /ssuer's laxation procedures.

Source. McLettnan County Appraisal Distiel

GENERALOBLIGATION BONDEO DEBT TABLE2

General Obligation Oebt Principal Outstanding: {As of June 1, 201 8}

Combinalion Tax and Limited Pledge Revenue Certificates ot Obligation, Series 2014

Combination Tax and Limited Pledge Revenue Certificates o{ Obligation, Series 2016

Current lssues General Obligation Debt Principal
Combination Tax and limited Pledge Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Sedes 2018 (the'Certificates")

Total Gross General Obligation Debt Principal Outstanding (Following the lssuance of the Certificates)

9,800,000

Less: Self-supporting General Obligation Debt Principal:

Combination Tax and Limited Pledge Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2014 (approx. 55"73% UF)

Combination Tax and Limited Pledge Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series 2016 (approx. 100% UF)

Total Self-Supporting General Obligation Debt Principal Outstanding:

$ 4,230,000

2.210,000

6,440,000

Total Net General Obligation Debt Principal Oulstanding (Following he lssuance of the Ce.tmcates)

ceneral Obligation lnterest and Sinking Fund Balance as ol May 31, 2018 (Unaudited)

Ratio of Gross General Obligation Debt Principal to 2018 Net Taxable Assessed Valuation
Ratio of Net General Obligation Debt Principal to 2018 Net Taxable Assessed Valuation
2018 Net Taxable Assessed Valuation

Population: '1990 - 8,336; 2A00 -9,214;2010 - 9,901; Cunent (Estimate) -
Per Capita 2018 Net Taxable Assessed Valuation -
Per Capita Gross General Obligation Debt Principal -
Per Capita Net General Obligation Debt Principal -

$ 000

$ 315,3S8

OTHER TABLE 3

$7

1.9S5,000

$ 11 795.000

2.5BoA
117%

$ 456,548,836

10,503
43,468

1,123
510

$
$
$

The City has no other debt obligations outstanding

A,1



GFNtrRAI rlFII Ii:ATI.|N NFNT RFGIIIRFIIFNTS TANI F I
Currently

Outstanding
Conbinrd

Total
Drbt Service

792,893.75

Less
Self-Supporting

Debt Srrvice
s 336,237.5t)

336,987.50
337,637.5t)
337,906.25
337,787.ffi
342,350.00
341,437.50
335,0ffi.25
338,1 31 .25
335,725.00
337,775.00
339,350,00
u0,262.ffi
335,387.50
339,800.00
338,375.00
336,187.50

Net
Total

@!e
$ 456,656.25

565,769.79
575,443.75
590,493.75
599,412.50
558.534.38
562,937.50
561,006,25

Fiscal Year
SeDt 30

2018
2019
2024
2021
2022
2023
2024
2.J2b
2026
2027
2028
2029
2030
2031
2032
2033
20u
2035
2036
2037

203€

The Certiflcates
Dcbt Scrvice

$ 79,893.75
762,993,75
763,193.75
767,637.50
766,312.50
764,496.88
766,862.50
757,625.00
766,875.00
764,975.00
766,975.00
763,13/.50
768,050.00
761,350.00
768,237.50
/63,543.75
762,331.25
156,750.00
152,250.00

55,000.00
75,000.00
s0,000.00

105,000.00
75,000.00
80,000.00
85,000.00
85,000.00
90,000 00
95,000.00

100,000.00
105,000.00
105,000.00
110,000,00
115,000.00
115,000.00
120,000.00
125,000.00
1 30,000,00

84,763.54
74,887.50
70,762,50
65,887.50
6 t .387.5t)
57,512.50
53,387.50
49,137.50
44,162.ffi
40,137,50
36,262.50
33,187.50
30,037.50
26,743.75
23,156.25
1S.418.75
15,600.00
1',1,4Ezfi
7,000.00
2,362.50

139,763.54
't49,887.50

160,762,50
1 70,887.50
136,387.50
137,512.50
138,387.50
1U,137.fi
1v,762.fi
135,137.50
136,262.50
138,187.50
135,03/.50
't36,743.75
138,156.25
134,418.75
135,600.00
'136,462.5t)

137,m0.00
137.362.50

902,757.25
913,08't.25
s28,400.00
937,200,00
900,884 38
9M,375.00
896,012.50
901,012.50
899,737.50
s42,112.50
899,400.00
906,237.50
8C6,387.50
904,981.25
901,700.00
896,750.00
292,350.00
288,712.50
137,000.00
137.362.50

562,881.25
564,012,50

Princioal lnterest Iets!
$ $ $ $

.00

564,337.50
560,050.00
565,S75.00
561,000.00
565,18t "25
563,325.00
560.562,50
292,350.00
288,712.50
r37,000.00
137,362.50

$ 13.336.490.63 $ 1.995.000 00 $ 807,857.29 $ 2.802.857.29 S 16.139.347.92 $ 5,746,343.75 $ 10255,641.67

TAX ADEOUACY Selt-SuDbortlno Debtl TABLE 5A

2018 Net Tanble Assessed Valuation
Maximum Annual Debt Service Requirernents (Fiscal Year Erdirc 93G22)
lndicated Maximum lnterest and Sinkirp Fund Tax Rate at g8% Colletions

tlote- eUve weutAion is exdusive of irnrcsfrr;ltt eamirrys, detinquent tax aller:tions and penatties and
interest on dehrquent fax cdlediotts.

TAXADEOUACY lExcludes

$ 456,548,e$
$ 937.2m
$ 0.20946S

Debtl TABLE 58
2018 Net Taxable Assessed Valuation
Maximum Annual Debt Service Reguirements {Fiscal Year Endinq g-30-22)
lndicated lviaximum lnterest and Sinking Fund Tax Rate at 98% Collections

Note:

$ 456,548,836
$ 59S,413
$ 0.1ixr972

AiJ|clrc cvrputation is exdusive of investncnt eamings, delirquent tax rcttetions and penatlies atf,
interest w delirquent tax alledions.

TAXABLE ASSESSED VALUATION FOR TAX YEARS 2OO9-2O18 TABLE 6

Chanqe from Previous Year
Arnount lS) Perc.nl

12.63%

0.13%
0.81%

1.96%
5.53%

2.ffi%
4A5%
6.82!Y!

3.6S96

8m%

wofe.-AssessedVd{l'lti(rrlsnl€lydwrgedwirgtlrcrearduetovarioussuflencnlsandprofests. Vatnbonsinothertablesofthisfficiatstatenrcnt
nlay rct rnafuJltlwe slnwn inthistaile.

Sources. Texas C.onptnller of Public Amunts aN McLmnan Counly Apraisat District and the lssuer.

Year
zx)910
z)1G11
zJ11-12
2012-13
2'J13-14

zJ14-15
201S16
201&17
2017-18
201&19

Net Taxable
Assessad Valuation
3 327,880,106

328,311,013

:ti10,975,338

337,473,605
356,138,881

365,397,502

381,645,967
407,683,fi)2
42.,737,820
4s6,548,836

s %,776,7m
430,907

2,W,325
6,4W,m7

18,665,276

9,258,021
16,248,465

26,m7,m5
15,0tr,818
33,811,016

A-2



INTEREST AND SINKING MANAGEMENI INDEX TABLE 7

lnterest and Sinking Fund Balance, Fiscal Year Ended September 30,2017 (Unaudited)

2017-lS lnteresl and Sinking (l&S) Fund Tax Levy of $0.072349 al 98o/o Collections Produces{")

Total Available for Debt Service

Less: Net General Obligation Debt Service Requirements, Fiscal Year Ending $30-18

Estimated Surplus at Fiscal Year Ending 9-30-18

(a) Does not include detinquent tax collections, penalties and interest an delinquent tax collectians or
lnvestment earnings.

$ 265,929
323,702

$ 589,631

300,656

E-39re (')

OBLIGATION SCHEDULE

Principal Repayment Schedule

I

Fiscal Year
Endino 9/30

2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2A26
2027
2028
2A29
2030
2031
2032
2033
203r'
2035
2036
2037
2038

Outstanding
oblioations {a}

$ 485,000
495,000
510,000
520,000
530,000
545,000
550,000
575,000
590,000
510,000
625.000
650,000
665,000
695,000
715,000
740,000
150,000
150,000

The

@!!is!es
55,000
75,000
90,000

105,000
75,000
80,000
85,000
85,000
90,000
95,000

100,000
105,000
105,000
110,000
115,000
115,000
'120,000

125,000
130,000
135,000

E!c!
90,000
570,000
600,000
625,000
605,000
625,000
535,000
660,000
680,000
705,000
725,040
755,000
T70,OOA
80s,000
830,000
855,000
270,OO0
275,O00
130,000
135,000

Bonds
Unpaid at

End of Year
11,255,000
10,685,000
10,085,000
9.460,000
8,855,000
8,230,000
7,595,000
6,935,000
6,255,000
5,550,000
4,825,000
4,070,000
3,300,000
2,495,000
1,665,000

810,000
540,000
255,000
135,000

Percent of
Principal

Retired {%l
4.58o/a
9.41o/o

14.5Oo/a

19.80%
24.93o/o
30.22o/o
35.610/0
41.24o/o
46.97Vo
52.950h
59.09o/o
65.49o/o
72.02o/o
78.854/0
85.88%
93.13o/o
95.42o/o
97.75o/o
98.860/o

'100.000/o

$ $$

$ 9,800,000 s 1.995,000 $ 11,795.000

(a) 
As of June go, 2018.
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CLASSIFICATION OF ASSESSED VALUATDN

Gelslgry

Real. Rqilential, SingbFamily
Real, ReeiJsntial, Multi-Famity
Real, Vacant LotdTracts
Real, Acrcage (Land Only)
Farm & Ranch lmprovementB
Real, Commercial
Roal, lndustrial
Real& TarBible, Psrconal Utli[es
Targibla Persond, Businss / Comrnercial
TargiHe Psronal, lnducfial
Tarpible Pasonal, ltlot*l Hom6
Real Prop€rty, lrwenlory (ReoilertiaUSpechl)
Totalty E.x6rpt Proporty

3l1g

s u3.664.364
1E676,804
7,,ltl6.gZ0
4450,159
6247.155

154,810,e4
u1,m

16,807,290
49.93s.5/0

635,60
3.938,690

671,480
71.158.61

3 5tr].tr8.547

$ 191,315,786
14,6'9,129
7.260,'t61
1,974,830
5,318,883

149.012.337
139,810

13,1149,410

50,380,s10
652,560

4,083,910
968,800

69.656,119

$ 1fi.946.408
13,217,608
7,930,7€5
1,917,520
5,633,563

145.r19.Or3
139,120

13,2@.Cn
49,666,360

7n,m
3,&4,860
1,566,5-t0

6i:1.281-55

$ 107,606,409
11,289,350
7,609,020
2,2*,270
5,237,370

192.9Cr.249
138,460

12.259.470
51,449,840

773,630
4,085,990
1,3,$,510

61 016.923

$ 166,i148,914
10,081,507

6,180,511
z,fi0,40
5,p5,369

123,?3.2,591
137,780

11,755,010
48,m9,580

789,990
if,040,060
1,514,840

58.664.918

uz
oh ot
Ishl zq1g

oh cl
Ichl 20,18

%ol
Iebl 3914

TABLE 9

nh ol
Total

olo ol
Total

40.ito%
2.88t%
1.35%
o_4%
1.13%

27.Xt%
0.0:t96
3.(X%
9.q2%
0.11%
0.71%
0.12%

12.85%

37.60%
2.Ct'%
1"4:'%
0.3F6
1.05%

n.8%
0.fft%
2.il%
9.9096
0.J3e6
0.tr6
0.1996

lg

37.2604
2.71%
1.6*
0.39%
1.15%

8.7*
0.03%
2.7zfs

10.i7%
0..5%
0.7896
0.38

12.96%

36.59%
2.46%
1.e6%
0.4996
1.14%

29.0396
0.03%
2.68%

11.23%
0.17%
0.89%
0.29%

13.34%

37.8096
2.M
1.8696
0.4996
1.2't%

27.98%
0.fr'%
2.67%

10.91%
0.1s,6
0.9296
0.34%

13.fr*

Total Market Value

Lecs Exemptlons and Lossog:

* Local, OptbnalOver€s andor DbaHod
( OisalfO and Dec€ased V€teraffi'

ProdrctivigValw Lcs
'1096 Cap Loss
Polhtion Control
Chariht e / Olher
Partialty Ererpt Proporty
Totally Erempt Property

$ 4.596,S7
7,4fi,278
2,271j?0

11 546,553
55,512
45,630
2.,U1

71 m0.280

l-m.00,% $ 506,842,245 lry $ 4882@.9@ l-00.0096 $ 458.055.491 100.00% $ 440.371,3s0 1m.00%

$ 4,740,280
6.564.867
1,898,750
3.188.537

48,U2
393,5{0
91,499

69.178.610

$ 4,913,712
5,737,U1
1,849,350
4,7(X,3rn

4,?42
383,G20
4,&5

82.844.680

$ 4,832,529
5,740,633
2,1fr.'t&
2,038,397

4,342
223.180

66.803
60.731 500

$ 4,901,525
5,130,128
2,019,940
4,2s2,475

48,U2
3'11,910
30,rlil8

58 2E9 130

$ 86,104,425

W
$ 80,525,9m $ 76.409.524 3 74.973.888

$ 365,387,502

Totsl E)(6mp,tiors S 97 084.711

Net Taxable Assassod Valuation $ ,156 318,836 $ 407.683,@ $ 381,645.967

Souce: Md-eman Coun| Apraie,, Dr$rit

dthis Of,bh, Statement nlsly mt mafuh fiose sfiom on t/rs fahb.



PRINCIPAL TAXPAYERS 2017 -2018 TABLE lo

S!trg
Butt H. E. Grocery Co.
Wal-Mart Real Estate Business Trust
Prem Sai lnc,
Wal-Mart Stores East LP
Sams Club Easl lnc.
Bellmead Mclennan NH Ltd.
Home Depot USA lnc.
Realty lncome Properties 25 LLC
DC Guest Waco LLC

TBA Associates LP

Total
Based on a2017 f axable Assessed Valuation ot tr 422,737,B2O

("/ As snown in the table abave, he top ten taxpayerc in the City accaunt for approximately 20i6 of the Ci{s tax base. Adverse

developments in economic mnditbns, especially in a pailicular industry in which any one of these large taxpayers pailicipates, could

adversely impact lhese lusrnesses and, consequently, the tax values in the Cily, rcsulttng in less local tax revenue. lf any maiot

laxpayer, or a combination af top taxpayers, were to default in the payment of taxes, the ability of the Ctty to make timely payment ol
debt sewice on the Ceftifreates may be dependent on its ability to enforce and liquidate its tax lien, whtch is a time consumirry process

that may only occur annuatly. See "THE CERTIFICATES - Default and Remedies" and 'AD VALOREM TAX PROCEDURES -
/ssuerb Righls rn the Event of Tax Delinquencies" in this Official Statement.

Source: Texas Comptroller of Public Actounts

PROPERTY TAX RATES AND COLLECTIONS {AI TABLE 
'1

Tax NetTaxable Tax Adjusted $.1QgI@g Year

Year Assessed Valuation Rate Tax Lew Cunent Total Ended

2007-08 S 275,A77,485 $ 0.267500 $ 778,490 96.54% 100.1006 9/30/2008

2008-09 291,103,3B0 0.253300 809,763 S3.69% 96.66% 9130/200s

2009-10 327,8S0,106 a.24700a 806,616 96.02% 98.10% W30r2A10

2010-11 328,311,013 0.265600 867,934 S5.86% 97.69% 9B1aA11

21fi12 330,S75,338 a.274580 903,305 S6.65% 99.620/a 9i30n012

2012-13 337,473,605 0-298600 1,006,M3 97.290l0 5932% 91301243

2013*14 356,138,881 0.2s8608 1,060,718 94.66% 96.05% 9B0t20't4

2AM-'t5 365,397,502 0.2s8608 1,080,718 96.S0% 99.140/" 913012015

2015-16 381,645,967 0.318608' ',1,159,210 96.57010 S8.95% 9B0nO16

2016-17 407,683,092 0.303761 1,230,486 S6.94% S8.92% 9R012017

2017-18 422,737,820 0.29S990 1,262,291 tbt 96.17"h 99.',10% 9l39l201B

@vaLoREMTN(PRaCEDuREs_LevyandCo!tectionofTaxes"inthebodyoftheofficiaIStalementforacompletedlscUssion
of the City's provisions.

(b) 
lnformation is as of June 2A, 20ls

Nofe. Assessed Valuations may change duirg the year due to vaious supplements aN profesls. Valuations in other tahles of this Otricial

Statement may mt match those shown in this table.

Source, Iexas Comptroller of Public Accounts, McLennan County Appraisal Distict, Texas Municipal Report published by the Municipal
Advisory Council of Texas and the lssuels Audrfed Financial Statemenls and Supplemental lnformation.

' Rolled back to W 3A3761.

TAX RATE DISTRIBUTION TABLE 12

Tvoe ol Business
Retail Grocery Sales
Real Estate
Hotel/Motel
Retail Sales
Retail Sales
Nursing Home
Retail Home lmprovement Sales
Real Estate Development
HoteUMotel

Real Estale - Apartment

2017 Net
Taxable

Assessed

Yelccgs
$ 15,566,353

10,s55,420
10,046,123
8,363,160
8,245,58O
7,679,060
6,342,793
5,807,970
5,323,700
5,0r2,669

$-0.?.34292e

% ol Tohl 2015
Net Taxable
Assessed
Valuation

3.68%
2.59%
2.38%
1.98%
1.95%
1.8204
1.50%
1.37%
1.26%
1.19%

JSJ2ZI. (8)

?41J-Jf'
80.227M1
0.072vs

$0.2s9990

2016-2017
$0.227990

o.a75771
$0.303761

0.079611
$0.303761

0_084200

$0.298608
4.0u422

$0.298608

w!,
$0.211100
0.087508

$0.298608

n15-2 6". m+Zo/-e, Zo13-ry[,
$0.224150 $0.214408 $0.214'186General Fund

l&5Fund
TOTAL

Source: The Issuer
' Rolled back to $0.303761
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FUND BALANCES TABLE 13

Genoml Operafing Fund
C;eneral Obligotion Debl Service Fund
Water & Sarer Operating Fund
Special Revenue Funds (Flotel Occupanry & Court)
Stroot lmprovcmcnts Fund (Solcs Tox)
Capital lmgovernents Fund

MUNICIPAL SALES TAX

Total

As of
September 30, 2017

$ 1,746,3tt9

265,929
4,556,935
1,5S8,380

2,4U,179
2.238.198

$ 12.859,9s0

Unaudited as of
iilay 31, 2018

$ 1,9m,1't5
315,398

5,983,822
1,64S,364

2,470,702
1,824,631

s M.2A4.A32

TABLE 14

At an election held on March 26, 19m, the registered voters of tiE City approved an additimal one*ralf percent (%%) sdes tax to be
cdkted for ecmomic de\reloprnent pu.poses in accnrdance with Chapters 501, 502 and 5(X, Texas Local Govemment Code, as
amended (formerly Sectbn 44 of Article 5190.6, Texas Redsed Civil Statutes)- Leqy of this sahs tax b€gan on October 1, 1W2. 

'

At an election held on November 6,20fJ7, register€d voters of ttre City ,roted to reduce the oneJralf percenrt (%%) additbnal sales tax
for ecornmic developrn€nt to one-quarter percent (7r%) and approved an additinal me-quarter peient (7r%) additiornl sales tax for
sfeetmaintenanceandimprcvements. Leqyof ttreseadditional salestaxesdirlnotbeginrntil July 1,2O1O.

At an ehction held on May 8, 2010, tlrc rrgistered voters of the City voted to dissohre the 44 Economic Derrelopment Gorporatim
and approrcd an additional one-quater percenl (%%) sales tax to be mllected fol comntunity development prrposes in accbrdance
with Chapters 501, 502 and 505, Texas Local Go\iemment Code, as amended (formerly Section 48 of Artide 5190,6, Texas Revised
Clvll Statutes). Levy of this community dcvelopment sales tax began on Ocbber 'l , 2()10.

The City ha not heH an eleclion regading an addibonal sales tax for redrrtion of property tax reductiori-

The C;ornrnissimers Coun of fulclenflan County hvies and ass€sses the rernaining ,AVo addrlional sdes and use tax fq ad vabrem
property tax redudion.

The Clty anticipates being a participant in the financing of the "Bellmead Mufti-Purpose Venue' (the 'Project') as authorized and
applrlved by thevoies of the City at a venue project election heH in the City on May 5, 2018 (the "Election'). The participants in
the Proiect are in the proceas of negotiating the terms and timing of the Prqec! including negotiationi with i profissional
bas€ball team- As of the date of this Official Statement, it is anticipated that a one-quarter percent (1/4%) sales tax (the '48
Tat') lwied in the City and colbcted by the Bellmead Economic Development Corporation (ihe "EDC') will be the security
pledged for the issuance of obligations in part to support of the Project in calendar year 20'lg (the 2019 Sales Tax Revenui
Bonds'). (SeeAPPENDIXA-Table 14tora descriptionof theEDCandthemllectionof the48Tax-) Asauthorizedatthe
Flection, the City is additionally authorized to leqy and collect a hotel occupancy tax fHOT') in the City ard pledge such HOT to
lhe repayment of obld;ations issued in part to finance tlrc Project. As of the date of this Ofiicial Statehent, it is-anticipated that
the HOT will be the securi$ pledged for the issuance of obligations in support of the Prciect in calendar year 2O19 (the '2019
HOT Bonds'). The mmbined amount of the 2019 Sales Tax Revenue Bonds and the 2019 HOT 8onds, together with certain
city lawfully available funds, is anticipated to be approimately $4,000,000. The City does not anticipate issuing additional
ob,ligations secured by ad vabrem taxes or net revenues of the Ci!y's combined utility system in the next twelve months, except
potentially refunding bonds for debt service saMngs.

&sr
2008
zflW
?010
2011
2412
z)13
zJ14
zJl5
24fi
2317
2018

trr.Eats
0.69
0"63
0.63

0.9
064
0.65

0.62
0.63

0.65
0.59
0.34

Collections
$ 2,991,705

3,034,576
3,074,535

3,'t32,993
3,'t61,02t)
3,278,U8
3,282,297
3,433,253

3,529,550
3,590,319

2,159,3il

Collec'tions
$ 1,Ss4370

2.023,051
2,(Xg,690
2,088,662
2,107,U7
2,185,565
2,188,198
2,288,836
2,353,033
2,393,546(c) 1,439,56S

Tax Lew
256.24!"
249.83Vo

254-.11o/o

240.65Vo

233.29Yo

217.1141o

206.N/o
214.62!o
202.997o
l{N.52o/o
114,M/"

Collections
$ 997,235 ("1

1,011,525 c)

1,024,U5 t l

522,166 (b)

526,837 pt

546,391 (b)

547,050 F)

572,2og F

5BB,25B (b)

598,386 &)

359,892 (b)

Gollections

$ 52,166
526,837
546,3S't

547,050
572,209
588,258
598,386
359,892

t', Repre*nts 0.5P/o cottections.@ Represents 0.25%, allections.(") 
Coilections as of June, 2AIB.

Sources. Texas Comptroller of Public Acr'rc.unts Website.

IVofe.' Ihe Comptroller's website frgures list sales 6x revenues in the month they are delivered to the City, which 'ts

two months after they are generatedlcollected.

A-6



DATAAND

I@.&!e
C.onnally lndependent School District
La Vega lndependent School Disbict
Mclennan County
Mclennan County Junior College District

Total Gross Overlapping Debt

5

CrtyofBellmead 11,795,000 F)

Total Gross Direct and Overlapping Debt Principal

Ratio of Direct and Overlapping Debt to 2018 Net Taxable Assessed Valuation

Ralio of Direct and Overlapping Debt to 2018 Actual Market Value

Per Capita Direct and Overlapping Debt

$!g: Figures above show Gross General Obligation Debt Principal for the Ci$ of Bellmead, Texas

The lssuer's Net General Obligation Debt Principal

Calculations on Net General Obligation Debt Principal would change the above figures as follows:

Total Net Direcl and Overlapping Debt Principal

Ratio of Net Direct and Overlappring Debt Principal to 2018 Net Taxable Assessed Valualion

Ratio of Net Direcl and Overlapping Debt Principal to 2018 Actual Market Value

Per Capita Net Direct and Ovedapping Debt Principal

2018 Net Taxable Assessed Valuation

ffitne certificates.
Source. The most recenl Iexas Municipal Reparts published by the Municipal Advisory Council of Texas

Gross Debt
Princioal

$ 14,530,000
38,S80,668
23,2fi,000
61,4S5,000

o/o

Overlaooino
0.84%

48.43To

2.36To
2.360/0

100.00%

Amount
Overlaooino
$ 122,052

't8,878,338

548,700
1,451,282

s 21,000,372

__lllsgq. (")

$ 32,795.372 Gt

7.1BYo @l

5.92Y"e|
$3,122 G)

$ 5,355,000 (")

$ 26,355,372 (")

5.77olo Ft

4.761o @'

$2,509 ("1

$456,548,836

AASFSSFD VALUATION AND TAX trATtr .tF rIVFEII APFING EN?ITIES TAELE t6

Governmental Entitv
Connally lndependent School District

La Vega lndependent School District

Mclennan County
Mclennan Community College

2017 Net Taxable
Assessed Valuation
$ 61'1,119,99S

786,514,823
15,476,710,204
16,550,939,331

% ofActual
1OO"/"

1007"
100%
100%

20'l'7
Tax Rate

$1.37400
1.41400

0 50500
015m0

TABLE 17

Source: Texas Municipal Reports publishetl by the Municipal Advisory Council of Texas

AUTHORIZED BUT UNISSUED GENERAL OBLIGATION BONDS OF
DTRECT AND OVERLAPPING GOVERNMENTAL ENTITIES

Date of
Taxinq Body
La Vega lndependent School Distrtct
Mclennan County
Mclennan County Community College Dist.
City of Bellmead

Purpose

Source.' Iexas Municipat Reryrts pubtished by the Munieipal Advisory Council of lexas

Amount
Authorized

lssued
To-Date UnissuedAuthorization

None
None
None
None
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GENERAL FUND COMBINED STATEMENT OF REVENUES AND EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES lN FUND BAI-AI,ICES TABLE 18

Fiscal Year Ended Septembcr 30

REVENUES

Property Taxes

Sales Taxes
Franchise Taxes

Hotel Occupancy Taxes

Olher Taxes
Licenses and Permils

lntergovemmental

Rent
Pa*s and Recreation Fees

Fines and Fees
lnvestment Eamings
Miscellaneous

Total Revenues

EXPENDITURES:

General Govemment
Public Safety

Highways and Streets

Economic and Phpical Developmenl
Culfure and Recreation
Debt Service

Total Expendilures

Excess (Delicit) of Revenues

Over Expendilures

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES}:

Transfers ln

Transfes Out

Proceeds from Debt lssuance
Sale of Property

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Net Change in Fund Balance

Fund Balance - October 1 (Beginning)
Prior Year Adjustment

Fund Balance - September 30 (Ending)

$

201.J

I s27,814
2,993,211

503,812

54,713
35,182

61,630

234,317
22,500
76.307

$ 4,S09,886

201 6

$ 856,729

2,541,292
518,565

57,722

33,761

76,929

320,431
18,778

757,909

$ 5,582,'t16

s 1,121,916
3,325,224

605,892

2015.

$ 787,777

2,861,045

531,867

57,S93
42,170
79,912

332,056
20,158

663,156

$ 5,376,134

$ 1,013,370
3,189,027

817,744

268,026

3,817,749

4!4,
3 768,018

2,735,250
523,085

59,713
46,792

92,925
40

357,416
17,292

624.226

$ 5.223.861

$ 982,935
3,044,225

584,008

s

$ 533,810

3,283,920
10

l-?.&lZ240

39r.9

$ 721,099

2,731,957

492JU

52,305
55,093

B9,7't3

371,4't4
15,658

479.102

$ 5,008,4S5

3 s09,033
2,818,756

616,325
1,000

69,733

s 4,414,847

$

s 593,648

2.650,282

1.111.229

3,454,302
't,335,898

63,809 82,830 87,967 B2,BB3

$ 5,965,238 $ 5,139,862 $ 5,108,.t08 $ 4,690,051

$ (1,0s5,352) $ 442,2s $ 268,026 $ 533,810 3 593,648

$ 728.10f $ $
(221l-

$ 3

$ 728,107 $

$ (327,245| S

4,527,793

(227t $

442,027 $

4,085,766

l-4.200.?t&'' t-a52]lg3 $-4.095J00 $-1283.930

Source: The lssuer's Audited Annual Financial Reports

(t) City administration anticipates frat the unaudited General Fund balance for the period ending September 30, 2018 will be approximalely $3,983,734
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CONDENSED WATERWORKS SEWER SYSTEM OPERATING STATEMENT TABLE 19

20't7

$ 2,794,323
1,850,684

Fiscal Year Ended September 30

2016. 415 2014

$ 2,758,010 $ 2,653,876 $ 2,760,460

2,079,183 1,667,878 tt JW.

Mg,
$ 2,681,105

1.528.U1

3,389

3,2t6

Revenues(")

Expensesp)

Net Revenue Available for Debt Service

Annual Debt Service Requirements

for Revenue Bonds

Coverage of Revenue Debl SeMce

Annual Debt Service Requirements

for General Obligatircn Debt Service

Paid from Sysiem Revenues

Coverage of A[&!! Paid From Sptem
Revenues

Customer Count:

Water
Sewer

$

$ e43,63s g_9I99. $ e85.es8 $4z!4lf4. qJJ.

$ $ $ $

il/A N/A NIA

$ 493,425 $ 333,967 $ 313,147 $ 1S0,740 $ 193,362

1.91 x 2"03 x 3-15 x 6.49 x 5.94 x

N/A1'l/A

3,517

3,419

3,506

3,408

3,455

3,357

3,454
3,356

(a) 
Revenues inckrde operating revenues, interest income and other revenues of the Waterworks and Sewer System.

{b) Eqpenses include total expenses /ess depreciation and annrtization of the Wate*wrks and Sewer System.
@ During Fisca! Year 2015, two of the City's water wetls failed anc! were replaced at a one-tine cost of $350,000.

Soarces: lnformation from the lssuer and the Issuer's Annual Audited Financial Reports
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WATER RATES TABLE 20
(Based on Monthly Billing)

Effective 25.2016

Minimum Monthly Charge - First 2,fi)0 Gallons
Pcr cach addilional 1,Ofi) Gallons of Consurnlrliun (Withirr City Lirnils)
Per each additional 1,0fi) Gallons of Consumption (OubiJe City Limits)

$
$
$

17.OO
3.50
5.20

PRINCIPAL WATER CUSTOMERS TABLE 21
(As of September 30, 2017)

Name of Customer
Alrium of Bellmead

Bordeaux Apartments
Eaglecrest Apartments
Bellmead Canvash
Delta lnn
Home Depot
Cloverleaf Mobile Pa*
Bellmead Kidney Center
HEB Grocery
Holi<Jay lnn

Average Monthly
Consumption {Gals.l

2,U8,100
853,100
665,500
452,100
399,000
2U,100
906,000
384,100
652,000
307.500

Avcrage
MonthlY Bill

s 8,467.44

2J24.27
4,089.51
1,673.61

1,396-26
776-42
728.4',!

1,421.84
1,243.14
1,629.27

Total 6,971,500

Total Water Sales as of Septembet 3O,?O'17 . $ 1,785,320

@ wuter customers represenl approximatety 14 as% of total annual water sales

WASTEWATER RATES

$ 23,96.17 F)

f ASLE22
(Based on Monthly Billing)

Eftuctive 25.2A16

Resklential Customers Minimum (First 1,0fi) Gallons)
Per each additional 1,000 Gallons of Consumption
Maximum Charge

Commercial Customers
Per each additional 1,000 Gallons of Consumption

PRINCIPAL SEWER CUSTOMERS

9.50
2.50

21.OO

9,50
2-50

TABLE 23
(As of September 30, 2017)

Name of Custom€r
Atrium of Bellmead
Bordeaux Apartments
Eaglecrest Apartments
Bellmead Ganrrrash
Delta lnn
Home Depot
Clovedeaf Mobile Park
Bellmead Kidney Center
HEB Grocery
Holilay lnn

Tota!

Total Sewer Charges as of S€eptember 30, 2017

Average Monthly
Consumotion {Gals.}

2,3/,8JOA
653,100
665,500
452,104
3Ss,000
2M,100
906,000
384,100
652,000
307.500

Average
Monthlv Bill

$ 4,477.20
1,242.27
1,988_03

424.33
578.26
273.68
342-OO

412.39
269.57
603.33

6.S71.500

$ 904,836

(" Pincipal Sewer Customers represent appmximatety 15.1896 of tota! annual sewer charges.

$ 10,610.97 (.1
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The Ci$
was 9,90

GENERAL INFORMATION REGARDING THE CITYOF BELLMEAD
AND MCLENNAN COUNTY, TEXAS

General

of Bellmead is a residential area located three miles lo the northeast of Waco on U.S. Highway 84. The 2010 census
1, increasing 7.460/o since 2000. The cunent population estimate is '10,503. Many residents of lhe City work in Waco.

McLennan Coung is located in central Texas and comprises the Waco Metropolitan Statistical Area (MSA). The Coun$'s
economy is based primarily on manufacturing and agricullure, with higher education also maklng a signilicant impaci on the
economy. The Cornty is traversed by interstale Highway 35, United States Highways 77, 81 and 84, State Highways 6, 31 and
317, and 29 farm-to-market and park roads. The County economy has experienced a growth trend from new induslry, expansions
of existing industry and new commercial investment that is generating seMce sector and manufacfuring iobs. The City of Waco
is the county seat and a center for manufacturing, lourism, conventions and agribusiness for central Texas.

The Coung is a major center for higher education. Baylor University, the world's largest Southem Baptist Universi$, with an
approximate enrollment of 17,000 is located in the City of Waco. Also located in the County are McLennan Community College

and the Texas Slate Technical College - James Connally Campus.

Recreational and camping facilities are provided at Fort Fisher Park and Lake Waco. Other points of interest include the Homer
Ganison, Jr. Texas Ranger Museum, Texas Ranger Hall of Fame, Cameron Park and the Cen-Tex Zoo. Activities of interest
include the Brazos River Festival, symphony orchestra, civic lhealer, college and university events, Heart O' Texas Fair Rodeo
and the Central Texas Fair.

Source: Lalesl lexas Municipal Report published by the Municipal Advisory Councit of Texas

Population:

Yser
2018 Estimate
2010 Census
2000 Census
1990 Census

Gity of
Eelmeat!

10,503
9,901

9,214
8,336

McLennan
Countv

251,259
234,906
213.517
189,123

Sources: lJnited States Bureau of the Census and the City of Bellmead

CITY OF AELLMEAO
IPs ao

Am8rllo

t
Aurth I

Fof l Worih. torlla!

a
6an Anlonio
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Leading Employers Bellmead and the Surrounding Area:

Emolover
Baylor University

HEB Grocery
L-3 lnEgrated Systems

Sanderson Fanns
Wal-Marl
Te:as State Technical College
La Vega lndependent School Districl
Sherwin Williams
Sam's Club

Source: lnformation from the lssuer

Laborturce Slalfstfes

Mclennan County

Tvne of Business
Higher Education

Grocery
Aircrafl maintenance / Modification

Poultry Fac{ory

RetailSale
Technical Higher Education
Public School Education

Paint Manufacturer

Retail Sales

Waco MSA

2018
Number of
Emolovees

2,90'l
1,600
1,349

1,215
1,026

630
491

318

130

State of Texas

May May May
419 2017 20!!

119,274

115,125
4,149
3.5%
3.6010

117,607

113,335
4,271
3.6010

4-14/t

126,40',1

121,U5
4,396
3.5o/o

3.6%

May
2017
't24,331

119,783
4,U8
3.7o/o

4.10h

May
2u3,

13,836,4Tt
13,32't,229

515,248
3.7o/o

3.60/0

May
ML

13.498.726
12.%O,819

557,W7
4.1Vo

4.1o/o

Civilian Labor Force

TotalEmployed
Total Unemployed
06 Unemployed
7o Unemployed (United States)

Soarce; Texas Wotkforce Commission, Labor Marl<et lnformation Department.
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APPENDIX C

FORM OF LEGAL OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL
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,\
NORTON ROSE FULBRIGHT

Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP

300 Convent Street. Suite 2100
San Antonio, Texas 7820$3792
United States

Tel +1 21O?24 5575
Fax +1 21O 27O 7205
nortonrosefu lbright.com

FINAL

lN REGARD to the authorization and issuance of the "City of Bellmead, Texas Combination Tax
and Limited Pledge Revenue Certificates of Obligation, Series zAfi" $he Certificafes), dated
August 1, 2018 in the aggregate principal amount of $1,995,000 we have reviewed the legality
and validity of the issuance thereof by the City Council of the City of Bellmead, Texas (the

lssuer). The Certificates are issuable in fulty registered form only in denominations of $5,000 or
any integral multiple thereof (within a Stated Maturity). The Certificates have Stated Maturities
of March 'l in each of the years 2019 through 2028, March 1 , 2030, March 1 in each of the years

2031 through 2035, and March 1, 2038, unless optionally or mandatorily redeemed prior to
Stated Maturity in accordance with the terms stated on the face of the Certificates. lnterest on
the Certificates accrues from the dates, at the rates, in the manner, and is payable on the dates
as provided in the ordinance (lhe Ardinance) authorizing the issuance of the Certificates.
Capitalized terms used herein without definition shall have the meanings ascribed thereto in the
Ordinance.

WE HAVE SERVED AS BOND COUNSEL for the lssuer solely to pass upon the legality and
validity of the issuance of the Certificates under the laws of the State of Texas and with respect
to the exclusion of the interest on the Certificates from the gross income of the owners thereof
for federal income tax purposes and for no other purpose. We have not been requested to
investigate or verify, and have not independently investigated or verified, any records, data, or
other material relating to the financial condition or capabilities of the lssuer or the lssuer's
combined utility system and have not assumed any responsibility with respect to the financial
condition or capabilities of the lssuer or the disclosure thereof in connection with the sale of the
Certificates. We express no opinion and make no comment with respect to the sufficiency of
the security for or the marketability of the Certificates. Our role in connection with the lssuer's
Official Statement prepared for use in connection with the sale of the Certificates has been
limited as described therein.

WE HAVE EXAMINED, the applicable and pertinent laws of the State of Texas and the United
States of America. ln rendering the opinions herein we rely upon (1) originalor certified copies
of the proceedings of the City Council of the lssuer in connection with the issuance of the
Certificates, including the Ordinance (2) customary certifications and opinions of ofiicials of the
lssuer; (3) certificates executed by officers of the lssuer relating to the expected use and
investment of proceeds of the Certificates and certain other funds of the lssuer and to certain
other facts solely within the knowledge and control of the lssuer; and (4) such other
documentation, including an examination of the Certificate executed and delivered initially by
the lssuer and such matters of law as we deem relevant to the matters discussed below. ln
such examination, we have assumed the authentici$ of all documents submitted to us as
originals, the conformity to original copies of all documents submitted to us as certified copies,
and the accuracy of the statements and information contained in such certificates. We express

Norton Rose Fulbri{ttt US LLP is a limited lhbility partnership registered underthe lans of Tex€Ii.

Norton Ros€ Fulbright US LLP, Norton Rose Fulbright LLP, Norton Rose Fulbright Australia, Ntrtm Rose Fulbrignt Cffada LLP and flortofl Rose

Fulbright South Atrica lnc a.e sepa.ate bgal entilies and all d lhern are members of Nortoo Rose Fulbtigtlt Yetgn, I Swiss verein. No]ton Rose
Fubridnl Verein hetps coordinate'the aclivities ot the nrembers bul does not itseff p.ovide legal servicec to clients. Detaib ot eacfi eitity. with c€rtain
regulatory inforll|atiff , are available at nortonrosefulbright.com.



NORTON ROSE FULBRICHT

Legal Opinion of Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP, San Antonio, Texas, in connection with
the authorization and issuance of "CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS COMBINATION T$( AND
LIMITED PLEDGE REVENUE CERTIFICATES OF OBLIGATION, SERIES 2018"

no opinion concerning any effect on the following opinions which may result ftom changes in law
effected after the date hereof.

BASED ON OUR EXAMINATION, lT lS OUR OPINION that the Certificates have been duly
authorized and issued in conformity with the laws of the State of Texas now in force and that the
Certificates are valid and legally binding obligations of the lssuer enforceable in accordance with
the terms and conditions described therein, except to the extent that the enforceability thereof
may be affected by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium, or other similar laws
affecting creditors' rights or the exercise of judicial discretion in accordance with general
principles of equity. The Certificates are payable from the levy of an ad valorem tax, within the
limitations prescribed by law, upon all taxable property in the lssuer and are further payable
from and secured by a lien on and pledge of the Pledged Revenues, being a limited amount of
the Net Revenues derived from the operation of the lssuer's combined utility system (the
Sysfem), such lien on and pledge of the limited amount of Net Revenues being subordinate and
inferior to the lien on and pledge of such Net Revenues securing the payment of any Prior Lien
Obligations, Junior Lien Obligations, or Subordinate Lien Obligations hereafter issued by the
lssuer. The lssuer also previously authorized the issuance of Limited Pledge Obligations that
are payable from and secured by a lien on and pledge of a limited amount of the Net Revenues
of the System in accordance with the ordinanees authorizing the issuance of the Limited Pledge
Obligations. ln the Ordinance, the lssuer reseryes and retains the right to issue Prior Lien
Obligations, Junior Lien Obligations, Subordinate Lien Obligations, and Additional Limited
Pledge Obligations without limitation as to principal amount but subject to any terms, conditions,
or restrictions as may be applicable thereto under law or otherwise.

BASED ON OUR EXAMINATION, lT lS FURTHER OUR OPINION that, assuming continuing
compliance after the date hereof by the lssuer with the provisions of the Ordinance and in
reliance upon the representations and certifications of the lssuer made in a certificate of even
date herewith pertaining to the use, expenditure, and investment of the proceeds of the
Certificates, under existing statutes, regulations, published rulings, and court decisions (1)
interest on the Certificates will be excludable from the gross income, as defined in section 61 of
the lnternal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended to the date hereof (the Code), of the owners
thereof for federal income tax purposes, pursuant to section 103 of the Code, and (2) interest on
the Certificates will not be included in computing the alternative minimum taxable income of the
owners thereof who are individuals or, except as hereinafier described, corporations.

FOR TMABLE YEARS THAT BEGAN BEFORE JANUARY 1,2018, interest on the Certificates
owned by a corporation will be included in such corporation's adjusted cunent earnings for
purposes of computing the alternative minimum tax on such corporation, other than an S
corporation, a qualified mutual fund, a real estate investment trust, a real estate mortgage
investment conduit, or a financial asset securitization investment trust. The alternative minimum
tax on corporations has been repealed for taxable years beginning on or after January 1,2018.

WE EXPRESS NO OTHER OPINION with respect to any other federal, state, or local tax
consequences under present law or any proposed legislation resulting from the receipt or
accrual of interest on, or the acquisition or disposition of, the Certificates. Ownership of tax-



NORTON ROSE FULBRIGHT

Legal Opinion of Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP, San Antonio, Texas, in connection with
the authorization and issuance of "CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS COMBINATION TA)( AND
LIMITED PLEDGE REVENUE CERTIFICATES OF OBLIGATION, SERIES 2018"

exempt obligations such as the Certificates may result in collateralfederaltax consequences to,

among others, financial institutions, life insurance companies, property and casualty insurance
companies, certain foreign corporations doing business in the United States, S corporations with
subchapter C earnings and profits, owners of an interest in a financial asset securitization
investment trust, individual recipients of Social Security or Railroad Retirement Benefits,
individuals otherwise qualifying for the earned income credit, and taxpayers who may be

deemed to have incurred or continued indebtedness to purchase or carry, or who have paid or
incurred certain expenses allocable to, tax-exempt obligations.

OUR OPINIONS ARE BASED on existing law, which is subject to change. Such opinions are
further based on our knowledge of facts as of the date hereof. We assume no duty to update or
supplement our opinions to reflect any facts or circumstances that may thereafter come to our
attention or to reflect any changes in any law that may thereafter occur or become effective.
Moreover, our opinions are not a guarantee of result and are not binding on the lnternal
Revenue Service; rather, such opinions represent our legaljudgment based upon our review of
existing law that we deem relevant to such opinions and in reliance upon the representations
and covenants referenced above.

Norton Rose Fulbright US LLP
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APPENDIX D

EXCERPTS FROM THE CITY OF BELLMEAD AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED
SEPTEMBER 30,2017

(lndependent Auditols Report, Managements Discusslon and Analysis, General Financhl Statements and Notes to the Financial
Stabments - not inbnded to be a complete statement of lhe lssuefs financial condlfion. Reference is made to lhe complete Annual

Financial Report for turther inbnnation.)



(this page intentionally left blank)



BELLMEAD

D

ANNUAT FINANCIAT REPORT

FINANCHT STATEMEI{TS

FOR THE YTAR gt{DEL SEPTEMBER 30, 2017



THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY



CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2017

FTNANCIAL SECTION

hrdependent Auditors' Reporl.

Management's Discussion atrd Analysis

Bssic Financial Statements
Govemrnent-wide Financial Statements:

Statement of Net Position
Staternent of Activities.................

Govemment Fund Financial Statemelts:
Balance Sheet.....-....
Statement of Revenues, Expendittues and Changes in Frutd Balance.....
Reconciliation of Statement of Revenues, Expendihu'es and Changes in

Fund Balance .,..............
Proprietary Fund Filancial Statements :

Statement of Net Position
Statement of Revemres, Expenses and Chalges in Fturd Net Position....
Statemert of Cash Flows

Notes to the Filancial Statements.

Reouired Supplementary Informstion
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in

Fund Balance - Budget and Achral - General Frmd..........
Statement of Revelues, Experrditures and Changes in

Fturd Balance - Btrdget and Actual - Economic Developnent - A
Statement of Reventes, Expenditrues and Changes in

Fund Balance - Budget and Actual - Economic Development - B
Statement of Revemtes, Expenditrres and Changes in

Fund Balance - Budget and Actual - Hotel/Motel Tax Fturd .........
Notes to Reqrrired Supplementary htfonnation .......... ..

Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability ald Related Ratios
Schedule of Conh'ibutions .........,.

Combining Statements
Nonrnajor Govenunental Furds :

Conrbining Balance Sheet..........
Conrbining Staternent of Revenres, Expenditrues and Changes rn

Frurd Balalces .............

Page
Number

I -3
4-tI

t4-15
16-17

18

12

13

19

20
2l

22-43

48
49
50

5l

44

45

46

47

52



THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY



FINANCIAL SECTION



THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY



PFSII
PATTILI,O, RROWN & FIILI,, I,.

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS T BUSINESS CONSULTANTS
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IIYDEPEIIDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Honorable Mayor and
Menrbers of the City Council

City of Belhnead, Texas

Renort on the Financial Statements

We have auclited the accompanyurg financial statements of the govemmental activities, the

business-type activities, each maior firnd, and the aggregate remainiug frurd infonnation of City of
Bellrnead, Texas, as of and for the yeal ended Septenrber 3A, 2017 , and the related notes to the financial
statements, which collectively comprise the City of Bellmead's basic furancial statements as listed in the

table of contents.

Managemenl's Responsibilily for the Financial Statenrcnts

Management is responsible for the preparation and fail presentation of these furancial statements

in accordance with accorurting principles generally accepted in the United States of Anerica; this

includes the design, implernentation, and maintelance of internal conhal relevant to the preparation and

fair presentation of financial statements that are fiee from material misstatement, whether due to fiaud or
elTor.

Auelitors' Responsibility

Our responsibilify is to express opinions on these financial statements based on otu audit. We

conducted oru audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
Amerjca and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Govemnrent Auditing Standards,

issued by the Coruptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and

perfonn the arrdit to obtain reasonable as$uance about whether the finaneial staternents are free from
material nrisstatement.

1
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An audit involves perfonning procedtues to obtain audit evidence about the amounts ancl
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judpment,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial staternents, whether due to
fiaud or en'ol. hr making those risk assessments, the auditor considers intemal conh'ol relevant to the
entity's prepalatiou and fail presentation of the financial statements in order to desipnr audit procedures
that are appropriate in the cilcumstances, but not for the pupose of expressing an opinion ou the
effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of siperificant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial stateruents.

We believe that the audit evideuce we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opiniom.

Opinions

hr otu opinion, the finaneial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the respective finaneial position of the gover:rmental activities, the business-bipe activities, each major
fturd, and the agppegate reruaining firnd infor:nation of the City of Belhnead. as of Septernbet 30,2A17,
and the respective changes in filancial positiou and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year
then ended il accordance with accourting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Olher Motlers

Rery d red St ppl em en tarv htfonn a tion

Accoturting principles generally accepted in the United States of Arnerica require that the
rnanagement's discussion and analysis, budgetary conrparison infonnation, schedule of chauges in net
pension liability and related ratios, ald the schedule of contributiols on pages 4 - lI ud M - 50 be
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such iufor:nation, although not a part of the
basic financial staternents, is required by the Govenunental Accorurting Standards Board, who considerc
it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in au appropriate
operational, economic, or historical coutext. We have applied certain limited procedures to the reqtrired
supplernentary information in accordance with auditing staldards generally accepted in the United
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of managernent about the methods of preparing the
informotion and cornparing the infonnotiou for consistency with managernent's respooses to oru
inqrriries, the basic financial statements, and other lcrowledge we obtained during otu audit of the basic
Iiualcial statemetrts. We do trot express an opinion or provide any assru'arce on the information because
the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any
assufance.

Otlrcr htfurruation

Otu andit was conducted for the pupose of fonning opinions on the furancial statements that
collectively conrprise the City of Bellmead's basic financial stateurents. The conrbining md individual
nolnrajor frrnd financial staternents are presented for puposes of additional analysis and are not a
requiled part of the basic finalcial statements.
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The combining and individual nonmajor fimd financial statements and schedules are the
responsibility of management and were derived from and relate directly to the urderlying accounting
and other records tued to prepare the basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to

the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional
procedrues, incltrding comparing and reconeiling such infomation directly to the rmderlying accornting
and other records used to prepare the basic financial staternents or to the basic financial statements

themselves, and other additional procedrues in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United States of America. hr otu opinion, the combining and individual nonmajor fimd financial
staternents and schedules are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial
statements as a whole.

?"*;,!1-,8,*^,-, 1 t+Ul, ) L. L.('

Waco, Texas
March 13,2018
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The manageurent of the City of Belhnead, Texas (the "City") offers the following overview and analysis

of the City's furancial statements and financial activities for the fiscal yeal ended September 30,2017 . lt
should be read in conjurction with the City's financial statements, which follow this section.

FTNANCIAL HIGIILIGHTS

The assets and defened outflows of resoruces of the City exceeded its liabilities and defened
inflows of resources at the close of the most recent fiscal year by $30,942,966 (net position). Of
tlris amorurt, 58,432,978 (unrestricted net position) nray be used to meet the City's ongoitg
obligations to citizens and creditors in accordance with fi.rnd desipnation and fiscal policies. In the

prior year, the City's assets ald deferred outflows of resources exceeded its liabilities and

defened inflows of resoruces by $30.796.412. Of this amourt, $9,834,901 (tuuestricted net

position) could have been used to meet the City's ongoing obligatious to citizens and creditors in
accordance with the City's frurd desigrration and fiscal policies.

As of September 30, 2017, the Cify of Bellnread's governmental fiurds repoded ending timd
balances of $13,074,273. Of this amorurt, Sl.734$48 is rurassigned fiurd balance in the General

Fund available for use within the City's find designration arrd fiscal policies. In the pdor year, the

City's govenunental flmds reported ending fi,urd balances of 913,459.240. Of this amourt,
51,854,773 was rurassip$red fimd balalce in the General Frurd available for use within tlre City's
fiscal policies.

o

a

o As of September 3A,2017 . the restlicted net positior of the govenuuetrtal activities is 57 ,57A.424
of which 55,651,338 is restlicted for economic developrnent aud $1,54,5,094 was restdcted for
culflue and recreation. In tlre prior year', resh'icted uet position of the govenunental activities was

97.372,858 of which $5,509,434 was reshicted for economic development and $1,421,289 was

restricted for cultue and recreation.

a As of Septernber 30, 2A17, the City of Belhnead's Enterprise Fund reported ending frurd net
position of $8,757,739. Of this arnoturt, $4,556.935 is uuestricted frurd net position available for
use within the City's fimd desiprration and fiscal policies. In the prior year, the City's Enterprise
Furrd reported ending fi.rnd net position of $8,780,546. Of this amourt, $5,655,690 was

un'estricted fiurd net position available for use within the City's fiscal policies.

O\IERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an inhrcduction to the City's basic financial
statements. The City's basic fuiancial stateuents include three components: l) govenunent-wide

financial statements; 2) frrnd finarrcial statements; ancl 3) notes to the finalcial statements. This rcpofi
also contains other supplementary infomration in addition to the basic financial staterneuts.
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Government-wide Financial Ststements

The govenunent-wide financial statements are desipued to provide readers with a broad overwiew of the
City's finances, il a mamrer similar to a private-sector busiaess.

The statement of net position preselts infor:nation on all of the City's assets, liabilities and deferred
inflows/outflows of l'esotuces, with the difference between the two reported as net position. Over tirne,
increases or decreases in net position rnay serve as a tuefirl indicator of whether the financial position of
the City is improving or deteriorating.

The stateurent of activities preseuts infonnation showing how the City's net position changed dru'ing the
most recent fiscal year'. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the rurderlying event giving
rise to the change occtus. regardless of the tinring of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are
reported in these staternents for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods
(e.g., rurcollected taxes aud eanred but unused vacation leave). Both the statemeut of uet position and the
statement of activities ale prepared utilizing the full accrual basis of accorurting.

Both of the govemment-wide fnancial staternents distinguish fi.rnctiorrs of the Cify that are principally
supported by citations, sales tax, street tax, and intergovermlental revenues (governmental activifies)
fiom other frrnctions that ale iutended to recover all or a significant porlion of their costs through user
fees and charges ftusiness-type activities). Th. govenuneutal activities of the City include general
govenunent, public safety, economic developrnent, cultrue and recreation, and hiprhways and sheets.
The business-t1pe activities of the City include a water distribution operation and sewer services.

Tlre govenunent-wide furancial statements can be found on pages 12 and 13 of this report.

Fund financial statements

A f,urd is a ptouping of related accounts that is used to rnaiutail conh'ol over resources that have been
segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City, like other state and local gover:rments, rrses
fiurd accorurtiug to ensure and demonsh'ate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of
the fiurds of the City can be divided into two categodes: govenunental frurds aud proprietaty frurds.

Governmenlal furtds. Govenunental frrnds are used to accorurt for essentially the same fiurctions
repotted as govemmental activities in the govemmerrt-wide financial statements. However, unlike the
goventment-wide financial statements, govemmeutal frmd financial statements focus on near'-tenn
inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at
the etd uf the fisual year. Suuh ilfouruliol uray be usefrrl in evaluating a goveruille[t's near'-tenn
financing requireurents.

Becatue the focus of gover:unental iurds is nanower than that of the govenunent-wide financial
stateurents, it is useful to cornpare the infonuation presented for govemmental frurds with sirnilar
infonnation presented for govenunental activities in the govemlrent-wide financial statements. By
doing so, readers may better urderstand the long-term impacf of the govenunent's near-tenn financing
decisions. Both the govenunental fiurd balance sheet and the govemmental fimd statement of revenues,
expenditues, and changes in frrnd balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this conrparison
between govenunental frmds and govenunental activities.

The basic govenunental frurd furancial statements can be forurd on pages 14 tluoup{r 18 of this report
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Proprietary funds. The City maintains orre type of proprietary fiurd. Enterprise Funds are used to report
the sarne finctions presented as business-t5pe aetivities in the govemment-wide filancial statements.

The City uses Euterprise Fturds to accourt for its water dish'ibution operations and sewer services.

Proprietary frurd financial statements provide the sarne type of information as the govenrment-wide

financial staternents. only in more detail.

The basic proprietary fiurd financial statements can be foturd on pages 19 tluough 2l of this report.

Notes to financial statements. The notes provide additional information that is essential to a firll
rurderstanding of the data provided in the govemruent-wide and find financial statenents. The uotes to
the financial statements can be fotnd oo pages 22 - 43 of this report.

GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

As noted earlier, over time let position rnay serve as a useful indicator of a govermnent's financial
position. The City's combined net positiou was $30,942,966 at September 30, 2017" which is a 0.48%
increase from Septernber 30, 2016. (See Table A-1) The largest portion of the Cify's net positiott,

914,939,564, reflects its investrnent in capital assets (e.g., land, buildings and irnprovements, equipmeut,

and water and sewer facilities), less any related debt used to acquire those assets. The City uses these

capital assets to provide serviees to citizens; comequently, these assets ate nol available for ftltrue
spending. Althoug[ the City's invesfinent in its eapital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be

noted that the resotuces leeded to rcpay this debt must be provided frour other sotuces since the capital
assets themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.

Table A-1
City of Betlmead, Texas' Net Position

Crvermmtal Activities Buinesstvoe Activities Totals
2017 2016 2At7 2016 2017 20t6

Total &feredoutflows of remwce 742,778 920,4t0 86,618 l22,0OZ 829,456 I,042,412

Crrrent and other alisets

Capital ass€ts

Total asts

Long-term liabilities
Other liablities

Total liabilities

Net position:
Net investment ill

capital assets

Resricted
Ulrestricted

Total net position

$ 14.60r.083 s 14.867.161

t2.120.t51 ll.6t7,363

-W..W

$ il.454.r64 t 12.873.178

5.006.653 I.722.682

_Lg!60.81?, r6.5e5,860

$ 26.A55.247 t 27.740.319
t7.126.804 t5344.04s

43.182.051 4r,080,384

4.848.865

Total deferredinflow of resources 429920 362,606 50,169 46.244 480.089 408.846

{,1,18.401
740.462

I 0.718.760

7.570.424
3.876.043

i 22.183.227

4.494.902
53 1.560

5.026.462

ro.463.797
7.372.858
4.179.211

I 22.0t5.866

6.744.579
995.008

7 _739,587

6.994.825
896.251

7.891.076

10.892.982
|,695.470

12.588.452

lr _489.727

1.427 .8ll
12.9t7.538

4.2AO.804

4.556.935

$ 8.7 57 .7f9

3.t24.856

5.655.690

t-.t*.-;

t4.939.564 1r.588.653
7.570.424 7,172.858
8.4t2.978 9.834.901

$ 30.942.966 E f0.796.412

As of September 30, 2017, the City has positive balances in all three categories of net assets, both for the

govemment as a whole, as well as sepalately for its govermnental and bruiness-type activities.
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Changes in Net Position. The City's total revenues were $9,373,391. Property taxes comprise 13.17o/o,
or $1,234,664 of the City's revenue. Sales tax revenue comprises 38.32o/o, or $3,591,597 of the City's
revenue. In addition, 33.59o/o or $3,148,614 comes from charges for services; water and sewer fees of
52,77I,776 comprise 88.03o/o of the chalges for services.

For the prior year, The City's total revenues were $9,315,741. Property taxes compise l2.7Ao/a, ot
51,183,252 of the City's revenue. Sales tax revenue comprises 37.89o/o, or $3,529,550 of the City's
revenue. In addition, 33.98o/o or $3,165,037 comes fiom charges for services, water and sewer fees of
87.14o/o comprise $2,758,010 of the charges for services.

Total Revenues 2015 - 2OL7
s3,591,597

51,234,6il

$889,c27

Sso3,8t2

Ss4/.,L96

I Prop€rty taxes

J sales teres

I Franchbe tares

g Hotel occupancy tax€s

t Charger for servlces

I lnvestment eamlngr

C Operatlng granls & contrlbutlong

I Miscellaneous

$33,732
S3,148,614

$160,783
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The total cost of all pro€trans and services for the year ended September 30,2A17, was 59,226,837. For
the prior year ended September 30,2016, the total cost of all progratns arld services was $8,700,168.

Total Expenses 2016 - 2OL7

r Publlc safety

LJlnter?st on long-term debt

+:r Econ omlc developme nt

I Hlghways and streets

I Culture and recreatlon

9General governm€nt

rwater and sewer

$92,725

s650264
5609,719 s633,417

Govern mental Activities

The City's ptoperty tax rate remained $0.303761 per $100 valuation. Assessed values also

increased dtuing fiscal year 2017.

City Sales tax revenue increased $62,A47 ot l.76Yo from the prior year due to continued economic
ggowth.

The increases in public safety are related to the additional salaries expenses ilcluding some fi'om
the change in adrninistative services. Highways and streets decreased due to decreased

expendihues related to the significant sheet rehab project.

Business-fite Activities

Water and sewer expenses increased due to salaries and benefits, utilities, atrd water puchases

o

a

a
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Table A-2
City of Bellmead, Texas' Statement of Activities

Cnvummtal Activities Brsiness-type Activities Totals
20t7 2016 2017 2016 2017 20t6

Revmrns
Program reveanrcs:

Charges for sen-ices

Operatiag grants

Gensal revearrs:
Property taxes

Sales taxes

Franchise taxes

Hotel occtpmcy
Iavesf,merrt eamings

Mirellaneow

Total revelues

Tranders

Changes in net position

Net position, beginning

Net position, ending

$ 376.838 $

34.732

407.027 $

76.929
2.77t.776 $ 2.758.010 $

34.244
3,148.614 $

34.732

3.165.0t7
ttt.t7l

1.t83.252
1.529.550

518.565
539.344
108.512

160.308

9.315.741

1.244.7 47

t,6f 5,664
686.991

239.736
528.991
100.51 9

2.263.500

8.700.1 68

t,234,664
1,591,597

301.812
544.196
118.233

t54,996

6,579,068

Expenses

Ceneral government

Prfilic sfety
Higlruays ard streets

Economic &velopmerrt
Cultue and recreation

Interest otr long-term det*

Water and seq,er

Total expenes 6.612.109

Increase (decrease) in net position
before transfers ( 33,041)

t.t83.252
3,529,550

5 I 8,56J

539.144
97.768

160,308

6.5t2.743

22.547 r0.744

2.794,121 2.802.998

t.234.664
1.591.597

503.812

544.t96
I 60.780

t54,996

9.373.391

t.214.900
3.759.489

626.393
38 I.764
520.838

92.725

l.230_900

3,759.489
626.393

38t.164
520.838

92.725

2_6t4^728

|,244.747
3,635.664

686.991

239.756
528.991
100,5 l9

-

6.436.668

2.614,728

2.614.128

2.263.500

2.263.540

202.402

169.361

22.0t5.866

I 22.t85.227

76.07 5

397,298

473.373

2t.542.491

tt9.595

( 202.402)

( 22,807'

8.780,546

s 8.757.739

9.226,837

539.498 146.554 615.573

/ j97 ?qR) _

142,200 t46.534 615.s73

8.638.346 30.796.4t2 30.180.839

8,780,546 $ t0.942.966 $ 30.796.412I 22.015.866 $

Analysis of the City's Operations. Table A-2 provides a surunary of the City's operations for the year
ended September 30,ztn. The govenunental activities increased the City's net position by $169,361
due to increases in property and sales tax revenue ulentioued above. The bminess-tlipe activities
decreased nef position by 922,&07 to increases in water lrrelrases
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE CITY'S FUNDS AND BTIDGETARY HIGIILIGHTS

Governmental Funds

The focus of the City's govemmental fturds is to provide information on neartenn irr{lows, outflows.
and balances of spendable l€soruces. Such information is tsefi.rl in assessing the City's financing
requilements. hr particular. urassigued fi.urd balance may serve as a usefirl meafllle of a City's net

lesoluces available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. At the end of the 2017 fiscal year, the

City's govenunental firnds repofied cornbined elding frrnd balances of $13,074,273, a decrease of
5384,967 from the prior yeal. Approxirnately 13.27o/o of this total arnorurt is available for spending at

the Cify's discretion. The rernaincler of frrnd balance is not available for new spending because it is
restricted for a variety of pluposes. The n ajority is restricted for econornic developmeut, eapital
projects, ard debt serwice (58,820,439),

General Fund. The Geueral Frurd is the chief operating frurd of the City. At the end of the curent fiscal

year, rnrassigured fi:nd balance of the General Fund was 5t,734,648, while the total fund balance was

S4,200,548. As a rneasrue of the General Furd's liquidity, it may be useful to compare both urassigured

fiurd balance and total fi.urd balance to expendihues. Uuassigred fi.urd balanee represents 29.08o/o of the

General Ftnd expelditrues, while total frrnd balance represents 70.42o/o of that same amount.

Bellmead EDC Fund. The frurd balance of the Bellmead EDC Furds increased S235,941. Ftrnd balance

was projected to increase by $139,700 in the fiual budget, but econornic development expendihues were

less than the final budgeted amourts by $352,234.

HoteVMotel Tax Fund. The fiurd balance of the Hotel/IVlotel Tax Fund increased $123,805. Frurd

balance was projected to increase by S15,676 in the final budget, but culftue and recreatiou expendihues

were less than the fural budgeted aurourts by $151,514.

Capital Projects Fund. The frurd balance of the Capital Plojects Fund decreased $431,331. Furd
balance decreased due to an ongoing sh'eet rehabilitation pro,iect.

Proprietary Funtl

For the cunent year, aetual expenses as coilrpared to prior year acttml expeilses increased by $12,985, or
A.49o/o.Operating revenues in the crurent year were $13,766 or 0.507o more than the operating revemres

in the prior yeal. The notable increases in operating revenues was an increase in water sales in the

arnount af $47,927 offset by a decrease in water and sewer tap fees.

General Fund Budgetary Ilighlights

The general fiurd's revised expendihue budget was $689,830 greater than the fipnue origiually adopted

(an increase of about l2.2oA, This increase is attlibutable to supplemental appropriations of $689,830 to

frurd the sh'eet rehabilitation project.

For tlre fiscal year 2A16-2017, revenue and expendiftues were below budgetary estimates. Actual
expenditrues were below budgeted expendittres were below budgetary estimates. Acfual expenditues
were below btrdgeted expendihues by $364,822. The most siperificant variance resulted from actual

expenditules being less than budgeted in highways and streets by $355,948.

10



CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMIMSTRATION

Capital Assets

Duing the year ended September 30,zAfi, the City spent $1,113,2t6 for govemmental capital asset
additions. Of the additions, 5127,044 represented the equiprnent and vehicles pruchased. Additionally,
the City spent $406,391 for enterprise capital asset additions dtu'ing the year euded September 30,2017.

Total gloss govemmental capital assets as of September 30, 2017, are $20,618,053, For the prior
year, etross govenmental capital assets were $19,504,025.

Total pposs enterprise capital assets as of Septernber 30,2017, are $15,165,661. For the prior year,
ptross enterprise capital assets were $12,560,571.

Additional infonuation on the City's capital assets can be found in the notes to the fiuancial statements
on pages 33 - 34 of this report.

Long-term Debt

At Septeurber 30, 2017, the City had $10,401,720 in bonds and notes outstanding. As of September 30,
2016, the City had $10,805,000 in bonds and notes outstanding.

Additional infonnation on the City's long-tenn debt can be found in the notes to the financial staternents
on pages 34 - 36 of this report.

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND IYEXT YEAR'S BUDGETS AND RATES

Tlte City is contimring to budget conservatively in order to maintain fiscal responsibility. The
rurassigned frrnd balance in the General Fund is cun'ently approximately 4.5 months of estimated
expendihues for a year. The City will contimre to uronitor its frrnd balance closely in order to keep a

strong fiurd halarrce for firfiue considerations.

CONTACTING THE CITY'S FINAI\ICIAL MANAGEMENT

Requests for Information

This fmancial report is desipued to provide a gereral overview of the City's finances for all those with
an interest in the City's finances. Questions concenring aly of the infonnation provided in this report or
requests for additional financial information should be addressed to the Office of the City Manager, City
of Bellmead, Texas, 3015 Belhnead Drive, Bellmead, Texas 76705.

a

o

11



BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY



A.SSETS
Cash and cash eqttil'aletrts

Accorurts receivable. net

Inventories
Intemal balances

Prepaids
Restricted cash and cash equiralents
Lease receivable
Capital assets not being depreciated:

Ixnd
Constrrrctiol in progress

Capital assets. net of accumulated depreciation:

Building and irnproveurents

In-frastructtre
Water and sewer facilities

Equipment

Total assets

DEFERRED OUTtrLOWS OF RESOURCES
Defeffed outflows related to pension

Total deferred outllows of resources

LIABILITIES
Accorurts payable

Accnred liabilities
Custonrer deposits
Accnred irrterest
Noncrurent liabilities :

Due within one year'

Due in rrbre tlun one yeal

Total liabilities

DEFERRED II{FLOWS OF RESOLT.CES

Defer:ecl inflows related to pension

Total deferred inllows of resotuces

NET POSITION
Net ir*'estrnent in capital assets

Reshicted for:
Cout security and tecluology
hrblic safety

Debt senice
Tourisur
Econouric der.eloprnelrt

Uruestricted

Total net position

The notes to the furancial stateqretrts are

an intepral part ofthis staternent.

CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS
ST.A,TEMENT OF NET POSITION

SEPTEMBIR 30, 2017

Gol'enunental
Activities

$ 16.749.785
883,767

728
(. 3.913.757)

444

880.120

2.771.t93
L494.676

4.545,399
?.526.3L2

1.182.571

26.721.234

742.778

742,778

37?.359
45.415

277.688
4.148.403

4.848.865

429-920

429.920

10.738.760

53.286
10.553

3 10.153
1.545.094
5.651 .138

-3.876.M3

7.739,587 12,588.452

50.169 480.089

50.169 480.089

4.200.804 14.939.564

s

Btuiness-fype
Activities Total

s 21.173.639
I.215,501

5,728

MO
2.779.8r9

880,120

2.849992
1.546.777

5,215.956
2.526.317
3.583.886
1.443.881

43,182,051

829.456

829,456

666.842
5t.342

368. I 99

t5.244

593.843

10.892.982

53.286
10.553

3 10.153

1.545,094
5.651.-3-18

8.432.978

4,423.854
331;t34

5,000
3-913.757

2.779.819

38.799
45?.101

670.557

3.583.886

261.310

16.460.8t7

86,678

86,678

289.483
5.927

368.199
t5.2M

316.155
6.744.579

4.556.915

$ 22.185.227 S 8.757,739 $ 30.942,966

12
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CTTY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS

STATEMf, NT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEI'TEMBER 30,2OI7

Progam Renenue

Opemting
Grarts and

ConhibutionsFunctions/Prorans

Crovemmenfal rctivitbs :

Goeral governnrcnt

Public sa&ty
Hig[ways and strees
Economic development

Culturc and recreation
loterest on longterm debt

Total governmental activities

Business.type activities:
Wder and sencr

Total busincss-type activities

Total prirnary pvemment

The notes to thc financial statenpnts se
an integnl part ofthis $aternent

General revenues:

Property tsxes, loded for general purposes

Popcrty ta:res, leried for debt service

Sales taxes

Franchise to<es

Hotel occuparcy taxes

Investrnent eamings

Miscellaneous

Trsrsfen

Total general rervenu€s md trmsfers

Change in net position

Net positio, beginning

Net positim, cnding

Expenscs

$ l.?30,900
3,7s9,489

626,393
381,764
520,838
9L125

6,6r2,r09

2,6t4,728

2,614.728

$-24!32.

Chrges
for Servhes

35,182

294,816

46,840

37tt-838

2.771.776

2-771176

$ 3.148.614

$ 32,E73

1,859

34.732

8_W2.

Govei:rmqrtal
Activities

$( I,162,845)
( 3,46a,814)
( 626,393)
( 38r,764)
( 4B,ee8)
( 92.7251

( 6,200,539)

Net@xpeme) Revcrueand
Chanres in lrlet Position

Busincss-t1pe

Activities

l5?,048

157,04E

157,048

22,547

( 202,402)

( 179,t55)

( 22,8471

8,780,546

$ 8,757,739

Total

$( I,162,845)
( 3,462,il4)
( 626Je3)
( 381J64)
( 4738e8)
( 92:t2s\
( 6200,539)

157,048

157,04t

( 6,0431491)

$ $

( 6,200,539)

924.,970

309,694

3,591,597
503,E12

544,196
r38,233

154,996

292,,402

6,369,900

169,361

22,015,866

$ 22,185,227

924970
309,694

3,591,597
503,812
5,14,196

160,780

154996

6,190,045

146,554

30.796At2

$-39ft3€€

l3



CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS

BAI,AFrcE SITF'ET - GOVERNMEITNAL FtiNDS

SEPTf,MBER 30, 2017

Ccocral

$

Belhncad

EDCA

4,048,108

719,035

$ 1,445,906

2,766
880,120

440

$ 4.768.31l $ 2,328,792

307,t49
42,749
38,173

$ 37,426

69,560

388,071 106,586

129,672
50,020

880,120

179,692 880,120

10,553

1,342,086

2,454,179

1.734.648

ASSETS
Cash aad cash equivalcnts

Reccivables (net of allowancc for
rmcollectibles)

Leesc receivable

Due fromothcrfirnds
Pr€paids

Iavcotorics

Total assets

LIABILITIES
Accormtspapble
Accnred liabilities
Dueto oticrfimds

Totel liabilities

DET'ERRED IIVFLOWS OT RESOIJRCES
Uuvailablc revcnue - pmperty taxes
Uoavailable rcvcnue - court fnes
Unavailable reveaue - lcasc receivable

Total deferred inflows ofresources

FUNDBAI,ANCES
Nmspcndable:

Inveirtories
Prepaids

Restricted for:
Public safcty
Court sourit5r and tecbaologr
Tourism
Economic dcvelopment

Capital projects

Debt service

Committcd for:

Strect irrpmvements
Umssiped

Total flurdbalance

728

3

728
440

4240,548 t,342,086

Totd liabilities, defesed inflows of resourccs "'d fimd balances $ 4,768,311 $ 2j28,792

Amomts rcportcd for govcrnmeatal activitics in the stateareat of net position are diftrent b€ca$sc:

Capital assets used in governmental activities arc not Snancial rcources and, thcrefore, are lot reportcd in &e fiuds.

Otler long-tcrm asscts rt not available to pay for curreot period expcaditurcs and, thercfore, arc reported as uaavailable in the

Long-ternr liabilities (nct pension liebility, bonds payable, and etc.) are not drrc and pcyeble in &e current paiod and; therefore,
have not been included in the firnd financial stat€mEots. Also, the premium on the issuance of bonds aod deferred lcsolrces
relarcd to the net pensioa liability are not rcported ia tbe firnds.

Net position of govenunental activities

The notes to the financial statements are

an iotepral part of this statement. 14



Bellmead

EDCB
HoteV

Motel Tax
Cryitd
Projects

Othcr
Governmmtal

Total
Govennental

Funds

3 3,258,178

104,350

69,560

1,559,622

3,751

$ $ $6,151,550

8,541 883,767
880,120

I t3,196
u0
728

6,948 1,598 35,090

s t.570.321 $ 6,161,689 $ 366,835 $ 18.628.036

$ 7,667 $

286,421

45,324

$ 16,749,785

377,359

45Ars
4,026,953

4,449,727

173,896
50,020

880.120

1,104036

10,553

s3286
1,545,094

4,77t,2t8
2,238,t98

265,929

2,454.179

1,734,il8

t2,t20,151

I,104,036

( 4,113,233)

s 22.r8s.22t

$3

3 2,956 $

2,956

3,429,132

3,429,132

$ 3,432,088

22,561
2,666

3,396

25-227 3923,491 3,396

44,224

44,224

s3286
1,545,094

2,238,r98
265,929

1,545,094 2238,t98 3t92t5

$ 1.570,321 $ 6,161,689 $ 366,835

$

3,915,824

728
440

15



REVENUES
Taxes:

Property

Sales

Fracchisc

Hotel occupancy
Other

Licenses andpermits
Infergovernmental
Reflt
Fincs and fes
Iovestncnt camiags

Miscellaneous

Total revenues

E)(PENDITURES
Current:

Gsncal gov€mrnsot
Public safety

Highways and sheets

Economic developm.ent

Cultrre md Fcratioa
Capital outlay
Debt serricc:

Principal
Intercst

Total cxpoditures

EXCESS (DErICTENCD Or REVENUES
ol'ER (trNDER) UoENDITURES

OTIIER FTNAI\'CIFiG SOI'RCES (USES)
Transfers in
Transfsrs out
Proceeds fiom sale ofasset$

Total other finsncing sources (uses)

NET CTIANGE INFUND BAII\I{CE

FTJND BAIJ\I{CE, BEGINNING

FUND BAI-/\NCE, EIIDING

The notes to the firuncial statenrents are

an integral part of this statemeDt.

CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS

STATEMENT OF REVENT]ES, EXPENDITT]RES
AND CHANGES IN F'T]NIT BAL]\NCE . GOVERNMENTAL FTJNDS

F'OR TIIE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 3O,2OI7

Gerraal

$ 9n,814
2,993att

503,812

54,113

35,182
61,630

234,317

22,940
76,307

4909,886

r,rtt229
3,4v,302
1,335,898

63,809

5,965,239

Bellnead
EDCA

50,968

50,968

( 1.055.352) 50,968

728,107

148,450)
94038

728,107 ( 54,412\

( 3,444)( 327,245)

4,527,793

$

16
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Bellmead
EDCB

598,386

9,315

u8,266

359,435

135,950

256,000)

( 120,050)

239,385

3,189,747

HoteV

Motel Tax

Otber
Govemrnental

Total
Govermsntal

Punds
Cryital
Projects

$$

607,7Ol

544,196

$-$3oel33$ 1,237,047
3,591,597

503,812
s44,196

54,713

35,182
61,630

46,840
241,873

138,233

76347

7,556
1,905

318,694

200,000

105.1 l0
305,1 l0

305,352

46,U0

5,158 47,987

t94 47,987

381,889

38t,889 312,334

214,305 ( 264,34Tt

( 90,500) ( 166,984)

200,000

105.t l0
7,212,837

13,584 ( 681,407)

279 864,336

66t,934)
94038

279 296,444

13,863

6,531,430

2,334

l,lll,229
3454,302
1,335,898

248265
445,698

3t2,334

u8,266

3

( e0,500)

123,805

( 166,984\

( 431,331\

2,669,529

( 3,84,967\

13,459,240

$l $ 2238,198 $ 319215 S 13,074,273| 3,429,132

t7
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CITY OF BELLMEAI}, TEXAS

RECONCILIA,TION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENI]ES, EXPENDITURES
AND CIIANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF C'OVERNMENTAL FLD{DS TO TIIE

STATEMENT OF ACTTVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2017

Net change in fimd balances - total gor,enunental frurds

Anrounts reported for govenuneutal actidties in the statenrent of activities ale different because

Got'emmental frurds report capital outlays as expenditues. However, in the staterneut of
activities. the cost of these assets is allocated over theil estirnated usefirl liles ald repofied as

depreciation expense. This is the arnorurt byu'hich capital outlay exceeds depreciation expeuse in
the crurent period.

Rel'euues in the statement of activities that do not provide crxlent financial resotuces ale not

reported as re\€nnes in the frurds.

The net effect of rarious miscellaneou transactions ir*'ohing capital assets (i.e.. sales and

donations) is to decrease net assets.

Certain pension expendiftues are not expended in the govemment-wide financial statements and

rccorded as deferred resource outflows. This itern relates to contributions urade after the

measrueurent date. Additionally. a porlion of the Ci!y's uuecogrized defered resoru'ce

inflowsloutflows related to the pensiou liability were amortized.

The issuance of long-teun debt (e.g., bonds. leases) provides cruretrt furancial resotuces to

gor.emmerrtal fiur&. wlfle the repaynent of the prirrcipal of long-tenn debt consrunes the erulent

ftrancial resorures of govenunental fiurds. Neither tranraction. howel'er. has any effect on net

position. Also. gover:unental fi.urds report the effect of premirur$. discourts and sinrilat' iterns

u{ren debt is first issued. whereas these arnorurts ale deferred and arnortized in the statement of
activities. This amorurt is the net effect of these differences in the h'eatuurt of long-tem debt and

related iterns.

Sorne expenses leported in the stateurent of activities do not reqrrire the use of ctrlent financial

lesoruces and, fherefore. are not leporled as expenditues in govenuueltal Rurds.

Charrges in net position of governlrental actir,ities

s( 384.e67)

502.788

47.637

( e4.037)

( 64.474)

20-1.506

( 41.0e2)

$ 169.361

The notes to the financial statements are

an intepral part of this staternent. 18



CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

PROPRIETARYFUND

SEPTtrMBER 30, 2017

ASSETS
C.rurent assets:

Cash and cash equivalents
Accorurts receivable (net of allowance for urcollectible):

Accounts
Otlrer

Due fromother fi.urds
Invettories
Restricted cash

Total cturent assets

Noncurrent assets:
Capital arsets:

I-arrd
Buildines aud irprovenrents
Water and sewer facilities
Eguipnrent
Coustruction in progess
Less: accunulated depreciation

Total capital assets

Total noncurrent assets

Total assets

DEFERRED OLTf FLOWS OF' RESOT]RCES
Defer:ed outflows related to pension

Total deferred outflows of resotuces

LIABILITIES
Crurent liabilities:

Accormts payable
Accnred liabilities
Custoner deposits
Accrued interest
Cbulrensated absences. current portion
Due to other frurds

Revemre bond and note payable. currerrt portion

Total current liabitties
Noncurrent liabilities :

Lbmpensated absences
Net pension liability
Revenue bond and note payable

Total noncurett liabilities

Total liabilities
I}ET'ERRED INFLO1VS OF RESOURCES

Deferred inflows related to pension

Total deferred inflows of resoruces

NET POSITION
Net invesfment in capital assets

Unrestricted

Total net position

The notes to tlre finarrcial statements are

an iotepral part of this statement. 19

Btrsiness-ttpe
Activities

Entemrise Fwrd
Water and Sewer

$ 4,423.854

3ll,l53
20,581

3.917.622
5,000

2-779 ,819

11,458,029

38.799
877,695

tt,377.218
t,583.944

452,101
( 9,323.104)

5,006,653

5,006,653

16,4@,682

86,678

86,678

289,483
5.927

368.199
t5.244
3,839
3.865

312,316

998,873

11.515
57.85 l

6,675,2L2

6,7M,579

7,743,452

50,169

50,169

4.200,804
4,556,935

$ 8,757,739



CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS
STA.TEMENT OF REVEN{"IES, EXPENSES A}[D CIIANGES IN NET POSITION

PROPRIETARY FI]I\D

FOR TITE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2017

OPERATINGREVENT]E
Water sales

Sewer charges
Water and sewer tap fees

Other

Total operating revenue

OPERATINGE)(PENSES
Salaries and belefits
Materials and supplies

Conhactual seniees

Depreciation

Total operating expenses

OPERATINGINCOME

NON-OPERATTNG RE\rENITES (E)(PENSES)

}rveshuent eanrings

Interest expense

Total non-operating reveoue (expenses)

NET INCOME BE.FORE TRANSFERS

Transfers in
Trarxfers out

CHANGE IN NET POSITION

NET POSITION, BEGINNING

I{ET POSITION, ENDING

The notes to the financial statements are

an integral part of this statement.

Business-type
Activities

Euterprise Furd
Water and Sewer

$ t,785,320
904,836

I 1,833

69.787

2,771,776

520,070
812,595

518,019

575,163

2,425.847

345,929

71 <L1

( 188,8811

( 166,334)

179-595

164,527
( 366,929\

( 22,807)

9,780,546

20



CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS
STATEMENT OF CASII FLOWS

PROPRIETARYTLIND

FOR TIIE YEAR INDED SDPTEMBER 30, 2Afi

CASII FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTTVITIES
Receipts fiorn crstonrers and users

Payments to suppliers

Paynents to employees

Net cash provided by operating actilities
CASII FLOWS r.ROM NONC.A.PITAL RELATf,D FINANCING ACTTVITIES

Trzusfcrs .0uur other fturds

Transfers to other fiuds
Net cash provided by noncapital and related financing activities

CA,SII FLOWS FROM C'APITAL AND RELATED FINANCING ACTTVITIES
Acquisition of capital assets

Prircipal paid on bonds and note payable

Interest paid on bonds and note payable

Net cash used by capital and related luraocilg activities

CASII FLOWS TROM IF{VESTING ACTTVITIES
Interest received

Net cash provided by investing activities

NET INCREA.SE IN CASIIAND CASH EQUTVALENTS

CASE .A.ND CASE EQUTVALENTS, BEGIhTNING

c.A.sII AND CASII EQUMLENTS, ENDItic
RECONCILIATION OF OPERATINGINCOME TO li{ET

CASII PROVIDED BY OPERATING ACTIVTIIES
Operating incorne
Adjtrstments to reconci-le operating income to

net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation
Change fur assets, defened outflows and inflows, and liabilities:

Accounts receivable. net
Othel receil'ables
Custourer deposits
Aceoturts payable

Defered outflows of resoruces
Deferred ilflows of resou'ces
Net pension liability
Coupensated absences

Other liabilities

Net cash provided by operating acti'"ities

The notes to the financial statements are

an intepral part of this statement.

Business-type
Activities

Entenlrise Furd
Water and Sewer

$ 2.801.377
( t.251,932)
( 513,210)

1.036.23-5

426.468
( 366,929)

59,539

( 358J58)
( 3t2,045)

{ 193,425\

( 863.828)

22.547

22,547

254,493

6.949.180

$ 7,203,673

$ 345.929

575,t63

29.20t
( e 646)

10.046
78^682

30.69s
3.929

( 28.383)
2-43t

( 1,812)

$ 1,036,235
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CITY OF BELLMEAI}, TEXAS

NOTES TO TIIE FINAI{CIAL STATEMENTS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2017

1. SUMMARY OF SIGMFICANT ACCOTINTING POLICIES

The City of Belhnead, Texas (the "City") is a home-rule muricipal corporation organized and

existing utder the provisions of the Constihrtion of the State of Texas. The City operates urder a
Corurcil-Manager fonn of govemment and provides the following services: general gover:unent,
public safety (police and flre), hipdrways and streets, econornic developruent, arld crilhu'e and

recreation.

The financial statements of the City are prepared in accordance with genelally accepted

accorurting prhciples (GAAP). The City's reporting entity applies all relevant Govemrnental
Accorurting Standards Board (GASB) pronouncernents. The more sigrificant accotutting and

repoding policies ald practices used by the City are described below.

A. Renortins Entifv

The accornpanyrlg financial statements present the City and its conrponent turits, ettities for
which the City is considered to be furancially accourtable. Blended compouent tutits,
althoupilr legally sepatate entities, ale, in substance, part of the City's operations and are

appropriately presented as fiurds of the priruary govenuuent. Discretely presented component
units, on the other hand, ale reporled in a sepalate colurnn in the govemment-wide financial
staterneuts to emphasize it is legally sepalate frour the City.

The above criteria were applied to potential organizations to detennine if the entity should be

reported as parl of the City. The tbllowing was detennined:

The Bellmead Economic Development Corporation Type A (EDC A) and Bellmead
Econouric Developurent Corporation Type B (EDC B) are blelded component tnits and ale

reported within the City's prinrary govemment. The Corporations are responsible for certain
economic development benefiting all citizerx of the govenrment and are financed by a

portion of sales tax revenne and are govemed by a board comprised of City Courcil menrbers

and citizens of the corumurity.

22



B. Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements

The govermnent-wide financial statements (i.e., the staternent of net position and the
statement of activities) report infonnation on all of the activities of the primary govenunent
and its componetrt turits. For the uost part, the effect of interfi"urd activity has been removed
fronr these statements. Govennrcntal activities, which normally are supported by taxes and
intergoverrrmental revemre, ale reported separately from business-tytpe activities, which rely
to a sigrificant extent on fees and charges for supporl. Likewise, the printaw govemnrcnt is
reported separately fiom certain legally separate coilrponeilt units for which the prirnary
government is financially accourtable.

The staternent of activities demonshates the depgee to which the direct expenses of a given
finrction or segurent ate offset by propn'am reveuue. Dfuecl €tpenses are those that are clear{y
identifiable with a specific frrnction or segnent. Cerlain indirect costs have been included as
part of the propgarn expenses reported for the various finctional activities. Program revemrc
includes 1) chalges to cttstomers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit iom
goods, services, or privileges provided by a given flurction or sepment, and 2) prants and
contributions that are restricted to rneeting the operational or capital requirements of a
parlicular frurction or sepurent. Taxes and other iterns not properly included among pro€farn
revenue are reported instead as general revenile.

Separate furancial staternents are provided for goven:mental fiurds and proprietary frutds.
Major individual Govenunental Funds and major individual Enterprise Frurds ale reported as
sepalate colunns in the frurd furalcial statements.

C. Measurement Focus. Basis of Accountins and Financial Statement Presentation

Tlre govenrment-wide financial statements are reported using the econonic resources
nrca&reilrcnt focus ancl the aecnml ha.sis of occomrtirtg, as ale the proprietary frrnd furaucial
statenents. Revenue is recorded when eamed and expenses are recorded when a liability is
incun'ed, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Property taxes are recopnrized as
revenue in the yeal for which they are levied. Grants and similal itenx ale recopnrized as
revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements inrposed by the provider have been met.

Govemrnental frurd financial statements are reported using the currenl financial resources
ilrcasureilrcnt faats and the nrodified accrtwl basis o/ accowfting. Revenue is reco$rized as
soon as it is both measruable and available. Revemre is considered to be wailable when it is
collectil,rle witldu lle curelt period or soon elough thereafter to pay liabilities of the crtnent
period. For this prupose, the govenunent cousiders revenue to be available if collected within
60 days of the end of the curent fiscal period. Expendihues generally are recotded when a
liability is incurred, as under accrual accornting. However, debt service expenditures, as well
as expendittues related to compensated absences and claiurs and judpnents, are rccorded
only when payrnent is due.

Property taxes. ftanchise taxes, sales taxes, and intercst associated with the crurent fiscal
period are all considered to be susceptible to accnral and so have been recopFrized as t€venue
of the ctrnent fiscal period. All other revenue items are considered to be measuable and
available only when cash is received by the City.
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The City repofis the following major governmental frrnds:

General Fund - The General Fund is the City's primary operating fi.urd. It is used

to accoturt for all financial resoruces of the general govermnert except those
required to be accounted for in another fiurd.

Belbnead Economic Develoonenl Corporation - The Bellmead Econornic
Development Corporation Ty,pes A and B are blended component units which are

reported as Special Revenue Funds that account for sales tax revenue that is to be

rned for economic development benefiting all citizens of the City.

Hotel/Motel Tax Fund - The HotelAvlotel Tax Fund accounts for the receipts arrd

allocation of the City's occupancy tax imposed on the rental of hotel-rnotel
rooms. These frurds are tued to promote tourisrn and related activities within the
City.

Cooital Proiects Fund - The Capital h'ojects Fund accounts for the acquisition or
constnrction of capital assets.

The City reports the following rnajor proprietary fimd

Waler sud Sewel Fund - The Water arrd Sewer Fund accounts for the activities
of the water distribution system, the sewage treahnent plant, sewage ptrmping
stations and collection systems.

As a general nrle, the effect of interfiurd activity has been elirninated fi'om the govemment-
wide financial statenents. Exceptions to this general nrle arc charges between the City's
watet and wastewater fi.rnction aud variou.s other frrnctions of the govenunent. Elimination of
these charges would distort the direct costs ard pro€tram revenue reported for the valiors
frurctions concemed.

Proprietary fi.urds distingtish operollng revenues and expenses from nonoperaling itenrs.

Operating revenues and expenses generally result frorn providing services and producing and

delivering goods in connection with a proprietary firnd's principal ongoing operatiotx. The
principal operating revenues of the City's Enterprise Fturd are charges to ctutomers for sales

and services. Operating expenses for the Enterprise Fturd inchrde cost of sales aud setviees,

adrninishative expenses, ald depreciation on capital assets. All revemre and expenses not
rneeting this definition are repoded as nonoperatilg revenue and expenses.

D. Assets. Liabilities and Net Position or Equitv

Deposits and Investments

For pruposes of tlre statement of cash flows, the City considers all highly liquid investnents
(inveshnents with odginal naflrities less tlmn 90 days, including reshicted assets) to be cash

eqrrivalents.
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State statutes autlrorize tlre City to invest in obligatiom of tlre Urited States or its agerrcies and
insttunentalities and state or local govermuents, conunercial paper, pnramnteed investurent
conttacts, repuchase apleernents, and certain govanunental inveshnent pools. The City's local
inveshnent policy limits tlre City to invest in obligations of the llnited States or its agencies and
irxtnunentalities, certificates of deposit, rnoney nrarket uruhnl fiurds, and local govemment
investrnent pools.

Inveshnents ale reported at fair value. The govemmental inveshnent pools operate in
accordance with appropriate state lalvs and repulations. The reported value of the pool is the
same as the thir value of the pool shares.

Receivables and Payables

Activity between fi"urds that are representative of lendinpy'bonowing an'angements
outstanding at the end of the fiscal year ale referred to as either "drre to/fiorn other frrnds"
(i.e., the cun'ent portion of interfi.md loans) or "advances tolfi'om other frurds" (i.e., the
noncturent portion of interfiurd loans). All other outstanding balances between frurds are
repo$ed as "due to/fi'om otlrer frurds." Ary residual balauces outstauding between the
govemrnental activities and business-type activities are repofied in the govenurrent-wide
fiuancial staternents as "intemal balances."

Property taxes attach as an enforceable lien on property as of October 1. Taxes ale levied
each October I urd are due and payable on or before January 3l of the following year. All
unpaid taxes beconre delinquent February I of the following year. The Mclennan Coturty
Tax Assessor/Collector bills and collects the City's property taxes. Aly ureollecfed property
taxes as of Septenrber 30, which are not expected to be collected within 60 days, are recorded
as taxes reeeivable and deferred revenue.

As a City that operates rrnder a houre-nile charter, the Crty has a tax rate limitation of $2.50
per $100 assessed valuation. For the year ended September 30,20L7, the City had a tax rate
of $0.303761 per $100 of which 50.22799 was allocated for gereral govenunent and
$0.075771 was allocated for paynent of principal and interest on general lolg-temt clebt.

Inventories and Prepaid Items

All inventories are valtred at the lower of cost (first-in. f,nst-out) or rnarliet. Inventories ale
recorded as expenditues when consruned rather than when pruchased.
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Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include land. buildings and irnprovements, machinery and equipment,
and infi'astnrchue assets (e.g., roads, bridges, sidewalks, and similar items), are reported il
the applicable govenuneutal or brxiness-rype activities cohururs in the govenlnent-wide
financial statements. The Cify has elected to report general infrastruchu'e assets prospectively

fiom October l, 2003, as pennitted by GASB Statement No. 34. Capital assets are defined by
the Clity as assets with an initial, individual cost of mote than S1,000 and an estimated usefrrl

life in excess of two years. Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical
cost if ptuclmsed or constnrcted. Donated capital assets are recorded at acquisition value,

which is the price that would be paid to acquire an asset with equivalent service potential at

the acquisition date.

The costs of nor:nal uraintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or
rnaterially extend the lives of the assets are trot capitalized.

Capital assets of the City are depreciated using the straip{rt-line method over the following
estimated useful lives:

Assets Year..;

Btrildin gs and iltrrrovetrnts
Water and sewer facilities

kluiprrent
trfiashtchrre

5to30
5to30
3to20

40

Restricted Assets

Restricted cash accornts in the Water and Sewer Frmd of 92,779,819 represents proceeds

fiorn the 2008 tax and revemre certificates of obligatiou and 2016 Cerlificate of Obligation
that luve lot beeu spent but have been restlicted to purchase water and sewer inrprovements
in the frrhue. Also included in resh'icted cash is money held by the City of Waco ol behalf of
the City of Belhnead for the operations of the Waco Metropolitan Area Regional Sewer

System.

Long-term Debt

In the govenrment-wide filancial statemeuts and proprietary frurd types in the fiurd furancial

stateurents, longtenn debt and other long-tenn obligations ale reporled as liabilities in the

applicable governmental activities, business-type activities, or proprietary frurd type

Statenelt of Net Position. Bond premiurns and discounts are defered and arnortized over the

life of the bonds using the sh'aiprlrt-line rnethod. Bonds payable ale reported net of the

applicable bond premiurn or discount. Bond issuance costs are expensed &u'ing the period of
issuance.

hr the frurd financial statements, govenunental fi.urd tlpes recoppize bond prerniruns and

discoturts, as well as bond issuance costs, druing the crurent period. The face amorurt of debt

issued is reported as other financing soruces. h'erniruns received on debt issuances are

reporled as otber financing soruces while discounts on debt issuances il'e reported as other
financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld fiom the achral debt proceeds

received, are reported as debt service expenditures.
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Compensated Absences

Compeusated absences are reported as accnred in the government-wide and proprietary firnd
financial statements. In the govenunental frrnd level financial statements, only urahn'ed
compensated absences payable to crn'ently tenninated employees are reported.

Pensions

For ptuposes of ureasuring the net pension liability, pension related defened ot*flows and
inflows of resources, and pension expense, City specific information about its Fiduciary Net
Positiou in the Texas Mruricipal Retirement Systern (TMRS) and additions to/deductions
frorn TMRS's Fiduciary Net Position have been deter:nined on the same basis as they are
reported by TMRS. For this prupose, plan conhibutions ale recoepized in the period that
compensatiol is repofted for the employee, which is when contlibutions are legally drre.
Benefit paynents and refiurds are rccognized when due and payable in accordance with the
benefit tenns. htveshnents ale reporled at fair value.

Net Position

Net Positiou represents the difference between assets, deferred ilflowsloutflows of resources
and liabilities. Net investrnent in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of accunrulated
depreciation, reduced by the outstanding balances of any borowing used for the acquisition,
conshuction or irnprovement of those assets, and adding back unspent proceeds. Net position
is reported as resh'icted when there are limitatious imposed on theil rue either tlrougilr the
enabling legislation adopted by the City or throngh external restrietions imposed by creditors,
pp'antors or laws or repnrlations of other govemrnents.

Funtl Balance

The goverrunental fund finaucial statements present frurd balances based on classificatiorc
that comprise a hieralchy that is based priruarily on the extent to which the City is borurd to
honor consh'ailts on the specific purposes for which amorurts il the respective govenunental
fi.urds can be spent. The classifications used in the govemnertal frrud fmancial statemeuts are
as follows:

Nonspendable: This classificatiotr includes arnounts that cannot be spent because
they are either (a) not in spendable fonn or (b) are legally or contractually
requfued to be urailtained intact. Nonspendable items are not expected to be
converted to cash or are not expected to be converted to cash within the next year.

Restricted: This classification ilcludes amounts for which conshaints have been
placed on tlre use of the resoruces either (a) extemally imposed by creditors,
ggantors, contlibutors. or laws or repnrlations of other govemments, or (b) inrposed
by law tluoupdr constitutional provisions or ernbliug legislation.

a

a
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Conunitted: This classificatiou includes amounts that can be used only for
specific plxposes pursuant to constraints irnposed by board resolution of the City
Corurcil, the City's higlrest level of decision making authority. These arrourts
carurot be used for any other pupose unless the City Cotncil rernoves or changes

the specified use by taking the sarne type of action that was enrployed lvhen the

frrnds were initially conunitted. This elassification also includes contractual
obligations to the extent that existilg resoruces have been specifically couunitted
for rue in satisfoing those contrzcttnl reqrtirernents.

Assigpred: This classification ilcludes amounts that ale constrained by the City's
intent to be used for a specific prupose but are neither restricted nor couunitted.
This intent can be expressed by the City Corurcil.

Unassigred: This classification includes the residual frrnd balalce for the General

Frurd. The urassigred classification also includes negative residual fund balance

of any other governnental fi.urd that carurot be elirninated by offsetting of
assigred frnd balance amotutts.

Net Position Flow Assumption

Sometimes the City will fi.urd outlays for a parlicular prrpose from both resh'ieted (e.g.,

restricted bond or grant proceeds) and runestricted resotuces. In order to calculate the

amorurts to reporl as rcsticted - net position and tuuestlicted - rret position in the

govenunent-wide ald proprietary frrnd furancial statetnents, a flow assrunption nrust be made

about the order in which the resources are considered to be applied. It is the City's policy to
consider restricted - net position to have been depleted before rurestricted - net position is

applied.

Fund Balance Flow Assumption

Sonetimes the City will fund outlays for a particular prupose from both restricted and

tuuesh'icted resoruces (the total of cormnitted, assigred, and urassipnred frurd balance). hl
order to calculate the amormts to report as restricted, committed, assigred. and urassigred
fiurd balance in the gover:unental frurd financial statements a flow assunrption must be trade
about the order in which the resotuces ale considered to be applied. It is the City's policy to
consider resh'icted fi.md balance to have been depleted before using any of the components of
uuesh'icted frurd balance. Fudrer, when components of uuestricted fi.utd balance can be

used for the same pru?ose, cornnritted fiurd balance is depleted fust, followed by assiprted

frurd balauce. Unassigred frurd balanee is applied last.

a

a

a
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Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position an#or balance sheet will sometines
report a separate section for deferred out{lows of resotuces. This separate finaacial statement
element, deferred outflows of resoruces, represents a consuurption of net position that applies
to a futue period(s) and so will not be recoeuized as an outflow of resow'ces
(expense/expenditrue) rurtil then. The City has the following iterns that qualifu for reporting
in this category.

Pension contributions after ureasruement date - These conhibrrtions are defened and
recoperized in the following fiscal year'.

Differenee in projected and actual earnings on pemion assets - This differelce is
deferred and amorlized over a closed five yealperiod.

Difference in expected ald actual pension experience - This difference is deferred and
recopnrized over the avelage remaining lives of all nrenrber detennined as of the
meastuement date

In addition to liabilities, the staternent of financial position will sornetimes repod a separate
section for defened inflows of resoruces. This separate finalcial statements elanent, deferred
inflows or lesotuces. rcplesents an acquisition of net position that applies to a fuftue
period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resouces (r'evenue) urtil that tirne.
The City has two types of items that qualifu for reporling in this category. One of these items
alises olly rurder a modified accrual basis of accourting. Accordingly, the iteq ruravailable
revenue, is reporled only in the governmeltal fimds balance sheet. The govemmental frurds
repofi ruravailable revenues fiom three soulces that require deferral: property taxes.
rmuricipal cout fines aud lease receivable. These amotmts are deferred and recognized as an
inflorv of resoruces in the period that the aurorurts becorne availablc. Thc other item is only
reeorded in the ftlll accrual basis of accourting and results fiom the difflerence between
expected and achral pension experience. This difference is defened and recoppized over the
estimated avemge rsllmining lives of all members detennined as of the meastuernent date.

Estimates

The preparation of financial statements, in coufonuity with geuerally accepted accourting
principles, requires tranagement to make estimates and assunrptions that affect the reporled
arnounts of assets and liabihhes and drscloswes of coutrugent liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported arnounts of reventre and expenses &uing the repofiing
period. Actual amoruts could differ frorn those estimates.

a

a

a
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2. DEPOSITS AND II{YE STMENTS

A suuunary of the City's cash and cash eqrrivalents follows

Chsh ancl cefiiicates of deposit in bank

Govenulent investurnt pools

TexPool

TexStar

s 23.767.619

I 16.E45

ffi,994

Total cash and cash equivalents

Interest Rate Risk.In accordance with its investrnent policy, the City manages its exposrue to
declines in fair value by; (a) sfi'uchu'ing the investrnent portfolio so flrat secruities rnaflu'e to meet

cash requirements for ongoing operations, (b) investing operating fiurds prirnarily in shorter-term
certificates of deposit, sectuities, ilroney malket muhnl finds, or govemorent investurent pools,

and (c) diversiffing rnatruities and staggering purchase dates to rninimize the impact of martet
movemelts over tiure. It is the City's policy not to invest in sectuities mahu'ing nore than three
yeals from the date of puchase. At Septernber 30, 2AI7,the City's only inveshnent is in external
invesbnent pools. The weighted average rnahuity of Texas Local Govenment Inveshnent Pool
(TexPool) and Texas Shorl-tenn Asset Reserve Fund (TexStar) as of Septenrber 30, 2017, is less

than 60 days.

Creelit.Risfr. The City's investmelt policy linrits investments in govemureltal investment pools

and money martet nruhral frurds to those that are rated no lower tlun fuqA or an equivalent
rating by at least one nationally recogrrized rating service. As of Septernber 3A,2017, the Clity's
investnent in TexPool and TexStar was rated AAA by Standatd & Poor's.

TexPool is a public fiurds investment pool created ptusualt to the hrterlocal Cooperation Act of
the State of Texas. The City has delegated the authority to hold legal title to the pool as

custodians and to make inveshnent pruchases with the City's frrnds. The State Cornptroller of
Fublic Accorurts exercises oversiprht responsibility over TexPool. Oversight includes the ability
to sigrificantly influence operations, desipnration of managetrelt and accormtability for fiscal
rnatters. Additionally, the state comptroller has established an advisory board conrposed of both
participants in TexPool and other pelsons who do not have a busiuess relationship with TexPool.
The advisory board members review the inveshnent policy and management fee stnrctrue,

TexStar is a Texas ptrblic fiurds investrnent pool tlmt is co-adruinistered by J. P. Morgan Chase

and First Southwest Asset Management, hrc. TexStar is rur by a five-rnenrber boald cornprised

of tluee representatives of eligible govenunental entities and one rnember designated by each of
the co-administmtors. TexStal crurently offers a "Cash Reserve Ftutd" which will invest only in
authorized investments rurder the Pr.rblic Frurds Investrnent Act with weip{rted average maturities
which camrot exceed 60 days.

TexPool and TexStat use aurortized cost rather than ruarket value to report net assets to courpute

share prices. Accordingly, the fair value of the position in TexPool and TexStar is the same as

the value of TexPool shales and TexStal shares. They have a redenrption notice period of one

day and may rcdeem daily. The investment pool's authority may only impose reshictions on
redernptions in the event of a general suspension of trading on major sectuities markets, geueral

banking uroratorirun or national state of emergency that affects the pool's liquidity.

s
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3. RECEWABLES

Receivables as of Septembet 30,2017, for the City's individual major frurds and nonmajor frurds
in the aggregate, including the applicable allowances for rucollectible aecorurts, ale as follows:

Btllrtrd Beftrped
Ecouosrc Emmr:nic Hotd

D€ryeloplEt Der'elopnEt Motel
C'taffil @1ggj Coreordion-B Tn

Capital

Prolects Noonraof
Wat€t

md Scwer

Othff
Totel

Rcceivabks:

Ptopcrty taEs
Sdstcs
Actouats

Cowt Fincs
l,ease

Othrt
Gross reiubles

lxs: allwaocr for
mcollectible

s 176,888 3

508.796

250.103

- 880,t20

27,553 2.76
963340 882.886

( 244-3051

1.5fl
104.350

3,75t 8,541

3,75t 8.541

t
101.759

| ).17.170

610.555

387,928
250.101

880.120

65,783

2.430,909

3 $ s60.432

60.432

387,028

407.ffig

( 15.108) ( 75-87'l ( 335288)

4.

N€rtotalrccciv$l€s s-$1]]j r-.,';!$!s 9___-!!!]jg t-]f] t;!!l t& t-]]!p! JW
The appraisal of propedy withiu the City is the rcsponsibility of the Mclennan County Appraisal
District (the "District"). The District is requiled rurder the h'opefty Tax Code to assess all
propefiy r.vithin the District orl the basis of 100% of its appraised value and is prohibited frour
applyrng arly assessrnent ratios. The vahre of property wilhin the District Drrst be reviewed evety
foru years.

The City's propeffy tax is levied each October I or assessed value listed as of the prior January I
fbr all rcal ancl business persoual propefy located in the City. The nerv assessed value upon
wlrich the fiscal 2017levy was based was $407.683.002.

Taxes are due by Jauuary 3l following the October I lely date. Cturent tax collections for the
year ended Septenrber 30.2017, wel'e 96.7 % of the tax levy.

II\TERFUND RECEIVABLES, PAYABLES AND TRANSFERS

Interfund rcceivables ancl payatrle balances at Septeurber 30,2017, are as follor,vs:

F\rrd Receivable Payable

Creleral

Bellmead EDC - A
Belfrmad EDC - B
HoteVMotelTax
Capital Projects

Nonrnjor
Water and sewer

$

69-560

6,948

1.598

35.090

3,9t7,622

$ 4.030.61E

-

38.t73

69.560

3.915.824

t.396

1,865

$ 4.0J0.818

-

g

Totals
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An interfi.rnd balance of $3,917,622 resulted when the City issued bonds in fiscal yeat 2Al4 b
finance a ilew sewer interceptor and water well to improve the City's utility system. The bond
proceeds were repofied in the Capital h'ojects Furd and the long-tenn liability was reporfed in
the Water and Sewer Fund, which resulted irr an interfrrnd balance- As cost are incured for the

project, the bond proceeds are wed to frrnd the project and the capital assets ale reported in the
Water ancl Sewer Furd. The remahder of the balances resulted fi'om the time lag between the

dates that 1) interfiurd goods and services ale provided or reimbusable expendiflues occur, 2)
h-ansactions are recorded in the accounting system, and 3) payments between frurds are made.

Interf,rnd transfers at Septenrber 30,2017, are as follows:

C-rneral

Belhnead

EDC-B
Nonnnjor

Funds Water/Server Total

Transferr; out:

Belhrtad EDC - A
Belnrad mC-B
HoteVMotel Tax

Capital Prcjects

Watety'Servet

Total transfers

$ 12,500

256.000

90.500

2,457

366.650

$ 135.950 $ $ $ 148.450

256.000

90.500

166.984

366..929

l&.527
279

$ 728J07 $ 135,950 $ 279 s r&.527 $ 1.028.863

Tlansfers are rmed to 1) rnove revenues from the fimd with collectiou authorizatiol to the Debt
Service Frurd as debt service principal and interest paynents become due, 2) move reshicted
arnorurts iorn bonowings to the Debt Service Fund to establish rnandatory reselve accorurts, 3)

[love um€stricted General Fturd revenues to finance valious prCIgf.uns that the govemment rmrst

account for in other frurds in accoldance with budgetary authorizations, including arnounts
provided as subsidies or uratch frrnds for various pmlt progtams, and 4) a payment in lieu of
taxes to the General Fund.

5. LEASE RECEWABLES

The Bellmead Economic Development Corporation (BEDC) corstnrcted on a building which is
being utilized as a plant and office space by Texas Machine & Tool hrternational, LLC (Ilvf).
BEDC has eutered into a lO-year prornissory note with TMTI to pruchase the property in
accordance with the followilg schedule based on the remainder of the previous lease ap{eement

of $1,093,146.
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The promissory note began on July l, 2AI5. The paynents, including interest at 4.5olo ate as
follows:

Year Erded
Septer$er3O Principal Interest

20lE
2019

2020

2021

2422

2023-2026

$ 98,357 $

rc2.876

t07.&2
tt2,545
t17.275

341.465

37.593

33.075

28,349

23,405

23.405

22.825

$ 8E0.120

-

$ 166,652

6. CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital asset activity for the year ended September 30,2017, was as follows:

Balance

Octobct I
2016 Additioas Deletioss

Brlaace
September 30,

2017

Gor-eramen tal actilitirs
Capital assets not being depreciated:

Land

Constnrction il progress

Total capital assets not beiog &preciated

I 2,77r,t93

76t,622

?,532,815

$-
944.680 ( 6r l.626)

( 6tr.626)

2,77t,t93

1.494,676

3,865,869

$ $

944.680

Capital assets beiag depreciated

Buildiags aad ieprovemert s

InfrastnEture
Equipoent

Total caprtal arscts bcrng &precnted

Less accrs.utated dcpreciation for:
Buildings and improvemeots
Infrastnrtttre
Equipment

Total rccruulated &precietioo

6,659,032
1,tgt.770
6.t20.408

15.971,210

6t2.439

I 68,535

780.974

7.27t.471
3.t9t.770
6.288,943

r6.752.181

( 2,726,072)
( 665,451)
( 5.r06.373)

( 8.497.90r)

( 2.496,035)
( 56s,7 13)
( 4,824,914)

( 7,886.663)

( 230,037)

{ 99.744)
( 281.459)

( 6rr.240)

Total capital assets bciag depreciated, net 8,084,548 169,734

-W
Govemmental activities capital ass€ts. net $_l_!-,617,I1 $ I,l14,414 $( 6l1,626) 3 12,120,151
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Balance

0ctober I
.2016 A&f,tioas Deletions

Balancc

September 30,

20t7

Business-type actilities
Capital asts not beiog depreciated:

Land
Constrrrtion in progress

Total capital ass€ts trot being depteciated

$ 38"799 $

263.895 2f6,241

236.241

$

( 48.01r)

( 48.035)

f8.799
452.t0l
490,900

$

302,694

Capital assets being depreciated:

Buildiogs alrd inprovemeats
Water and scq,er facilities

WMARSS facilities
Eqr:ipment

Total capital assts beilg depreciated

Less accumulated &preciation for:
Building and improvenerts
Water and seru facilities
WMARSSfacilities

'Equipment

T otal accumulated depreciation

877.695
9,872.897

2.410.042
r,507,284

14.667.9 l8

91.490
76.664

I 70,1 50

( 163,307)

( 163.107)

817.693
9,872.897
2.340,223

t.583.944

14,67 4.7 61

Buiness-tvpeactivitiescapitatastsnet $ 5.386-767 $lJ99Jl3) ${-]j!!!f) $1|.'1!!$9:1

Depreciation expense was charged to frurctions/pro€trams of the City as follows

Total capital asseis being depreciated, net

Govemlrntal activities
Generdl govemnEnt

Public safety

Hi.plhways and streets

Economic developrnent

Clrlture and recreation

Total depreciation - govemuental activities

Bus ines s -type activities

Water and sewer

Total depreciation - busines s-type activities

( 163.593)
( 7,410.955)
( 7 45.957)
( r,263.340)

( e.583.845)

5.084.073

( 43,545)
( f82.?77)
( 89.947)

< 59.294)

( 57 s.t63)

( 405.013)

( 207.rt8)
( 7 .793,332)
( 835,904)
( t.122,634)

( 10.15e.008)

4.515.7 51( 163.107)

93,1 19

228,270

M,943

133,498

7l,4lo

$ 6tt24o

$ 575.163

$ 575,163

$

7. LONG_TERM DEBT

Long-term debt consists of bonded indebtedness, note payable, atrd cornpensated absences. The

City issues general obligation bonds to provide fiurds for the acquisition and conshuctiol of
urajor capital facilities ald pledges income derived fi'orn the ac$rfued or constnrcted assets to pay
debt service. General obligation bonds have been issued for the business-type activities. For the

govenunental activities, colnpensated absences ale generally liqrridated by the General Fund.
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The following is a sununary 6f shanges in long-tenn debt of the year ended September 30,2017

Balme
Ocrober I

20t6 Additions Retirements

lalao66
Septembcr 30,

2017
IhE Within
One Year

Gorc rnne ntal activitie s

Certificates of obligation
Tax anticigation notes

Net peasioa liatrility
C"ompemated abeences

Preoirm on &b

Business-type activities
C*neral obligrt ion bonds

Certificates of obligation
Note payaHe - CDW
Net pension liaUlity
Compeosated atsco.ces

Prerium on &tt

t 3,710,000 3

50,000

676.221

260.782

$( lso.0o0)
( 50.000)
( 277.689)
( 76,641)

( 3.506)

$( 175.000)
( 125.000)
( t2.o45)
( ?2.404)
( r0.82e)
( 8.0e1)

97.217

126,612

4.022
t3,260

t-
6,745,000

96.720
57,851

15,355

145,808

305.000
12.3t6

I 3.560,000 t 200.000

495.749

310.753

59,589

77,688

63.095

t 4,760,098 t 223,829 $( 551.836) I 4,426,091 I 277.688

-----
s 175.000 t

6.870.000
I 08.765

86.zrt
t2,924

I 53,899

t

3,839

s ?,406,821 J 17.282 $( 36f .369)

---

J 7.060.734 t 321,r55

-
Lnng-tenn debt for govemmental activities at September 30, 2017, is comprised of the
following:

$4,000,000 Series 2014 Conbination Tax and Tnnired pledge

Revenue Certificates of Obligration. due in annual instalhrents of
$140,000 to $265.000 with an interest rate of 2.Wo to 3.75o/o,

nnfuring in2o34. $_lryg

Arunral debt services rcqufuements to mafuity for governmental activities are as follows

YearEnded Certificates of Oblisation
Seoternber 30, Principal Interest

20t $

2Al9

2020

2021

2022

2023-2027

2428-2032,

2033-2034

zfn.fno $

170.000

175.000

160.000

1E5.000

985,000

I,145,000

520,000

100,656

96,956

9J,506

E9.731

85.625

356,309

197,100

19,688

$

$
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Long-temr debt for busiless-tyre activities at September 30, ZAfi, is conrprised of the

following:

Note payable to the City of Waco. Tens. dtre in annnal

instalhnelts of $15.621. with an interest rate of 3.657o. rmturing
m2024. $ 96.720

-
$4.500,000 Series 2014 Con{rination Tax and Linited Pledge

Reveaue Cettificates of Obtigration. due in aunual instalhrents of
$30.000 to $330.000 with an interest rate of 2.00o{a to 3.75o/o.

nnturirg in 2034. $ 4.440.000

-

$2.400.000 Series 2016 Con$inatioa Tax and Lirnited Pledge

Revetue Certificates of Obligation. dtre in annual instalhents of
$95,000 to $150.000 with an interest rate of 2.0U/o to 3.AU/o.

nntttringh2036. $ 2,305.000

Annual debt service requilements to matruity for brxiness-type activities are as follows:

Year Euded Ceftificates of Obligatiol Notes Payable - COW

Septeuiber 30. hincipal Intercst Principal !rterest

2018

2019

2020

}02t

2022

2023-2027

2028-2032

2033-2035

305.000

315.000

320.000

330.000

335.000

1,805.000

2.100.000

r.235,000

187.f38

lEl.03E

174.688

167906

160.68E

674.525

385.649

60,18E

t2.316

12.776

13.283

13.777

14.257

30.311

3.305

2.U5

2.369

1.875

r3@
l.l I I

$ $$ $

$ 6.745.000 $ 1.991.920 $ 96.720 $ 12.869

In Aupuf 2014, the Clity issued $8.5 million in certificates of obligation to finance $4.5 million
h Utility Furd capital inrprovernent projects and $4 rnillior in General Frurd capital
inrprovernent prajects. This issuance has been done without a cunent increase in the tax rate.

hr March 2016. the City issued $2.4 nillion in certificates of obligation to finance $2.4 rnillion in
Utility Furd capital ilrprovemerrt projects.
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8. TINDIVIDED INTEREST WACO METROPOLITAN AREA REGIONAL SEWER
SYSTEM

Duing 2004. the City entered into an agteement with tbtu other participating cities to acqrrile the
facilities ald operations of the Waco Mehopolitan Area Regioual Sewer System (the "Systen")
from Brazos River Authority (the "Authoriry"). hior to the acquisition. the cities were "tenauts
in cornmon" of the Systeru owned by the Authority, and frurded the Systern tluough paynents to
the Authority based on the anomrt of wastewater treated.

Tlre City's ilitial purchase included a5.73o/o rurdivided interest irr the System: however, the City
subseqtrently sold portioru of its urdivided interest to other cities leaving it with a 5.707o/a
rurdivided interest in the System. The City's turdividecl interest in the Systen as of September 30,
2017 was 4.9640/o as a result of certain capacity expansion improvenents completed during
2012.

The Cify of Waco, Texas assisted fbu of the participating cities in financilg theil initial
inveshnents. During 2004, the Cityof Waco, Texas'rvastewater fiurd advanced $1.849,058 to
tlre fotu parlicipating cities at an interest rate of 3.650/o to be repaid in anuual irrstallments
tluough Febnrary 2A24. As of Septernb er 30, 2017. $96.721 was payable to the City of Waco by
the City of Belhnead.

Under the interlocal ap[eement for the Systeur, a boald was created cousisting of the city
Inallagers fi'om each of the seven participating cities. The operation and adnrinistration of the
System is subject to joint conh'ol by the cities tlrougb the boald; however, a separate legal entity
was not created. The apleeurent allows the cities to pool lesoruces and share the costs. risks. and
rewalds of providing services. Ftulher, each city retains an ongoing fmancial irrterest and
ongoing financial responsibly in the operations of the System. The City has reporled its share of
assets. liabilities, net position, revenues and expenses that are associated with this joint activify
in its water ald sewer frurd as follows:

Clrffent assets

Chpital assets

Iong-tenn liabilities

Net position

Operating eq)enses

Nouoperating revetues

Inss before contrihrrfions

Chpital coutributions - currelt yeat

(hange in net position

$ 513.963

1.504.321

( e6.721)

$ 1.921,563

446.249)

27.67
$(

( 418.58:)

498.r4,1

$ 79.862
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9. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLAN

Plan Description

Tlre City pa*icipates as one of 872 plans in the nontraditional, joint conhibutoty, hybrid clefined

benefit pension plan adrninistered by the Texas Mruricipal Retireurent Systeur (TMRS). TMRS is

an agercy created by the State of Texas and administered in accordance with the TMRS Act,
Subtitle G, Title 8, Texas Govenunent Code (the TMRS Act) as an agency multiple-etrployer
retirement systern for mruricipal enrployees in the State of Texas. The TMRS Act places the

general adndnistration and rnanagement of the System with a six-urernber Boald of Tnrstees.

Although the Govemor, with the advice and consent of the Senate, appoints the Boald, TMRS is

not fiscally depeldent ol the State of Texas. TMRS's defined benefit pension plau is a tax-
qualified plan rurder Sections a01(a) of the Intemal Revenue Code. TMRS issues a publicly
available conrprehensive annual fnancial repofi (CAFR) that can be obtained at www.trnrs.org.

All eligible enrployees of the City ate required to parlicipate in TMRS.

Benefits Provided

TMRS provides retirement, disability, and death benefits. Benefit prnvisions are adopted by the

goveraing body of the City, within the options available in the state stahrtes governing TMRS.

At retilenent, the benefit is calculated as if the surn of the eurployee's contributions, with
interest, and the City-fitanced morretary credits with intercst were used to pruchase an arunrity.

Meurbers nray choose to receive their retircment benefit in over of seven palnnents options.
Menrbers may also choose to receive a podion of their benefit as a Partial Lump Sun
Dish'ibution ir an amorurt equal to 12,24, ot 36 monthly paynents, wldch cannot exceed 75o/o of
the rnenrber's deposits and interest.

Begiuring in 1998, the City pralted an arurually lepeating (automatic) basis a monetary credit
refeued to as al updated service credit (USC) which is a theoretical amount which takes into
accorurt salary increases ol plan improvements. If at any tirne druing theil caleer al ernployee

ean$ a USC. this anrount reurails in theil accourt earning interest at SVo until retirement. At
retirement, the benefit is calctrlated as if the srun of the ernployee's accumrlated contributions with
interest and the employer match phrs ernployer-furanced nronetary credits, such as USC. with
interest were used to puclmse arr arunrity. Additionally, initiated in 1998. the City provided on an

anmrally repeating (autornatic) basis cost of living adjushnents (COLA) for rctirees equal to a

perceutage of the change in the corstunff price index (CPD.

A surnrnary of plan provisions for the City are as follows:

Updated service crcdit
Amnrity increase to rcti€es

Erployee deposit mte

Matching ratio (City to erployee)
Years requied for vesting
Sen,ice retiresrlt eligibility

6Vo

2to I
5

25 years to any age.

5 years at age 60and above

l004zo Repeating

70olo of CPI. rcpeating

Tlre City does participate in Social Secruity
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Entployees covered by benetit tenns

At the Deeeurber 31. 2016 valuation and rneasrueurent date, the following enrployees were
covercd by the benefit tenns:

Lractive euployees or beneficiades currently receiving benefits
Inactive enployees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits
Active elployees

159

2E

55

76

Contributions

Tlre contribution rates for ernployees in TMRS are either 5o/o, 60/o, or 7o/o of ernployee €ross
e€unings, ancl the City ruatching percentages are with 100%, l50o/o, or 20Ao/o, both as adopted by
the goveming body of the city. Under the state law goveming TMRS, the conh'ibutions rate for
each city is determined arulully by the actrnry, using the Enhy Age Nomral (EAI\Q actuarial
cost method. The actuarially detemrined rate is the estirnated arnotut necessary to finance the
cost of benefits eamed by enrployees du'ing the year. with an additional amoturt to finance any
rurfrurded accnred liability.

Employees for the City were required to contribute 6% of their arurual ploss eamings during the
fiscal year. The contribution rates for the City were 9.07o/o aud 8.99% in calendar yeals 2016 and
2017, respectively. The City's contlibutions to TMRS for the year ended Septeruber 30,2017.
were $316.465, and were eqrnl to the required conh'ibutions.

Net Pension Liability

The City's Net Pemion Liability (l.PL) was neasured as of Decenrber 31,2016, and the Total
Pension Liability (TPL) used to calculate the Net Pension Liability was dctemrincd by an
actuarial valuatiol as ofthat date.

Acluarial a ssuntplion s

Tlre Total Pension Liability in the Decenber 31.2016 actuarial valnation was detennined usirrg
the following achrarial asstunptions :

Inflation

Overall payroll growth

Int,es tnent Rate of Rehrm

2.5o/o per leat
3.00lo pef fear
6.757o. net of pension plan investurnt eryense, inchrdilg inflation
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Salary increases were based on a service-relatecl table. Mortality rates for active mernbers,
retirees, and beneficiaties were based on the gender-distinct RP2000 Courbined Healthy
Mortality Tables with Blue Collar Adjustrnent, with rnale rates multiplied by 109a/a and female
rates nrultiplied by IO3o/o. The rates are projected on a frrlly generational basis by scale BB to
accoturt for frrtue mortality inrprovements. For disabled anmritants, the gender-distinct RP2000
Cornbined Healthy Mortalify Tables with Blue Collal Adjustrnent are used with males rates

nnrltiplied by l09o/a and fernale rates nnrltiplied by l03%o with a 3-yeal set-forward for both
rnales and females. In addition, a 3o/o nininnun morlality rate is applied to reflect the impairment
for younger rnembers who beconre disabled. The rates are projected on a fillly gelerational basis

by scale BB to accorurt for futrue mofiality iurprovements subject to the 37o floor.

Actuarial assrunptions rned in the Decenber 31, 2016, vahmtion rvere based on the rcsults of
achrarial experience studies. The experience study in TMRS was for the pedod Deceurber 31,

2010 through Decenber 3t . 2A14. Healthy post-retirement ruofiality rates and aruruity pulchase
rates were updatecl based on a Mortality Experience Investigation Study covering the 2009

tlu'ouglr 2011, and the dated Decenrber 31,2013. These assunrptions were filst used in the

Decenrber 3I.2Al3 valuation, along with a change to the Entry Age Normal (EAN) achrarial
cost rnethod. Assunrptions ale reviewed amrually. Plan assets are rnallaged on a total rehrn basis
with an emphasis on both capital appreciation as well as the production of income, in order to
satisfu the short-tenn ald long-temr fimding needs of TMRS.

The long-tenn expected rate of rettul on pension plan investments was detemriled using a
buildilg-block rnethod in which best estirnate rarlges of expected ftrtue real rates of retrrn
(expected rehn:ls, net of pension plan investment expenses ancl inflation) are developed for each

rnajor asset class. These ranges ale combined to produce the long-tenn expected rate of refum by
weigilrtiug the expected ftltrue real rates of rehrm by the target asset allocation percentage and by
adding expected inflation. In detennining theil best estimate of a recommended inveshnent
retrurr assnrnption urder the various altemative asset allocation portfolios, GRS focused on the

area between (1) arithmetic mean (agpgessive) without an adjr.rshnent for tirne (conservative) and
(2) the geometric mean (conservative) with an adjrutment for time (agpnessive). The talget
allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates rehul for each najor assets class in fiscal
yeat 2017 are suilunarized in fhe following table:

Asset Class

Target

Allocation
Ioug-TennBpected Real

Rate of Retnm (Arithmetic)

4.55o/o

6.350/o

t.wo
4.150/o

4.150/o

4.750/o

4.OOVy

7.75o/o

Domstic Eqnity

Intemational Equity

Core Fircd trconr
Non{ore Fired hrcour
RealRetum

Real Estate

Absoltrte Retum

hivate Eluity
Total

17.5o/o

17.5o/o

1O.V/o

2A.A/o

lO.@/a

lA.V/o

lO.V/o

5.Oa/o
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Discount Rale

Tlre disconnt rate rned to measrue the Total Pension Liability was 6.750/o. The projection of cash
tlows used to detennine the discourt rate asstuned that ernployee and ernployer conh'ibutions
will be nade at the rates specified in statue. Based on that asstunption, the pensiol plan's
Fiduciary Net Position was projected to be available to make all projected frrhue benefit
payrnents of cun'ent active and inactive ernployees. Therefore, the long-tenn expected rate of
retrun on pension plan investments was applied to all period of projected benefit payments to
detemrine lhe Total Perxion Liability.

Changes in the Net Pension Liabilily

Increase (Decrease)

Total Pension

Liability
(a)

Plan Ficltrciary

Net Positior
(b)

Net Pension

(a)-(b)

Balance at 12/31/2015

Ctanges for the year:

Sen'ice cost

Interest

Difference betrr.een ergected and
actnal erperietce

Clontributions - euployer
Contributions - elployee
Net investnrent inconr
Benefit payuetrts. inchrding refirlds of
elployee c ontributions
Adminis trative e)ipens e

Other changes

Net changes

Balance at 12/31/2016

$ 12.060.237 $ t1.297.7U S 762.455

487.147

809.001

( 233;tO7)

( 637.232)

425.2W

3t0.r77

206.7tO

763-497

637.232)

8.623)

634.Oil

487.14'7

8@.001

233;rO7)

310,177)

206.710)

763.497)

8.623

( 2oE,E5s)

$ 553.600

-

465( 465)

$ t2,485.446 $ 11.931,8.t6

The following presents the net pension liability of the City, calculated using the discount rate of
6.750/o. as well as what the City's net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a

discourt rate that is l-pelcentage-point lower (5.75Vo) ot l-percentage-hiprher (7.75o/o) thau the
crurent rate:

lolo Decrease in
Discourlt

Rate (5.75olo)

Disconnt
Rate (6.75%)

1%o Increase in
Discourrt

Rate (7.75o.2o)

City's Ret pension
liability $ 2.406.246 $ s53.600 $( 947.762)

Pension PIan Fidaciary Net Posilion

Detailed infonnation about the pension plan's Fiduciary Net Position is available in a separately-
isstred TMRS financial reporl. The report may be obtained on the Intemet at w*rv.tnn's.org.
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Pension Expense and Deferred Outllows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources
Relatetl to Pensions

For the year ended Septeurber 30, 2017 , the City recopnrized pension expense of $387,264. At
September 30, 2A17, the City reported defened outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resoru'ces related to pensions from the following sources:

Defened outflows
ofResources

Defeued Inflows
of Resotrrces

Differences between eryected and achtal economic e4>erience

C'hanges in actuarial assunptious

Difference between projected and actual investnent eamings

C'ontributions subsequent to the urasuretrEflt date

Total

$

$ 829.456 $ 4E0,089

924L,232 reported as defened outflows of resotuces related to pemion resulting from
conhibutions subsequent to the measluelnent date will be recoglrized as a reduction of the net
pension liability for the year ending September 30, 2018. Other anroturts reported as deferred

outflows of resoru'ces related to pensions will be reco€grized in pension expenses as follows:

Year Ending

Septeairer 30.

16,02E $

53,725

5r8.471

uI.232

4E0,089

201E

2019

2020

202t

$ 51,337

43.910

41.316

28.428)(

10. OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENETTTS

Sunnlemental Death Benefits Fund

The City also participates in the cost shaling urultiple-enrployer defured benefit grouptenn life
insruance plal operated by the Texas Muricipal Retileurent System (TMRS) known as the

Supplelrental Death Benefits Furd (SDBF). The City elected, by ordinance, to provide prroup-

tenn life instuance coverage to both cunent and retiled eurployees. The City rnay tenrrinate
coverage rurder and discontinue participation in the SDBF by adopting an ordinance before

November I of any year to be effective the following Jamrary 1.

The death benefit for active employees provides a hunp-sturr payrnent approximately equal to the

employee's amrual salary (calctrlated based on the employee's actual eamings, for the l2-month
period preceding the month of death); tetired employees are insrued for $7,500; this coverage is

an "other postemployrnent benefit," or OPEB.

Contributions

The City's contributions to the TMRS SDBF for the years ended 2A17,2016, aud 2015 were

$7,040, $6,844, and $6,676, respectively, which equaled the required contlibutions each year'.
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1I. CO1VIMITMENTSAND COI\TINGENCIES

Arnounts received or receivable fiorn ppalt agencies ale subject to audit and adjushnent by
ptrantor agencies, principally the federal govemment. Any disallowed claiurs, including amourts
already collected, may constitute a liability of the applicable frurds. 'l'he amourt, if aly, of
expendihues which rnay be disallowed by the plartor cannot be detennined at this time although
the City expects such arnorurts, if aly, to be iuunaterial.

There ale other clainrs and pending actions incideut to normal operations of the City. In the
opinion of the City nanagetrent based on consultation with the City's attomey, the City's
potential liability in these rnatters will not have a rnaterial impact on the financial stateurents.

12. RISK MANAGEMENT

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts/theft ot', damage to. and destnrction of
assets; enors and omissions; injruies to employees; and natru'al disasters. The City has joined
together with other govemments in the State of Texas to fonn the Texas Mrnicipal Leapnre
Intergovenunental Risk Pool (the "Pool"). a public entity risk pool currently operating as a

conuron risk manageurert and insurance progf,'arn for liability, property and workers'
conrpensation coverages.

The City pays a qrrarterly contlibution to the Pool for its insru'ance coverage. The apneement for
fonnation of the Pool provides that the Pool will be self-sustaining tluouprh member
conhibutions and will reinsrue tluough corunercial conpanies for claims in excess of specific
lirnits.

The Texas Municipal Leapue Intergovemmental Risk Pool has published its own financial
repofi, which can be obtained by writing the Texas Mruricipal Leapue hrtergovenunental Risk
Pool, 1821 Rutherford Lale, Austin, Texas 75754-5128.
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CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS

STATEMENT OF REVENI.JES, EXPENDITURES
AND CSANGES IN F.UFID BALANCE - BUDGET AND ACTUAL

GENERALFLIND

FOR TIIE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2017

Budgeted Amorurts

Orieinal Filal
Acttral

Anlourts

Variance
WithFinal

Budset

REVENIIES
Taxes:

Properfy
Sales

Franchise

Other
Licerxes and pennits
Intergoverrunental
Fines and fees

Invesfonent eamings

Miscellaneous

Total rel'enue

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General govenurrcnt

hrblic safety
Hip&ways and sheets

Culture and recreation

Total expendiftres

EXCESS (DEnCIENC9 0F REVENUES
ovER (TNDER) EXPEI{DTTURES

oTHER TTNANCTNG SOLIRCES (tiSES)

Trarxfers in

Total other financing soruces (uses)

NET CHANGE IN FLIND BAIANCE

FLIND BALAIICE, BEGINNING

4,944.23t 4,944,?31 4.909,886

$ 918,000
2.820,000

521,500
55.000

39.500
154.716
355,000

16.000

64,515

t.t24.689
3.433,809
LAO2.016

79,7t6

( 69s,999\

4.527 -793

$ 918,000
2.820.000

521.500
55,000
39,500

154.716
355.000

16.000

64,515

$ 927,814
?.993,211

503.8 l2
54.7t3
35,182
61.630

234,317
22.904
76,307

$ 9,814
l73.2ll

( 17,688)
( 287)
( 4,318)
( e3,086)
( 120,683)

6.900

11,792

( 34,345)

1,t24.689
3.433,809
1.691.846

79,716

t.ttr.229
3.454342
I,335,898

63.809

13,460
20.493)

355.948

15.907

(

5.640.230 6,330,060 5.965.238 364,822

( 69s.ee9) ( 1,385.829) ( 1,055.3s2) 330,477

728 tol 728.t07

728.107 728,107

( 1.38s,829)

4,527,793

{ 327.24s\

4,527.793

584

$ 1,831.794 $ 3,t41,964 $ 4,200,548 $ IFLIND BALA}ICE, ENDING
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CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS

STATEMENT OF REYEITT]ES, EXPENDITURES
AIID CUAIIGES IN tr't'nll} BAIIINCE - BI]DGET AI\ID ACTUAL

BELLME{) ECONOMIC DEVEIOPMENT CORPORATION - A

FOR THE YEAR EI{DED SEPTEMBER 30, 2017

Budseted Arnounts

Orisinal Final
Actual

Amourts

Variance
WithFinal

Budget

REVEI\IIIES
hrvesfinent eamings

Miscellaneous

Total rel'ernre

EIPENDITT.'RES
Curent:

Eco'nomic developrnant

Total expenditures

EXCESS (DEnCIENCY) OF REVEtitiES
ovER (UNDER) EXPENDITLTRES

OTHER flNANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers out

Proceeds from sale ofassets

Total other financing soures (uses)

NET CHANGE IN FTIND BALANCE

FUND B.A.I,ANCE, BEGI}INING

FT.IND BALANCE, ENDING

$ $96.000

42,000

138,000

96,000
42,000

$ 50.968 $( 4s,032)
( 42,000)

( 87,032)

42,O00

42,004

138,000 50,968

42,000 42,000

42,000 42,000

96,000 96.000 50,968 ( 4s,032)

( 148,200) (
42,200

148200)
42200

( 148,450)

94,038

250)
5l,838

(

( 106.000)

( 10,000)

1.345.530

( 106,000)

( 10.000)

1,345,530

t s4.4r2\

( 3,,144)

1.345,530

5l,588

6.556

$l $ 1,335,530 $ 1,342,086 $ 6,556
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CITY OF BELLMEAI), TEXAS

STATEMENT OF REVENT'ES, EXPE}IDITI'RES
AND CIIANGES IN FT]ITD BAI.I\NCE . BTJDGET AND ACTUAL

BELLIVIEAI) ECONOMIC DE\rELOPMEI{I CORPORATION - B

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2017

Budgeted Amorurts

Orisinal Final
Achral

Arnoturts

Variance
WithFinal

Budget

REVENLIES
Sales taxes

Invesfinent eamings

Total revernre

E}PENDITT.'RES
Cbn'ent:

Economic development

Total expenditures

EXCESS (DEFTCTENCY) OF REVENUES
ovER (TJNDER) EXPENDTTLTRES

OTIIER FINANCING SOI.IRCES (USDS)

Trarxfers in

Transfers out

Total ofher financing sources (r.rses)

NET CHANGE IN F'I.IND BAI,ANCE

FTIND BALANCE, BEGINNING

FUND BALANCE, ENDING

$ 570.000 $

2.500

572,504

558.500

558,500

14,000

135,700

13s.700

570,000
2,500

598,386
9.315

28,386
6.815

$ $

5',72.5A0 601,701 35-201

558.500 248,266 3l o,234

558.500 248,265 3l 0,234

14.000

135,700

359,435 345,43s

149.700

135,700

t49.700 239,385

3.189.747 3.189,747 3.189,747

$ 3.339.,t47 $ 3,339.447 $ 3

I 35.950

( 256,000)

( 120,050)

250

( 256,000)

( 2ss,750\

89.685

s 89,685
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CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS

STATEMANT OF RDVENUES, E)CENDITURES
AND CHAI\IGES IN FI]ITD BALAITCE - B{JDGET AFID ACTUAL

IIOTEIIMOTEL TAX FUIT'D

FOR THE YEAR E}IDED SEPIEMBER 3A, 2OI7

Budgeted Anrounts

Original Final
Achral

Amounts

Variance
WithFinal

Budget

REVENT'ES
Hotel occupancy tax
Rent

Invesbnent eamings

Total revenue

E)CEIIDITTJRES
Current:

Cblfure and recreation

Capital outlay

Total expurditrues

EXCESS (DEnCIENCY) OF REVENIIES
ovER (UNDER) EIpENDITI'RES

oTHER FTNANCTNG SOURCES (USES)

Transfers out

Total otlrer financing sotuces (uses)

NET CEANGE INFT]ND BAIANCE

FUND BAII\NCE, BEGINNING

FTIIID BAI,ANCE, ENDING

s $ $ s499.900
46,000

2.000

499.900
46.000

2,000

544,t96
46.840

5.158

M.296
840

3,1 58

547.900 541,900 596,t94 48,294

459,224
73,000

459,224

73,000

381,889 77,335
73,000

532,224 s32,224 381.889 150.335

t5,676 t5,676 214,305 198,629

( 90,500)

( 90,500)

( 90,500)

( 90,s00)

t5.676 15.676 123,805 108,129

I,42t,289 1,42t.289 t.42t,289

$ 1,436,965 $ 1,436,965 $ 1.545,094 $ 108,129
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CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS

NOTES TO BUDGETARY SCMDULES

SEPTEMBER 30,2017

BUDGETARY INFORMATION - The City follows these procedtnes annually in establishing the
budgetary data reflected irr the budgetary conparison schedules:

1. Prior to the begiruring of each fiscal year', the City Manager submits to the City
Council a proposed budget for the fiscal year beginning on the following October
l*. The operating budget includes proposed expeldihues and the means of
financing them.

2. Public hearings are conducted at which all interested persons' conrtnents

concenring the budget are heard.

3. The budget is legally elacted by the City Courcil tlnough passage of an

ordinance prior to the begiruring of the fiscal year'.

4. The City Manager has the authorify to h'ansfer appropliations within deparlmental
accounts. The City Corurcil, horvever, rru.st approve any interdeparlrnental
tlansfer of unencunbered appropriation balances or portions thereof as well as

any increases in flurd appropriations. At the end of the fiscal yeal, all
appropriatiom lapse.

5. Aruural budgets are adopted for the General Frurd Belhnead Econouuc
Developurent Corporation Ftutds A and B and Hotel/Motel Tax Furd. These

budgets are aclopted on a basis colsistent with generally accepted accourting
principles ("GAAI)";. There are no legally mandated budgetary constraints for the

proprietary frmds. horvever a budget is adopted for the proprietary frurd amrually
as a malageruent tool arrd for pruposes of plarurirlg levenue bond repayment ur

accordance with bond covenants.

6. The budgetary data presented has not been arnended fi'om the original budget by
the City Council. There were no sigrificant supplemental appropriations
necessary dtuing the year'.

7. Expendihues exceeded appropriations in the General Futd. Fublic Safety
expendihues exceeded appropriatiols in the amomt of $ 19,275. This was rnainly
attributable to persomrel shofiages within the police and fue departnents resulting
in ovefiime pay to go over budget.
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CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS

SCHEDI'LE OF CHANGF5 IFi NET PENSION LIABN,ITY
AND REII\TED RATIOS

FOR TIIE YEAR EIIiDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2017

2014 2015 2016Plan Yerr

A. Total pension liabilitl

Sen'ice Cost
Interest (on the Total Pension Liability)
Difference between expected and achtal expedence
Chalrge of assrurqrtious

Benefit paynents. including refrurds of enployee contributions

Net chalge in total pension liabiliry

Total pension liability - begiruring

Total pension liability - ending (a)

B. Plan liduciary uet position

Contributions - el4rloyer
Contributioru - enrployee
Net investnrent incorne
Benefit payilrents. including refrurds of employee contributiorx
Adrninish'ative expenses

Other

Net clunge in plan fiduciary net position

Plan fiduciary net posifion - begiruring

Plan fiduciary net posifion - ending O)

C. Net pension linbility - ending (a) - (b)

D. Plan fiducinry nef position as a percentage of
totnl pension liebility

E. Covered employee payroll

F. Net position li*bilig Rs a perrentage of covered
enploy'ee payroll

$ 11.725,600 $ t2,060,237 $ 12.485.446

$ 389.742 $

767.022
s1,209 (

458,188 $

8t8.762
519.945)

93.818

487.r4'7
809.001

( 2i3.7A7)

( 637.232)

425,209

12,060,237

( 489.931)

718,042

11.007.558

( 516.186)

334-637

11.725.600

$ 262.945 $

195.254
613,r7A

( 48e,e31) (
( 6.402) (

309"670 $

204.853
t6.664

s16.186) (
10,150) (

310.177
206.11O
763.497

637.232)
8.623)

( 526) ( SOZ) ( +0:i

574.s r0 4.349 634.064

10.718,923 11,293.433 11,297.782

s 11.293,433 $ 11,297.782 $ 11.931,846

$ 432,167 S 762.4s5 $ 553,600

96.31o/o

$ -1.254,228 $

93.68vo

3.414.2t6 S

95.57o/o

3,445,170

13.28o/o 22.33Yo l6.A7Vo

Note: Tlris schedule is requiled to have l0 years of infonnation. but the irfonnation prior to 2Ol4 is not alailable.
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Fiscal Year

Actuarial deternrined contribution

Contributions in relation to the actuarially determined

contribution

Contribution defi ciency (excess)

Covered erryloyee payroll

Contributions as a percentage of covwd employee payroll

Vnluntion Drte

CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS

SCEEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS

FOR TEE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2017

3,192.687

8.17o/o

20t4 2015 20t.6 20t7

$ 260.868 g 297,84t $ 320,484 $ 316.465

260,868 297 841 320,484 3t6,465

1,383,497

8.80%

3.552,338

9.4?o/o

3.520,190

8.999/a

NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS

Achrarially determined contribtrtion rates are calculated as of Decernber 3l and

becoure effective ir Janrury 13 nrontlrs later.

Methods and Assumptions Used to Deterrnine Contribution Retes:

Achrarial Cost Method
Aruortizatiol Method
Renraining Alrortization Period
Asset Valuation Metlrod
hrflation
Salary Increases
Investurent Rate of Rehrm
Retireurent Age

Mortality

Other Inforrnetion

EntyAgeNonnal
Level Percentage of Payroll. Closed

29 years

10 Year smootlred market; 15% soft corridor
2.50o/o

3.5tr/ota I0.5% including inflation
6.7s%a

Experience-based table ofrates that are specific to the City's plan ofbenefits. Last

updated for the 2015 valuationpursuant to an experience shrdy ofthe period 2010 -

20t4.

RP2000 Combined Mortality Table with Blue Collar Adustment with trale rates

mnltiplied by l09o/o and female rates multiplied by 103% and projected on a frrlly
generational basis of withBB.

There were no benefit changes during the year
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CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS

COMBINING BAII\NCE SHEET - NONMAIOR GOVERNMENTAL FI]NDS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2017

Cout
Security and

Technology
Debt

Service

Total
Norunajor

Govemmental
Ftlrds

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents

Receil'ables ftret of allowarrce for
urcollectibles)

Due &onrother fi.urds

Total assets

LIABILITIES
Due to other frmds

Total liabilities

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOI]RCES
Unalailable revenue - property taxes

Total deferred inflor*s of resotuces

FI.]NDBALANCES
Restricted for:

Court secruity and technolopry

Debt sen'ice

Total frurd balances

Total liabilities. deferred inflows of
lEsources and fi.urd balances

$ 22.061 $ 264.360 g 286.421

45.324
3.865

45.324
35,090

$ 366.835

31.22s

$ 53.286 S 313,549

$ 3,396

3,396 3.396

M.224 M.224

M,224 M.224

53.286 53.286
265.929265.929

53.286 265,929 319 15

s 53.286 $ 313,549 $ 366,835

$ 3.-1e6 $
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CITY OF BELLMEAD, TEXAS

COMBII\IING STATEMENT OT REVENI'ES, EXPENDITURES
.A,ND CHANGES IN TUND B.AIII}TCE . NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTA,L FI.INDS

FOR TIIE YEAR EIYDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2017

Court
Security and

Technoloetr

Debt

Service

Total
Nonurajor

Governmental

Funds

RE\IENT'ES
Taxes:

Property
Fines and fees

Investrrent eanrilgs

Total revenues

E)(PENDITT]RES
Debt service:

Principal
Interest and other charges

Total expendihues

EXCTSS (DEFICIENCD OF RE\IEN{'ES
ovER (UNDER) DCEr{DTTURES

oTHER X'INANCINC SOITRCES (USES)
Traasfers in

Total other financing sources (uses)

I\[ET CHANGE IN FTJND BALANCE

FT]ND BALANCE, BEGINI\IING

rUND BAII\NCE, ENDING

305,1 l0 305,1 l0

7,556 6.028 13.584

279 279

279 279

7,556 6,307 13,863

45,73A 259,622 305,352

$ 53,286 $ 265,929 $ 319.215

$ $ 309.233 $

1.,905

3 1 1,138

200,000
105,t 10

309.233
7,556
1,905

7.556

7,556 318,694

200,000
105,110
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PATTIf,LO, RROWN & HILL, r,.r..t'.
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS T BUSINESS CONSULT,ANTS

To the Honorable Mayor
and City Council of the

City of Belhnead, Texas

We have audited the financial statements of the City of Bellmead, Texas as of and for the year

errded September 30,2017, ancl have issued ou'report thereon dated March 13,2018. Professional
standalds require that we advise you of the following matters relating to oru audit.

Our Responsibility in Relation to the Financial Statement Audit

As courmruricated in our engagemert letter dated June 7 ,2017 , our respotxiibility, as deseribed by
professional standards, is to fonn and express opinions about whether the furancial statements that have

been prepared by management with yotu oversiglrt are presented fair{y, in all rnaterial respects, in
accoldance with accounting prilciples generally accepted in the United States of America. Oru audit of
the furancial statements does not relieve you or management of yoru respective responsibilities.

Our responsibility, as prescribed by professional standards, is to plan and perform oru audit to
obtain reasonable, rather than absoltrte, apstu'ance about whether the financial staternents are fi'ee of
material misstatement. An audit of fitancial staternents includes consideration of inter:ral couhol over
financial reporting as a basis for desigring audit procedrues that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the pupose of expressing an opilion on the effectiveness of the entity's inter:ral control over
financial reportilg. Accordinprly, as part of our audit, we considered the intemal control of the City solely
for the putpose of deter:nining oru audit procedrues and not to provide any assru'ance conceming such

intemal contol.

We are also responsible for comnnuricating significant matters related to the audit that ale, in our
professional judprnent, relevant to your responsibilities in overseeing the financial reporting plocess.

However, we ale not required to desigr procedrres for the pulpose of identifuing other matters to
conumuricate to you.

Planned Scope and Timing of the Audit

We conducted oru auclit consistent with the planned scope and timing we previously
comrnunicated to you.

\t'.\tt(). T',\
tt,l \\-.r llirlh\r.rv ()

\\t''. l,.r* i{r?l(}
2.>l.ii2..trl) |

r *1.1'l'lr, 
1 
u,.,.,rrr

lI()tlsT.)N. r\
2lll ..); l 6r13l

't'l:lltlPl.ll, T\
2.-r l.i()1.:l l{r{}

AlCPdi
rt.nt Qt l:ltQl l:. Nrl Governmental Audit

Ouality Center
lil{ ) t;il.t\lt}: } {1.1,}:1. 'l\

()v,.:rl 1.77;tl :{1.-',2f{'..i(lr I



Compliance with AII Ethics Requirements Regarding Independence

The engagement team, others in ourfinn, aud, as appropriate, orr firm have courplied with all
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence.

As a part of the engagement we assisted in preparing the furancial statements, and related uotes to
the financial statements of the City in confonnity with U.S. gerrerally accepted accounting principles based
ou infonnation provided by you.

hr order to enstue we rnaintain ow independence for pedonuing these nonaudit services certain
safegrards were applied to this engageruent. Managernent assruned responsibility for the financial statenrents
ald related notes to the finaucial statements and any other nonaudit services we provided. Managernent
acknowledged in the rnanagement representation leffer our assistance with the preparation of the financial
statements and related uotes to the financial staternents and that these iteur.s were reviewed and approved prior
to their issuance and accepted responsibility for them. Further, the nonaudit services were overseen by an
individtral withir ruruagement that has the suitable skill, knowledge, or experience; evaluated the adequacy
and results of the services; and accepted responsibility for theur.

Qualitative Aspects of the Entity's Significant Accounting Practices

Sigt ifi c an t Accou ntin g Es tin nt es

Accounting estimates are an intepral parl of the financial statements prepared by uranagement and
are based on uuuragement's ctutent judpnnents. Those judppnents are nonnally based on knowledge and
experience about past and current events and assrunptions about firhue events. Certain accounting
estimates are particularly sensitive because of their significance to the financial statements and because of
the possibility that firfue events affecting them rnay differ malkedly fiom management's current
judgnents.

The ruost seusitive accorurting estimates affecting the financial staternents are:

Management's estimate of the tuefirl lives of capital assets is based on the expected lifespan of the
asset in accordance with standard guidelines. We evaluated the key factors and assrunptions trsed to
develop the estiurate of usefirl lives in detenniniug that it is reasonable ir relation to the financial
staternents taken as a whole and iu relation to the applicable opinion tnits.

Managernent's estimate of the net pension liability ie baeed on aetunlial asstunptiorx rvhich nle
determined by the dernoppaphics of the plan and frrhue projections that the actuarial makes based on
historical information of the plan aud the invesfinent rnarket. We evaluated the key factors and
asstmrptions used to develop the net pension liability ald iletermined that it is reasonable in relation to the
basic finalcial statements takeu as a whole and in relation to the applicable opiniot units.

Management's estiruate of the allowance for turcollectible accorurts is based on historical
collectiou rates. We evaluated the key factors and asstrnrptions used to develop the estimates listed above
in detennining that they ar€ reasonable in relation to the firrancial statements taken as a whole.
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Firrcutci al Stutenten t Disclosu'es

Cerlain finaneial staternent disclosrues involve significant judgment and are particularly sensitive
because of their siperificance to financial statement users. Ttre most sensitive disclosues affecting the

City's furancial stateurents relate to the net pension liability. The disclostues in the financial statements

are neutral, consistent. and clear.

Signilicant Difficulties Encountered during the Audit

We encountered no sipnilicant difficulties in dealing with uranageruent relating to the performance
of tlre audit.

Llncorrected and Corrected Misstatements

For prnposes of this cormrnurication, professional staudalds require us to acctuttttlate all known
and likely misstaterneuts identified duing the audit, other than those that we believe are trivial, and

commuricate them to the appropriate level of managernent. Futher, professional staldalds require rn to
also conumudeate the effect of rnconected urisstateurents related to prior periods on the relevant classes

of transactions. account balances or disclosu'es, ard the financial statemeuts as a whole and each

applicable opinion rurit. Managemeut has conected all identified misstaternelts.

kr addition, professional standalds require us to cormnunicate to you all uratedal. conected
rnisstatemerrts that were lrrauglrt to the attention of manageurent as a result of otu audit prccedtues.

None of the rnisstatements identified by us as a result of ow' audit procedwes and conected by
managernent were material, either fuidividually or in the agpnegate, to the financial statements taken as a

whole or applicable opinion units.

Disagreements with Management

For puposes of this letter, professional standalds define a disag[eeuent rvith managetnent as a

matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, conceming a financial accorurting, reporting, or
auditing uratter, which could be sigrificalt to the City's financial staternents or the auditor's report. No
such disagreements arose druilg the course of the audit.

Representations Requested from Nlanagement

We have requested cedain written representations from rnanagernent, which are incltrded in the

rnanagernent representation leffer dated March 13, 2018.
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Managemenf 's Consultations with Other Accountants

In sorne cases, management rnay decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and
accorurting matters. Managsmtnl inlbrmed us that, and to ou'knowledge, there wele no consriltations
with other accoturtants regarding auditing and accoturting matters.

Other Signilicant Matters, Fildings, or fssues

In the nonnal eotuse of our professional association with the City, we generally discuss a variety
of matters, including the application of accounting principles and auditing standards, operating and
regulatory conditions affecting the entrty, and operational plans and strategies that may affect the risks of
rnaterial misstatement. None of the rnatters discussed resulted in a condition to otu retention as the City's
auditors.

This report is intended solely for the infonnation and use of the City Corncil and araragernent of
the City of Belhnead and is not intended to be and should uot be used by anyone other than these specified
parties.

?^*',!lt, B,*^,* 1 ll'll' ) L' L'f'

Waco, Texas
March 13,2018
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